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The Honourable Rod Welford, MP
Minister for Education and Training
and Minister for the Arts

Dear Minister,
I take pleasure in presenting to you the
Annual Report of the Board of the Queensland
Museum for the year ending 30 June 2007.

Anne Jones, Chair
Board of the Queensland Museum
Presented to Parliament
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Our Vision
To be valued as an
innovative, exciting
and accessible
museum of science,
environment and
human experience,
of international
standing.
Our Mission
To enrich and enliven
the cultural, social and
intellectual life of all
Queenslanders.

Vision | Mission | Values

Our Values
shape and guide everything we do at the Queensland Museum
Excellence
The Queensland Museum strives for the best in everything it does.
Cherishing Collections
The Queensland Museum achieves its mission through the collection,
interpretation and preservation of material evidence.
Relevance
The Queensland Museum is a responsive organisation that is sensitive to
changing community issues and audience needs and wants. In this way, the
Queensland Museum remains a vital component of contemporary Queensland
society. The Queensland Museum has a commitment to living cultures.
Ongoing Learning
The Queensland Museum meets the learning needs and expectations of
our broad audience at all stages of their lives.
Working Together
The Queensland Museum establishes and nurtures partnerships with
diverse communities and organisations. Within the Queensland Museum,
team work and respect for individual contribution and endeavour are
valued.
Diversity
The Queensland Museum recognises, respects and celebrates the State’s
biological, cultural and regional diversity.
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Queensland
Museum
Profile

Queensland Museum
PO Box 3300
SOUTH BRISBANE BC, QLD, 4101
Telephone: (07) 3840 7555
Fax: (07) 3846 1918
www.qm.qld.gov.au

Queensland Museum
Hendra Annexe
122 Gerler Road
HENDRA, QLD, 4011
Loans Service
Telephone: (07) 3406 8344
Fax: (07) 3406 8355
Geology Store
Telephone: (07) 3406 8350

The Queensland Museum was founded by the
Queensland Philosophical Society on 20 January 1862.
Now, 145 years on, the Queensland Museum enriches
and enlivens the cultural, social and intellectual life of all
Queenslanders through its dynamic network of research
facilities, regional outreach services and museums.
In 2006–2007 more than two million people accessed
Queensland Museum services.
As the custodian of the State’s natural and cultural heritage, the
Queensland Museum houses several million items. This unique
collection plays a crucial role in documenting our past to better
understand the future.
Our internationally recognised researchers and successful
publishing business make the Queensland Museum a key player
in the Smart State.
The Museum’s statewide network includes: Queensland Museum
South Bank in Brisbane; Cobb+Co Museum in Toowoomba; The
Workshops Rail Museum in Ipswich; and the Museum of Tropical
Queensland in Townsville.
The Queensland Museum’s other campuses are WoodWorks:
the Forestry and Timber Museum at Gympie (in partnership with
the Department of Primary Industries and Fisheries); and the
Lands, Mapping and Surveying Museum at Woolloongabba
(in partnership with the Department of Natural Resources and
Water).
Our exceptional research and collections are interpreted via
diverse displays at each campus, dynamic public programs and
exhibitions that tour Australia.
Home to the world’s largest museum loans service and a
remarkable virtual museum online, the Queensland Museum
ensures objects, specimens and stories are accessible to all.

Queensland Museum
South Bank
Corner Grey and Melbourne Streets
PO Box 3300
SOUTH BRISBANE BC, QLD, 4101
Telephone: (07) 3840 7555
Fax: (07) 3846 1918
www.southbank.qm.qld.gov.au

Museum of Tropical Queensland
70 –102 Flinders Street
TOWNSVILLE, QLD, 4810
Telephone: (07) 4726 0600
Fax: (07) 4721 2093
www.mtq.qm.qld.gov.au

The Workshops Rail Museum
North Street
PO Box 2234
NORTH IPSWICH, QLD, 4305
Telephone: (07) 3432 5100
Fax: (07) 3432 5114
www.theworkshops.qm.qld.gov.au

Cobb+Co Museum
27 Lindsay Street
TOOWOOMBA, QLD, 4350
Telephone: (07) 4639 1971
Fax: (07) 4638 5791
www.cobbandco.qm.qld.gov.au

Lands, Mapping and Surveying Museum

Our Regional Services Program, including the Museum Resource
Centre Network, continues to be at the forefront of successful
professional and community support for the Queensland
collections and museums sector.

Corner Main and Vulture Streets
PO Box 40
WOOLLOONGABBA, QLD, 4102
Telephone: (07) 3896 3000
Fax: (07) 3896 3275

The Queensland Museum is a much loved icon that embodies
the virtues of discovery, preservation and interpretation, as well as
providing an engaging environment for lifelong learning.

WoodWorks: the Forestry
and Timber Museum
Corner Bruce Highway and Fraser Road
Locked Bag 13, Fraser Road
GYMPIE, QLD, 4570
Telephone: (07) 5483 7691
Fax: (07) 5482 1773
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Highlights and Achievements
September
July
The Queensland Museum
Foundation launched a rare
opportunity for people to have
a new spider species named
after them.
Great Railway Journeys of
Australia opened at The
Workshops Rail Museum.
Developed by The Workshops,
the exhibition draws on
the Museum’s collection of
objects, photographs and
documents that explore the
development of Australia’s rail
network.

The National Trust Bendigo
Bank Icons of Queensland
exhibition opened at
Queensland Museum South
Bank. The exhibition of
36 icons marked the 20th
anniversary of the Queensland
Museum at the South Bank
cultural precinct.
The National Carriage Factory
Campaign was launched
at the Cobb+Co Museum.
The proposed expansion
of Cobb+Co will include
training in heritage trades,
new exhibition spaces and
expanded retail areas.

August

October

The Queensland Museum
and Cement Australia Mt Etna
Fossil Open Day gave more
than 2500 visitors a chance
to learn more about Australia’s
prehistoric megafauna by
unearthing real fossils.

The Queensland Museum
partnered with Griffith
University to conduct the
Biodiversity at the Heights
(BATH) Project to study fauna
in Lamington National Park.

More than 4750 past and
present workers of the North
Ipswich Railway Workshops
and Ipswich residents
attended a free reunion
celebration at The Workshops
Rail Museum.

Megafauna – prehistoric
giants from the Darling
Downs opened at Cobb+Co
Museum. The exhibition
explores the Darling Downs
during the Pleistocene Era,
highlighting the latest research
by Queensland Museum
scientists.
The Cultures and Histories
Program, in partnership with
the University of Queensland,
won an Australian Research
Council grant for The
Queensland Historical
Atlas: Histories, Cultures,
Landscapes. This research will
provide a unique perspective
on the interaction between
the environmental and cultural
forces that have shaped the
history of Queensland.

November
The first book to acknowledge
the important role of surveyors
in the development and
mapping of Queensland
was published. Surveying
Queensland 1839–1945
was written by Mr Bill Kitson,
Curator of Lands, Mapping
and Surveying Museum and Dr
Judith McKay, Senior Curator
at the Queensland Museum.

Queensland Museum
South Bank provided a rare
opportunity for locals to see
one of cricket’s greatest
trophies. The historic Ashes
Urn, on its first tour to Australia,
was displayed for 10 days,
attracting thousands of visitors.
The Queensland Museum’s
new electronic collection
management database went
live, enabling staff to search
across collections, improve
data quality and share
collection information across
the Museum network.

December
Museum Zoo: Animals,
Size and Me opened at
Queensland Museum South
Bank. Featuring more than 700
animal specimens sourced
from the Museum’s worldclass biodiversity collection the
exhibition highlights the critical
environmental issues facing
the world’s population.

January
The Minister for the Arts, the
Hon. Rod Welford, awarded
the prestigious Queensland
Museum Medal to one of
Australia’s foremost naturalists,
Dr Geoff Monteith, and to
highly respected historian, Mr
Bill Kitson.
Queensland Museum South
Bank had record attendances
with 95,706 visitors during the
month, an increase of 91%
from the previous January.

Left to right:
Queensland Museum
Foundation’s Name a Spider
campaign attracted attention
Children enjoy the Megafauna
exhibition at Cobb+Co
Museum
ABC Radio personality,
Warren Boland with the iconic
Ashes Urn
Queensland Museum
Medallist, Dr Geoff Monteith
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February
The Museum of Tropical
Queensland and BHP
Billiton Yabulu announced a
$400,000 partnership to fund
development of Enchanted
Rainforest, an interactive
exhibition focusing on the
unique fauna and flora of
Paluma Rainforest.

April

Artefacts recovered from
the wreck of HMS Pandora
in 1996 were exhibited at
the Museum of Tropical
Queensland. The artefacts,
which had not been previously
displayed, included five
intricately-carved Polynesian
war clubs collected as “artificial
curiosities” and a carronade
that is one of only five of its
kind in the world.

Two Victoria Crosses were
loaned to the Queensland
Museum for safe-keeping and
public display by the United
Service Club Queensland
and author Neil Jenman.
The priceless war medals
were awarded to Major Blair
Anderson Wark VC, DSO
and Private Robert Mathew
Beatham, VC, for their actions
on the Western Front in 1918.

March

The popular Great Railway
Journeys of Australia
exhibition, developed and
presented by The Workshops
Rail Museum, went on display
at the National Museum of
Australia in Canberra.

Life on the Line, a
photographic exhibition
exploring life on the railway
opened at The Workshops
Rail Museum. Developed by
The Workshops, the exhibition
portrays the varied tasks
performed by people who
have worked on Queensland
railways over the past
140 years.
On 23 March, the Minister for
State Development, the Hon.
John Mickel, launched the
BioBus 2007 tour at Browns
Plains State High School.

Left to right:

May
The Queensland Museum
Foundation and the Energex
Brisbane Broncos joined
forces for the Sports Star
Art project, a charity auction
with a difference. The project
utilises the skills of museum
preparators to create one-off
torso casts of star players. The
unique body sculptures will be
auctioned to raise money for
the Museum and the Brisbane
Broncos Charities Fund.

A new edition of the best
selling Wildlife of Greater
Brisbane was published,
featuring identification
information and photographs
of more than 1000 species.
The first four titles in a series
of pocket guides to wildlife on
local snakes, raptors, ants and
freshwater fish were released
simultaneously in partnership
with Brisbane City Council.
The discovery of the largest
bones of any dinosaur known
in Australia was announced
at a press conference. The
internationally significant
fossils, nicknamed “Cooper”
and “George”, are new
species of titanosaurs from the
Cretaceous Period.

June
Old Ways, New Ways: the
Human Story, a special
exhibition highlighting the
historic 1967 Referendum
that gave Aboriginal people
and Torres Strait Islanders
citizenship in their own country
opened at Queensland
Museum South Bank.

The Museum of Tropical
Queensland celebrated
its 20 th anniversary with a
cocktail event for more than
140 guests, including past
and present staff, volunteers,
partners, donors and
colleagues.
Queensland Museum
scientists discovered the
intermediate host responsible
for the devastating QX oyster
disease representing a major
breakthrough potentially saving
the industry millions of dollars.

Detail from intricately carved
Tongan war club (c. 1791)
recovered from the HMS
Pandora shipwreck in 1996
Detail from the Great Railway
Journeys of Australia poster
A one-off torso cast of the
Energex Brisbane Broncos
captain, Darren Lockyer
An image from the Old Ways,
New Ways exhibition
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Report from the Chair
Board of the
Queensland Museum

On 20 January 2007, the Queensland
Museum marked 145 years of operation.
This was a cause for celebration, but
also a reminder that museums operate
over very long time frames. This longevity
highlights the importance of maintaining a
strong vision.
The Board of the Queensland Museum takes our
role of providing strategic vision very seriously.
We believe that it is only by having a clear, shared
vision, well communicated, that our staff and
management can operate to their full potential.
The Strategic Vision of the Queensland Museum
aligns closely with Queensland Government
priorities, particularly the Smart State initiative.
The Queensland Museum works hard to
maintain and build our collections, but also
to make them accessible and relevant to all
Queenslanders now and into the future. During
2006–2007, the Queensland Museum opened
two new major exhibitions, developed in-house
and based on our collections. Great Railway
Journeys of Australia opened at The Workshops
Rail Museum in July 2006 and later travelled to
the National Museum of Australia in Canberra.
In December 2006, Museum Zoo opened at
Queensland Museum South Bank displaying
specimens from our world-class biodiversity
collection and highlighting environmental issues.
Our programs and campuses give the
Queensland Museum state-wide reach.
Townsville, Toowoomba, Ipswich, Gympie
and Brisbane all have Queensland Museum
campuses. Our network of Museum
Development Officers covers most areas of
the State. The Loans Service provides themed
kits to schools and communities everywhere in
Queensland. This regional emphasis strengthens
our community engagement and relevance.

Underpinning all of the Museum’s activities
is world-class research. This research base
enables the Queensland Museum to develop
unique and credible exhibitions and public
programs. A significant achievement during
the year was the implementation of a new
electronic collection management system. This
integrated database with improved information
quality enhances searching across the Museum
collections.
During 2006–2007 the Deputy Chairman of
the Queensland Museum Board, Dr Robert
Anderson OAM, retired after 10 years on the
Board and six years as Deputy Chairman.
“Uncle Bob”, as he is fondly known to Museum
staff and the community, was also the Chairman
of the Queensland Museum Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander Consultative Committee.
His contribution to the Queensland Museum
has been invaluable. This was recognised in
2004 with the awarding of the Queensland
Museum Medal. It has been a great privilege to
work with Bob. On behalf of the Queensland
Museum Board I would like to pay tribute to his
outstanding leadership and commitment.

Anne Jones
Chair
Board of the Queensland Museum

A trilobite (an
extinct marine
arthropod)
preserved in
mudstone at
Beetle Creek,
Mount Isa, 550
million years ago
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Report from the CEO
Queensland Museum

The Queensland Museum has grown up
with Queensland and this year celebrated
145 years of service to the people of this
State.
During 2006–2007 our programs covered the
State and beyond, reaching out to more than
2 million people.
Our network of Museums continued to create
engaging exhibitions and public programs
focusing on the Museum’s Collection and the
State’s distinctive cultural and natural heritage.
Museum Zoo, at Queensland Museum South
Bank, Brisbane displayed more than 700
specimens and highlighted critical environmental
issues, Megafauna: prehistoric giants of the
Darling Downs, at Cobb+Co, Toowoomba,
featured the latest scientific research and Great
Railway Journeys of Australia, at The Workshops
Rail Museum, Ipswich, put the spotlight on our
distinctive rail collection.
The future vibrancy of our campuses will be
assured with exciting development plans
underway. Cobb+Co Museum’s National
Carriage Factory Campaign and the Museum of
Tropical Queensland’s new exhibitions Enchanted
Rainforest and Archie’s Shipwreck Adventures
attracted significant community, corporate and
philanthropic support.
I would like to take this opportunity to
acknowledge the success of the Queensland
Museum Foundation in raising funds for these
major projects and thank the many generous
supporters of the Museum.
Our unique State Collection continues to grow
in relevance, with Museum research making
major contributions to our understanding of
many pressing issues such as climate change
and sustainability and safeguarding Queensland
against invasive species and diseases.

Discovery drives our research. Highlights this
year included a major breakthrough into the
devastating QX oyster disease potentially saving
the industry millions of dollars, the internationally
significant discovery of Australia’s largest
dinosaurs, the search for new compounds in
marine invertebrates for potential pharmaceutical
benefits and conservation of an unearthed
Second World War bunker.
The Museum’s commitment to supporting
collection organisations throughout the State saw
our network of Museum Development Officers
continue to identify significant collections and
assist with their preservation and interpretation.
I am also extremely proud of Queensland
Museum’s work providing valuable collection
management support to the Solomon Island’s
National Museum.
Queensland Museum Publishing grew ever
stronger with the release of a new edition of the
very popular Wildlife of Greater Brisbane. The
first four titles in a new series of pocket guides to
local wildlife were also released to great acclaim.
This year we highlighted the historic 1967
Referendum that gave Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander people citizenship in their own country.
The Museum respects the great contribution
of Aboriginal people and Torres Strait Islanders
to the cultural enrichment of Australia and will
continue to place great emphasis on promoting
reconciliation and understanding.
Through its inspirational staff, dedicated Board
and committed Minister, the Queensland
Museum will continue to enrich and enliven
the lives of Queenslanders and contribute to
Queensland’s creative and scientific economy.

Dr Ian Galloway
Development
plans for
the National
Carriage
Factory,
Stage 3 at the
Cobb+Co
Museum,
Toowoomba

Chief Executive Officer
Queensland Museum
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(l-r) Ms Anne Jones, Dr Barbara Piscitelli,
Ms Judith Carne, Dr Ian Galloway,
Hon Dr David Hamill, Ms Carolyn Mason,
Prof Jane Hughes, Mr Paul Willett, Mr Ray Frazer,
Mr Trevor Robinson. Not pictured:
Ms Jackie Branch, Ms Jenny Fraser,
Dr Graeme Potter

BOARD MEMBERS
Chair
Ms A. Jones, BDesSt
Vice Chairman
Dr R. Anderson,OAM
(until November 2006)
Hon. Dr D. Hamill, BA (Hons), MA,
PhD, FCIT, FAICD
(from February 2007)
Members
Ms J. Carne
Ms J. Fraser
(until 7 January 2007)
Mr R. Frazer, BBus, CA

Board of the
Queensland Museum

The Board of the Queensland Museum was established in 1970
under the provisions of the Queensland Museum Act 1970,
although the Queensland Museum first began its long history
of service provision to the Government and people of the State
in 1862. Changes to this Act came with the Arts Legislation
Amendment Act 1977, the Arts Legislation Amendment Act 2003
and the Statutory Bodies Legislation Amendment Act 2007.
The statutory functions and powers of the Board are detailed in
Appendix 1.
The Board is appointed by the Governor-in-Council on the recommendation of
the Minister for the Arts. Under the current amended Act, terms are for up to
three years.
All members bring experience and specific expertise to the Board, including a
broad appreciation of the Museum’s major fields of endeavour.
The Board met 12 times during the year including one special meeting on
16 October 2006. Eleven meetings were held at Queensland Museum South
Bank and one was held at the Museum of Tropical Queensland.

Prof J. Hughes, BSc (Hons) PhD
Ms C. Mason, BEcon, BA (Hons),
FAICD, FAIM, FIPAA
Dr B. Piscitelli AM, BA, MEd, PhD
Mrs J. Richardson
(until17 September 2006)
Mr G. Roberts, BA, DipTeach
(until 21 March 2007)
Mr T. Robinson
Government Observer
Ms J. Branch, BCom, CPA
Observer and CEO
Dr I. Galloway, BSc (Hons), PhD,
MAgSt
Observer and Deputy CEO
Dr G. Potter, MSc (Hons), PhD,
GradDipEd, JP (Qual)
Observer and
Director Corporate Services and
Business Development
Mr P. Willett, BBus (Pub. Admin),
Grad Cert PSM
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Senior Managers
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Dr Ian Galloway

Dr Graeme Potter

Mr Paul Willett

Chief Executive Officer
Queensland Museum

Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Queensland Museum

Director
Corporate Services and
Business Development

Dr Judy Powell

Dr John Hooper

Ms Kerry Cody

Head
Cultures and Histories Program

Head
Biodiversity and Geosciences
Program

Head
Information Management and
Information Technology

Ms Sally Lewis

Mr Andrew Moritz

Ms Deborah Tranter, OAM

Mr Peter McLeod

Director
Queensland Museum
South Bank

Director
The Workshops Rail Museum

Director
Cobb+Co Museum and
Regional Services

Director
Museum of Tropical Queensland
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Organisational
Structure and
Responsibilities

Core business of the Queensland Museum
includes knowledge generation via the
Biodiversity and Geosciences and Cultures
and Histories programs, management
and conservation of collections, and
information management.

Core business is delivered via two areas: the Queensland Museum campus
network consisting of six museums throughout the State; and a coordinated
range of regional services including a strategic learning section.
A business management and growth area focuses on Corporate Services,
Business Development and the Queensland Museum Foundation.

Minister for Education and Training and Minister for the Arts,
The Hon. Rod Welford, MP

Board of the Queensland Museum

Chief Executive Officer

Deputy
Chief Executive Officer

Programs
Cultures
and Histories
Program

Information
Management
and Information
Technology

Biodiversity
and Geosciences
Program
Conservation
Strategic Collection
Management

Hendra Offsite
Facility

Queensland Museum Foundation

Queensland
Museum Network

Regional Services

Cobb+Co Museum
Toowoomba

Strategic Learning

Museum of Tropical
Queensland
Townsville

Queensland
Museum Loans

Queensland
Museum
South Bank
Brisbane

Museum
Development
Officers

The Workshops
Rail Museum
Ipswich

Corporate Services
and Business Development
Finance and
Administration

Corporate
Communications
and Marketing
Publications
and Design

HR and
Organisational
Development

Project
Management

Occupational
Health and Safety

Lands, Mapping
and Surveying
Museum
Brisbane
WoodWorks:
the Forestry and
Timber Museum
Gympie

CORE BUSINESS

BUSINESS DELIVERY

MANAGEMENT AND GROWTH
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Strategic Direction

The Queensland
Museum’s Strategic Plan
2006–2010 outlined the
vision and direction for
the future. Eight areas are
strategically important to
the Museum:

Under the Queensland
Museum Act 1970, the Board
is responsible for the control
and management of the
State collections in its care. In
undertaking this central role,
the Queensland Museum

1. Leadership and
Excellence

recognises that the issue of
access is directly related to
caring for collections. The
Queensland Museum also
recognises its responsibility
to provide support to other
museums and historical
societies and to care for the
distributed collections of
Queensland.

Established in 1862, the
Queensland Museum is
the major State provider
of museological services
covering areas of science,
the natural environment and
cultural heritage.
The authority with which
the Queensland Museum
communicates on these
subjects is based on a long
term commitment to high
quality scholarship and
research. This provides
credibility to the Queensland
Museum’s public programs
and differentiates the
Queensland Museum from
other organisations that
provide education-based
entertainment.

12

2. Delivering Museum
Services to Queensland
The Queensland Museum is
committed to the provision
of an effective, state-wide
museum service. This will
enable the development of a
coordinated museum industry
in Queensland, bringing a
sense of identity and stability
to our large and culturally
diverse State from which all
communities will benefit.

Queensland Museum Annual Report 2006–2007

3. Respecting Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander
Cultures
The Queensland Museum
operates in ways that
recognise, appreciate and
demonstrate the great

contribution of Aboriginal
people and Torres Strait
Islanders to the cultural
enrichment of Queensland
and Australia. The
Queensland Museum values
the expertise and connection
of Aboriginal people and
Torres Strait Islanders with
their cultural heritage items
held in the Queensland
Museum’s collections.
The Queensland Museum
involves Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander communities in
the widest range of museum
activities and facilitates the
efforts of Aboriginal people
and Torres Strait Islanders
to gain recognition and
understanding of their culture
in the wider community.

4. Developing Diverse
Audiences
The Queensland Museum
develops diverse audiences
from Queenslanders of all
cultural and ethnic origins and
recognises the importance

of understanding these
audiences and their needs
and wants. The Queensland
Museum is committed to
continually researching and
responding to the varied
and changing needs of its
visitors and users.

5. Lifelong Learning
A primary objective of the
Queensland Museum is
to provide a range of free
choice and formal learning
opportunities, communicated
in ways that are relevant

to the needs of the target
audiences. The Queensland
Museum will foster learning
opportunities for all staff and
volunteers. Learning will be
extended by improving both
intellectual and physical
access to the Queensland
Museum’s knowledge,
facilities and collections.

6. Taking Queensland to
the World
The Queensland Museum is
geographically well placed
to make a major contribution
to a better understanding of
the cultural and biological

diversity of the Asia–Pacific
region.
To this end, the Queensland
Museum undertakes
collaborative original research
in the region and, within
the scope of its resources,
provides museological
services, advice and training
to museums, particularly
those in the South–west
Pacific.

7. Management
The commitment of
Government, Board and
staff to the achievement of a
common vision is critical to
the long-term performance
of the Queensland Museum.

The structural and cultural
changes required to
achieve this vision must
be implemented with the
understanding and support
of management and staff.
Leadership at all levels is
required for this to occur.
The empowerment of staff,
their financial accountability
and motivation to excel in
their appointed field are
key priorities for Museum
management.

8. Resources and
Sustainability
The Queensland Museum’s
current and future operations
are critically dependent on
the availability and allocation
of resources. The challenges

in this area include sustaining
the effort to increase
the absolute quantity of
resources available, while
achieving optimum allocation
to minimise waste, maximise
efficiency and provide
the best fit with prioritised
objectives. The Queensland
Museum will develop a strong
business orientation and
forge strategic partnerships
with organisations that
can further the aims of the
Queensland Museum.
Strategic goals can be found
in Appendix II.

Queensland Museum Annual Report 2006–2007 | Strategic Direction
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Textile
conservation
consultant,
Dr Michael
Marendy,
rehouses the
Museum’s
costume
collection

Leadership
and Excellence
Leadership within the
Queensland museum industry
Excellence in caring for collections

1.1 LEADERSHIP WITHIN THE
QUEENSLAND MUSEUM INDUSTRY

These include:

The Queensland Museum is the major
State provider of museum services. With a
unique 145-year-old collection and world
class researchers, the Museum is an
authority on the State’s cultural and natural
heritage. The Museum plays a leading
role in the development of the industry in
Queensland and is a major contributor to
the sector in Australia.

• International Council of Museums Australian
National Committee;

STRATEGIC LEADERSHIP
The Museum Resource Centre Network (MRCN),
operated in partnership with Arts Queensland
and local councils, provides valuable support
to community museums, galleries, libraries and
keeping places across the State. Based in Cairns,
Townsville, Mackay, Rockhampton, Noosa and
Toowoomba, the MRCN centres are staffed by
Museum Development Officers (MDOs), who
identify significant regional collections and assist
volunteers to preserve, interpret and display these
for the benefit of local communities. The MDOs
continued to assess cultural heritage collections
across Queensland, conducting significance
assessment workshops throughout the State.
With a focus on developing the museum industry
and encouraging best practice, the Museum
provided assistance to Hervey Bay and Cairns
City Councils for the proposed development and
management of regional museums.

MUSEUM PROFESSION
Queensland Museum staff are encouraged
to take an active role in developing the
museum profession, as well as promoting and
providing expert advice on cultural heritage and
biodiversity issues. Many are recognised as
leading authorities through their appointments to
significant national and international committees
and professional organisations.

• Council of Australasian Museum Directors;

• National Cultural Heritage Committee;
• Museum and Gallery Services Queensland
Board;
• Vice President of the Museum Shops
Association of Australia;
• Network of Australasian Museum Exhibitors;
• Council of Heads of Australian Faunal
Collections;
• Queensland Biodiscovery Working Group;
• Expert Advisory Panel ‘Albert Einstein World
Award of Science’;
• Biosecurity Australia – Risk Analysis Panel
External Member;
• International Organization for Systematic and
Evolutionary Biology;
• Scientific Advisory Committee for the Fraser
Island World Heritage Area;
• Regional Resource Expert for Network of
Aquaculture Centres of the Asia-Pacific;
• Queensland Smithsonian Institution Fellowship
Selection Committee.

QUEENSLAND’S 150TH ANNIVERSARY
CELEBRATIONS
The Queensland Historical Atlas: Histories,
Cultures, Landscapes project was funded by a
significant $600,000 Australian Research Council
Linkage Grant in partnership with the University
of Queensland. This is the first project to take
Queensland as a major case study in the cultural
landscapes of Indigenous, settler and postcolonial societies and will make innovative use of
digital technologies for historical interpretation and
environmental and cultural mapping.
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Fund-raising continues for the redevelopment of Cobb+Co Museum. The
National Carriage Factory Project will expand Cobb+Co’s exhibition spaces
providing interactive experiences between visitors and participants in
heritage trade training programs.
Outlook for 2007–2008
• Continue to provide leadership through the Museum Resource Centre
Network to regional and specialist museums and galleries across the State.
• Implement the Museum Resource Centre Network Strategic Plan.
• Support staff involvement in leadership positions in museums and
relevant professional organisations at the state, national and international
level.

Conservator,
Jenny Blakely
undertaking
surface
consolidation
of a Second
World War
bunker

1.2 EXCELLENCE IN CARING FOR COLLECTIONS

COLLECTION MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

The Queensland Museum is the custodian of the State’s natural
and cultural heritage. The Museum prides itself on balancing the
highest standard of collection care and long-term preservation
with community access.

The new Vernon electronic collection
management system has been operational since
September 2006. Benefits already realised
include an increase in collection data integrity,
a reduced risk to collection data, enhanced
collection care and the ability to share data across
the Museum and with the external research
community.

COLLECTION CONSERVATION
A two-year Conservation Strategic Plan was produced outlining strategies
for best practice care and preservation of Museum collections.
Conservation staff provided remedial conservation, stabilisation and
treatment of objects for exhibition and loan. During the year, 3245 items
were conserved, including 1075 objects prepared for display. Conservation
reports were prepared on the 362 items loaned from the Cultures and
Histories collection.
Some of the significant conservation projects conducted during the year
included:
• Preservation and removal of a Second World War bunker found during
excavations for Brisbane’s Inner City Busway;
• Treatment of archaeological material for display at the Ipswich River Heart
Parklands;
• Treatment and re-housing of the Museum’s bark paintings collection;
• Rehousing of the Museum’s ornithological collection.

16

Queensland Museum Annual Report 2006–2007

The new system is operational across most of
the Biodiversity Program. More than 600,000
registered items have been migrated including
many type specimen identification images.
The conversion of Geosciences data is almost
completed and will become operational during
July 2007, boosting the number of collection
items managed by this system to more than one
million. For the first time, the State’s three major
geoscience collections (Queensland Museum,
University of Queensland and Geological
Survey of Queensland) will be combined and
searchable in one dataset. Data migration of the
Museum’s Cultures and Histories collection will be
completed next year.
The future release of a web browser will provide
public access to the collection via the Museum
website. The development of a geographic
information system plug-in will enable Queensland
Museum scientists and external clients to create
locality maps from relevant collection data.

COLLECTION STORAGE
Cost effective storage facilities and systems that ensure the long-term safety
of the State’s collection, as well as encourage accessibility, are paramount.
With a growing collection and limited storage space, work continued on
long-term planning and a review of collection areas across the Museum.
A comprehensive audit of collection storage methods, systems, layout
and requirements was commenced. Necessary storage upgrades for
Queensland Museum South Bank and Hendra were determined and
costed. These improvements were prioritised and potential for rationalisation
of collection storage identified. A review of collection storage needs at other
campuses will be completed early next year.
Due to the critical review of collection space any planning for off-site storage
of the Biodiversity spirit store was delayed until next year. However, future
storage requirements for frozen specimen samples were assessed to
ensure space for the relocation of specimens collected from major research
including the Great Barrier Reef Seabed Biodiversity and Torres Strait
Seabed Mapping projects.

A change in the dangerous goods legislation
by the International Air Transport Association
now requires specimens stored in ethanol to
be couriered instead of posted. The increased
expense has curbed the loan of specimens
between museums worldwide and is a major
concern for biologists. Until the data migration
to the new Vernon collection management
system was completed an embargo was placed
on outward loans. It is interesting to note that
previous annual figures were inflated by numerous
entomology loans following visits by scientists
participating in the International Entomological
Congress in Brisbane. In the Cultures and
Histories Program, 104 boxes of archaeological
material and 142 individual items were loaned to
researchers and universities.
Outlook for 2007–2008
• Complete data migration to the integrated
Vernon collection management system.

POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
Queensland Museum collections are managed to best practice standards
and in accordance with relevant cultural mores. Policies and procedures
for accessioning, de-accessioning, preventative conservation, access,
documentation, loans, copyright and intellectual property of the Museum’s
collection were reviewed to ensure high standards. A Museum-wide
Collection Development Policy was drafted. Procedures for rationalisation of
collection storage and additional strategies for managing storage shortage
were prepared.

ACCESS
Queensland Museum places a high priority on access to collections. It
successfully balances collection care and research priorities with increased
community access via exhibitions and public programs.

• Incorporate a web browser interface and
a geographic information system into the
collection management system.
• Complete the inventory and evaluation of the
storage conditions of the State Collection.
• Commence planning for off-site storage of
elements of the Biodiversity spirit stores.
• Complete the review of Museum-wide
accessioning, de-accessioning, preventative
conservation, access, documentation, loan,
copyright and intellectual property policies and
procedures.

This year saw a significant increase in the number of Biodiversity and
Geosciences specimens on display at Queensland Museum South Bank.
This was due to the Museum Zoo exhibition of more than 700 collection
specimens, including rarely seen animals. The Inquiry Centre hosted a
number of temporary displays of collection items including bird nests,
artefacts from an archaeology dig at Victoria Park, fishhooks made by
Aboriginal Australians and pseudo-fossils. The Queensland Museum South
Bank Exhibition Development Plan aligns key collections with audience
interest, ensuring the collections will be the focus for future exhibits.
The Museum of Tropical Queensland presented the Clash of Cultures
display showcasing 10 previously unseen objects from the Pandora
shipwreck. The successful Vanishing Wildlife holiday program brought
almost 50 specimens out of the Biodiversity collection for public viewing,
while more than 600 insects and other invertebrates were displayed during
the Creepy Crawlies holiday program. The Tune, Tone and Tempo exhibition
showcased the Museum’s Marson Collection of musical instruments and
also travelled to Cobb+Co Museum.
The Workshops Rail Museum developed the Great Railway Journeys of
Australia exhibition turning the spotlight on more than 70 previously unseen
objects from the collection.
Student programs at Queensland Museum South Bank and Cobb+Co
Museum were reviewed to ensure increased object-based learning.
Biodiversity staff will continue to prepare some incoming specimens
specifically for display to alleviate issues of longevity of biological material in
the public galleries.
Research loans to universities, scientists and historians throughout the
world provided further access to the State Collection. Approximately 3000
loans, fewer than in previous years, were authorised by the Biodiversity and
Geosciences Program. The number of loans was reduced for three reasons.
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Excellence in research and scholarship

1.3 EXCELLENCE IN RESEARCH
AND SCHOLARSHIP
The Queensland Museum’s long-term
commitment to high quality scholarship
and world-class research attracts
numerous partnerships and competitive
grants. The Museum plays a unique role in
the State’s knowledge industries and is a
major contributor to the Smart State.
Original research based on the State
Collection increases understanding and
appreciation of Queensland’s natural and
cultural heritage. The Museum continues
to acquire and develop its collections to
further enhance the credibility of research,
public programs and exhibitions.
STRATEGIC FOCUS
Priority themes provide the basis for establishing
a common language for research, collections and
public programs. With a focus on
Distinctively Queensland, the following themes
direct the research, collection and public
programs strategic plans:

• Discovery, using molecular techniques, of the
intermediate host responsible for QX disease
(Martelia sydneyi), which threatens eastern
Australia’s edible oyster industry; in collaboration
with the Fisheries Research and Development
Corporation and the oyster growers industry.
• Investigation of the effects of trawling on the
biodiversity composition and seabed structure
in the Gulf of Carpentaria; in collaboration with
CSIRO Marine and Atmospheric Research.
• The Return of Indigenous Cultural Property
Program, resulting in the repatriation of Ancestral
Remains and Secret Sacred Objects.
As an audience-focused organisation, the Museum
uses its scientific and historical research to develop
outstanding public programs. Research staff
participate in exhibition planning committees to
maximise the alignment of research programs with
public program strategic plans.

As a leading research organisation, the
Museum attracts grant funding and undertakes
consultancies. The Cultures and Histories
Program met the target for external research
funds. The Biodiversity and Geosciences Program
exceeded their target of $900,000 in external
Queensland Stories; Sustainable Queensland;
research funding. A full list of grants, contracts
Ancient Ecosystems; Life in the Tropics; Customs, and research consultancies is provided in
Culture and Country; Science and Technology
Appendix V.
in Society; and Connecting Queensland —
Reaching the World.
Highlights included:
• Participation in the consortium of Australian
Research projects at the Museum are regularly
collection agencies that won a significant, fivereviewed for alignment with priority themes and
year grant under the National Collaborative
to ensure outcomes meet relevant State and
Research Infrastructure Strategy. The grant
Commonwealth research and development criteria.
will establish the online Atlas of Living Australia
Some of the projects that have contributed
— a ‘biodiversity search engine’ providing ready
significantly to the Queensland Research and
access to the wealth of information held in
Development Priorities (‘Sustainable Queensland’
biological collections in museums and public
and ‘Safeguarding Queensland’) included:
research institutes across the country. This
• A baseline survey on the colonisation by marine will support research and decision-making in
conservation planning, health, education and
life, of the decommissioned naval vessel, HMAS
other areas.
Brisbane off Mooloolaba; in collaboration with
the University of the Sunshine Coast and the
Environmental Protection Agency.
• A survey of terrestrial invertebrates from the dry
rainforest patches in national parks and private
properties on the Great Basalt Wall west of
Charters Towers; in collaboration with the National
Heritage Trust.

• Continued significant funding from several
‘biodiscovery’ research agencies to survey
marine invertebrates throughout Queensland,
Commonwealth and international tropical waters
as potential sources of bioactive compounds with
pharmaceutical applications.
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• Establishing a partnership with a large
consortium of research agencies, led by the
University of Queensland, to undertake surveys
of Australia’s deep seas and seamounts. The
project, entitled DeepDownunder: designing a
deep-sea exploration and discovery capability for
Australia, will use submersibles and is partially
funded by an Australian Research Council
Linkage Grant.
• Establishing nodes of the Barcoding of Life
project at the Queensland Museum through the
Molecular Identities Laboratory. The project, in
collaboration with CSIRO Marine and Atmospheric
Research in Hobart, the University of Göttingen in
Germany and the Marie Curie Fellowship scheme,
aims to obtain DNA ‘barcodes’ from confirmed
voucher specimens of Australian species.
• Participation in the Planetary Biodiversity Inventory
(PBI), funded by a five-year US National Science
Foundation research grant and in collaboration with
American Museum of Natural History. This project
involves 30 investigators from 10 countries jointly
tackling what may be the most ambitious project on
spider systematics ever attempted.
• Six Australian Biological Resources Study
grants, to investigate the taxonomy, distribution
and phylogenetic relationships of a diversity of
animals from sponges to sea squirts.
• A survey of corals and the recovery of reefs,
following coral bleaching events on the Maldives
Islands, sponsored by the National Geographic
Society and hosted by the Ministry of Fisheries.
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QUALITY

COLLECTION DEVELOPMENT

Rigorous systems are in place to monitor the quality of research outputs
produced by Queensland Museum researchers. Peer review of scholarly
articles and publications remains an important criterion with 113 academic
papers and 56 technical and popular publications published this year.
Museum staff continued to provide on-going professional refereeing,
mentoring and reviews for students and peers.

The Museum continues to acquire collections that
best represent Queensland’s cultural and natural
heritage. The collections are a unique resource
for exhibitions and public programs providing a
reliable basis for enhanced public understanding.

Internal peer review forums were maintained including staff presentations
and supervisory meetings. External peer forums included professional
public lectures, such as the Queensland Connections series, and the Murri
Milestones forum, as well as staff participation in specialist conferences,
advisory committees and as reviewers and editors of scholarly papers.

RESEARCH ENVIRONMENT
The Queensland Museum attracts world-class researchers with a dynamic
environment that encourages teamwork, innovation and excellence,
complemented by strong strategic direction and project management
systems.
The Museum maintained an annual scholarship program encouraging
staff to develop advanced skills and establish new networks. This year,
Dr Jessica Worthington Wilmer, research scientist and Manager of the
Museum’s Molecular Identities Laboratory, studied advanced molecular
genetic technologies and analysis methods at New Zealand’s University of
Canterbury.
The Museum continued to provide postgraduate scholarship and
studentship opportunities. Biodiversity and Geosciences Program
studentships increased due to staff cross-appointments at the University
of Queensland, Griffith University and James Cook University. This year 30
postgraduate students and postdoctoral fellows have based themselves at
the Museum to access its unique collections and work with our scientists.
The Cultures and Histories Program attracted a PhD linkage grant with the
University of New England and two University of Queensland PhD students
working on the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander collection. Three PhD
scholarships have been offered as part of the Queensland Historical Atlas
project.
The Workshops Rail Museum hosted a curatorial internship in late 2006 from
the University of Queensland’s Contemporary Studies Program.

The collection acquisition policies of the Biodiversity
and Geosciences and the Cultures and Histories
Programs are frequently updated in line with priority
research and communication themes.
Some key objects and specimens accessioned
into the collection this year include:
• A ceremonial trowel used in laying the
foundation stone of Queensland’s Parliament
House, donated by the Department of Premier
and Cabinet;
• A rare Night Parrot specimen, one of only two
authenticated specimens since the 1880s;
• Australia’s largest dinosaur bones and the first
found in South-west Queensland.
The Cultures and Histories Program began
development of a more vigorous contemporary
collecting program, starting with a collection of
contemporary Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
weaving.
De-accessioning of poor specimens, items that
do not best represent Queensland’s cultural and
natural heritage and those of potential risk to
staff, public or other collection items continued.
A large group of non-Queensland ceramics were
de-accessioned from the Cultures and Histories
Program. A disposal plan of minerals in the
Geosciences collection is well progressed and
awaiting action by an external agency.
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PROMOTION OF QM RESEARCH
Promotional strategies, events and international
media coverage highlighted the Queensland
Museum’s role as a key player in the Smart
State and enhanced its reputation in the wider
community.
Staff delivered 3299 lectures and talks at a wide
variety of international and national conferences,
seminars and workshops.
Staff research was also promoted through talks,
workshops and education programs to enhance
the public’s knowledge of the research that goes
on behind-the-scenes. Highlights included:
• National Science Week at Queensland Museum
South Bank, which brought scientists out of the
labs and into the public galleries to work and
discuss their projects with the public;
• The Workshops Rail Museum exhibition, Great
Railway Journeys of Australia, which showcased
the Museum’s collection and the stories of iconic
rail journeys;
• Cobb+Co Museum’s program of 16 talks on
a diverse range of topics, including a series of
specialist palaeontology lectures to tie in with the
Megafauna exhibition;
• The Museum of Tropical Queensland’s Discover
More talk series, which provides an outlet for
local researchers to share their expertise with the
public;
• The Mt Etna Fossils Open Day held in
conjunction with Cement Australia, which
attracted more than 2500 people to dig for fossils
and learn more about megafauna;
• The launch of the Wildlife of Greater Brisbane
publication written by Queensland Museum
scientists;
• The Queensland Connections series of 10
public talks, hosted by the Cultures and Histories
Program in partnership with the Environmental
Protection Agency;
• Wildlife Workshops conducted by Queensland
Museum scientists on topics including identifying
ants, small mammals and scientific illustration.
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RESEARCH OUTPUTS
Queensland Museum is committed to the
communication of its research outcomes in a
variety of media and forums appropriate to the
content and the audience.
The Memoirs of the Queensland Museum
continued to be an important scholarly medium
for the publication of research. Memoirs of the
Queensland Museum: Cultural Heritage Series
Volume 4, Part 1 and Memoirs of the Queensland
Museum, Volume 52, Part 1 were published this
year. Recent full text issues of Memoirs became
available via the Museum website. Back issues
continue to be added.

Queensland Museum staff received prestigious
national and international recognition during
the year. The Workshops Rail Museum Visitor
Experience Manager, Bernadette McCormack,
was named a Queensland–Smithsonian Fellow
for 2006.

This year, 194 scholarly papers, popular articles,
book reviews and conference abstracts were
published. The following books were also
published: Surveying Queensland1839–1945:
a Pictorial History, a second edition of Wildlife of
Greater Brisbane and a complementary series of
four pocket guides to Queensland fauna; and a
series of children’s dinosaur books co-published
with Steve Parish Publishing.
As well as campus exhibition and public
programs, the Museum’s website provides
another outlet for Queensland Museum’s
research, hosting scholarly papers, fact sheets,
generic identification notes and many other forms
of communication for a wide range of audiences.

Coverage of Queensland Museum research was
made in mainstream media. A highlight this year
was the significant discovery of Australia’s largest
dinosaur bones, which received international
exposure and mentions in more than 142 media
Outlook for 2007–2008
outlets. The announcement of a pterosaur jaw find
• Continue to align research projects with
early in the year also attracted significant media
the Queensland Government research and
coverage.
development priority outcomes and ensure
Staff continued to make regular contributions to
better alignment with the public programs
local, national and international popular media,
planned for the Queensland Museum network.
scientific and technical forums. The Museum’s
• Maintain the Queensland Museum Scholarship
research excellence and exposure attracted
program for staff professional development
regular visitation by external researchers and
and encourage postgraduate scholarships,
promoted the loan of cultural, biological and
cadetships and internships.
geological samples to other institutions. There
• Develop and implement collection acquisition
was an increased use of the Biodiversity
policies in the context of priority research and
collections by post graduate students for
public programs plans.
morphological, molecular and other studies.
• Publish at least two volumes of the Memoirs of
the Queensland Museum.
• Publish at least 100 scholarly papers, popular
articles and books.
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1.4 EXCELLENCE IN COMMUNICATION

freshwater fish. Written by Queensland Museum
scientists and other experts, this user-friendly
latest edition provides information on over 1000
species. More than 1690 copies were sold in the
two months following its release.

Excellence in communication

The Queensland Museum tells the
changing story of Queensland and its
place in the world. The Museum’s unique
and credible knowledge base ensures we
create and deliver inspirational experiences
and products that successfully connect
people to Queensland and each other.
With a strong audience focus the Museum
is committed to ensuring messages are
targeted to particular audiences and
maintains an effective evaluation and
feedback mechanism to better understand
audience needs.
KNOWLEDGE DISSEMINATION
As a leading research organisation, knowledge
dissemination is a key priority of the Queensland
Museum and forms the basis of all campus and
program strategic plans. Priority themes have
been developed to produce a common language
and stronger connections across research,
collections and public programs.
With an overarching theme of Distinctly
Queensland, the Museum directs its activities
into the following key areas: Queensland Stories;
Sustainable Queensland; Ancient Ecosystems;
Life in the Tropics; Customs, Culture and
Country; Science and Technology in Society; and
Connecting Queensland — Reaching the World.
Queensland Museum’s research and collection
policies and priority themes are firmly aligned
with State and Commonwealth research and
development priorities.

PUBLICATIONS
From popular and scholarly publications to musthave wildlife guides, this year more than 14,900
Queensland Museum titles were sold. The
Museum is actively working to expand the range
of popular publications in line with a five-year
publishing plan.

Surveying Queensland 1839–1945: a Pictorial
History was co-published by the Queensland
Museum and the Department of Natural
Resources and Water.
The Museum’s publishing success is seen in
the expansion of a rewarding partnership with
Steve Parish Publishing. The popular series of
children’s dinosaur books published last year
was complemented by a jigsaw puzzle, sticker
book and two children’s story books – Brave
Little Aussie Dinosaur and Dave the Elasmosaur’s
Slippery Escape. The Amazing Facts about
Australian Dinosaurs publication was nominated
as a finalist in the Children’s Book Council of
Australia 2007 Eve Pownall Award for Information
Books. A new series of children’s publications
and associated products utilising the Museum’s
expertise on megafauna has commenced this
year. Work is also underway on a series of natural
history books including, Amazing Facts about
Australian Mammals, Amazing Facts about Deadly
and Dangerous Creatures and Amazing Facts
about Frogs.
Research for a new Wild Guide to the Great
Barrier Reef will commence next year.
The Museum’s vast image library was expanded
this year due to the Wildlife of Greater Brisbane
publication. At the same time, more than 4000
images have been electronically catalogued.
A project plan has been developed to assess
and update the cataloguing process with a
software package currently under investigation for
improved management of the image library.

WEBSITE AND MULTI-MEDIA

The eagerly anticipated new edition of Wildlife
of Greater Brisbane was released and it was
accompanied by a new series of pocket guides to
wildlife, featuring local snakes, raptors, ants and
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PUBLIC RELATIONS
The Queensland Museum Corporate
Communications Strategy was updated and
implemented. This year, a strong focus on mediabased events to raise the profile of the Museum’s
research and publications activities resulted in
national and international coverage of dinosaur
finds, book publications and new collection
acquisitions.
Queensland
Museum
produces a
diverse range
of publications
based on
historical
and scientific
research and
its collections

A positive response from media and stakeholder
groups enhanced the Museum’s key messages,
unique strengths and reputation as a credible
authority on Queensland’s natural and cultural
history. More than 2214 media mentions were
received during the year.

DEVELOPMENT
Queensland Museum’s website continued to attract visitors with 3,713,064
page view visits this year.
With a priority to enhance access to the Museum’s collections, exhibitions,
research and educational programs, the site is constantly evolving and a
project plan for major redevelopment has been approved.
New processes were developed to improve posting of content including
guidelines for supplying material for Internet and Intranet sites and a web
service catalogue detailing procedures. A centralised web services address
has enabled improved tracking of all requests. The team is currently
investigating the adoption of a web content management system.
A number of new pages relevant to specific target audiences were
developed. These include the interactive Disease Detectives site where
students can learn about QX disease and the research being conducted
at the Museum. There were also detailed pages for all new exhibitions,
updated learning pages and scientific information pages for researchers.
A number of curriculum focused pages were developed for primary and
secondary schools. Work on an interactive site about the Museum’s water
mouse research is currently underway. Education resources for the travelling
exhibition, Kids Time: A Century of Learning through Play, and also for
Dandiiri Maiwar, Museum Zoo and Icons of Queensland exhibitions were
posted. A detailed framework for the update of Sciencentre learning pages
has been developed.

Campus marketing strategies and communication
plans for key events were implemented. In
response to audience research, an updated
marketing plan was developed for the Museum
of Tropical Queensland and The Workshops Rail
Museum.
Communication and public relations strategies in
support of the Queensland Museum Foundation
were implemented, including media campaigns
for the Name a Spider campaign, Broncos torso
casting event and the National Carriage Factory
Campaign.

INFORMATION SERVICES
The Inquiry Centre, based at Queensland
Museum South Bank, continued to provide a
specialist identification and information service for
the whole State.
Inquiry Centre operations were assessed as part
of an overall Queensland Museum South Bank
review. Recommendations included retaining the
Inquiry Centre as part of QMSB as a key attraction
and a continued emphasis on providing a Statewide information service. A detailed review of the
Inquiry Centre is scheduled for 2007–2008.
The Inquiry Centre handled 6586 queries, of
which 41% were web based and 33% direct
inquiries from visitors coming into QMSB. In
response to commonly requested information and
identifications, the Inquiry Centre has produced
a series of 90 fact sheets, some of which are
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available on the Museum’s website. The fact sheets are currently being
reviewed and redesigned. Live insects are a popular part of the Inquiry
Centre displays. During the year, existing insect enclosures were refurbished
and new ones added.

EXHIBITIONS
Exhibition master plans continued to drive the periodic renewal and future
development of each campus.
Planning continued on the redevelopment of infrastructure and exhibitions
at the Museum of Tropical Queensland (Bug Safari project) and Cobb+Co
Museum (National Carriage Factory Campaign).
A suite of exhibition project plans were developed for potential sponsorship
funding. The Queensland Museum Foundation worked actively with each
campus to maximise funding potential.
The National Carriage Factory Campaign and Cobb+Co Museum
redevelopment was launched in September 2007 attracting significant
pledges. At The Workshops Rail Museum, conceptual work began on the
development of a Visitor Experience Plan for the Powerhouse facility.
The Museum of Tropical Queensland developed project plans and focused
on funding opportunities for Archie’s Shipwreck Adventure and Bug Safari
exhibitions. An external funding report has been commissioned to provide
information on potential partners for future MTQ projects, including a sound
and light show and a refurbishment of MindZone.
An extensive Exhibition Development Plan for Queensland Museum South
Bank has provided the basis for individual exhibition project plans to be
developed in 2007–2008.

MARKETING
A Queensland Museum Corporate Identity Style
Manual was developed to ensure consistency
of the visual identity across the network with
branded documents available on the Intranet for
easy access. Audience research and workshops
held throughout the year helped to define
the essence of the Museum’s brand. Internal
communications strategies and a review of the
current visual identity will be conducted next year
in light of this.
A number of cross-marketing promotional
alliances were successfully implemented between
campuses, especially those based in the SouthEast corner of the State, which are able to work
closely together. These included:
• Development of a new tourism drive package
including entry to The Workshops Rail Museum
and Cobb+Co Museum, aimed at encouraging
visitors to follow the Cobb and Co. Heritage Drive;
• Reciprocal entry to other Museum campuses
for annual pass-holders and members;
• Cross-promotion of school holiday activities
at The Workshops Rail Museum, Queensland
Museum South Bank and Cobb+Co Museum;
• Collaboration between the Queensland
Museum Foundation, Queensland Museum South
Bank and the Museum of Tropical Queensland to
manage the Sports Star Art projects.
Outlook for 2007–2008
• Ensure that knowledge dissemination has a
high priority in all Queensland Museum Strategic
Plans.
• Expand the range of Queensland Museum
popular publications and continue to catalogue
and develop the Queensland Museum’s Image
Library.
• Develop and commence implementation of a
new web infrastructure including establishment
of a new web-publishing system.
• Implement the Queensland Museum
Communication Strategy and campus
marketing plans.
• Commission an independent study of the value
of the Queensland Museum to the community
and economy of Queensland.
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2.0 DELIVERING MUSEUM SERVICES
TO QUEENSLAND
The Queensland Museum covers all
areas of the State with an enduring
commitment to accessibility and lifelong
learning. The Museum provides assistance
to other museums and historical
societies, encouraging the preservation,
interpretation and display of all collections
in Queensland.

re-launch of the Toowoomba City Council Cultural
Card. Demonstrations in traditional signwriting,
silversmithing, wheelwrighting, patchwork and
woodworking were conducted, as well as handson activities such as calligraphy and family history
workshops.

The National Carriage Factory Campaign was
launched in September 2006 by Major General
Peter Arnison AV, CVO (Retd), Chairman of the
Queensland Museum Foundation, and Mrs Mary
Wagner, Chair of the National Carriage Factory
Campaign. The project will revitalise the Museum
QUEENSLAND MUSEUM NETWORK
with new exhibition spaces and the opportunity
for interactive visitor experiences in heritage trade
COBB+CO MUSEUM
training programs. As well as boosting cultural
This year 41,359 visitors attended Cobb+Co
tourism to the Toowoomba area, it is estimated
Museum. More than 60% were local residents
that the redevelopment will inject many millions
admitted free of charge through the Toowoomba
of dollars into the regional economy in its first
City Council Cultural Card partnership.
year of operation. The National Carriage Factory
Cobb+Co public program highlights included four, Campaign has attracted more than $1.25 million
themed holiday events attended by 1633 children, of public donations.
two self-guided programs with 369 children and
This year, Cobb+Co Museum won the QTCU
one shopping centre holiday program with 507
Educational Initiative category of the annual
children. The monthly Little Cobbers program for
Gallery and Museum Achievement Awards for
two to five-year-olds attracted 600 children and
the exhibition, Kids Time: A Century of Learning
parents.
through Play.
This year 15 workshops in heritage trades
including blacksmithing, calligraphy, silversmithing
and lead-lighting were also conducted, as well
as a number of free public talks and workshops.
A series on researching and publishing family
history, presented in partnership with Community
Books Australia, drew 120 participants.

Outlook for 2007–2008
• With the Queensland Museum Foundation,
ensure that planning and community support
for the National Carriage Factory continues.

Temporary exhibitions included:

• Deliver an exciting and engaging program of
events targeted to different sections of the
community, including educational and other
public programs.

• Tune, Tone Tempo: Instruments of the World,
particularly popular with secondary school music
classes;

• Provide a series of heritage trades and cultural
and natural heritage workshops targeting adult
learners.

• Ellis Rowan: a Flower-Hunter in Queensland;
and

• Develop a calendar of events to be launched in
February 2008.

• Harmony Day exhibition, Our Journey.

• Develop and implement a marketing plan with
strategies to increase visitor numbers.

A highlight of the year was the installation of
Megafauna: prehistoric giants from the Darling
Downs, developed by the Museum using the
latest scientific research from local sites.

• Implement new model education and holiday
programs to cater for increased number of
clients during holiday periods.

The Cobb+Co Museum also conducted a
Heritage Trade and Craft Festival, featuring a
month-long public program to coincide with the

• Achieve 45,000 visitors to the facility.

• Maintain a general volunteer program of
30 trained members.
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MUSEUM OF TROPICAL QUEENSLAND (MTQ)

QUEENSLAND MUSEUM SOUTH BANK

More than 74,500 visitors attended the Museum of Tropical Queensland
this year.

Queensland Museum South Bank celebrated 20
years at the Cultural Centre with 569,405 visitors
attending the Museum’s flagship campus during
the year, a 14% increase on visitor targets.

Highlights included:
• the opening of the Clash of Cultures exhibition, showcasing never seen
artefacts recovered from HMS Pandora shipwreck;
• a monthly record of 17,476 visitors during January 2007 for the Creepy
Crawlies school holiday program;
• the display of the Tune, Tone and Tempo exhibition.
During the year, Peter McLeod was appointed Director of MTQ with a focus
on delivering new exhibitions and partnerships. Staff continued to implement
the Exhibition Master Plan, actively fundraising and developing partnerships
to achieve these significant changes.

A review of Queensland Museum South Bank
was conducted to ensure best practice operation
and to better understand future planning needs.
Most recommendations from the review have
been implemented with others to occur as
resources permit.
In January 2007, Sally Lewis (former Director of
Museum of Tropical Queensland) was appointed
Director of Queensland Museum South Bank.

Work commenced on Exhibition Development
and Site Optimisation Plans, utilising the services
of market research and design consultants and
significant consultation with staff and volunteers.
The Exhibition Development Plan aligns key
collection and research strengths with audience
The relationship with the North Queensland Toyota Cowboys Rugby League
Club continued with the Sports Star Art torso casts auctioned to raise money for interest to ensure the best exhibits possible. Both
plans will provide Queensland Museum South
a new children’s exhibition, Archie’s Shipwreck Adventure. The $44,000 raised
Bank with a final document to present to key
at the auction, combined with a generous grant of $50,000 from the Ian Potter
Foundation will enable the marine archaeology and biodiversity exhibition, based stakeholders and partners to fund the works and
optimise the use of the building in line with other
on the Yongala shipwreck, to come to life next year.
tenants at the Cultural Centre.
Detailed planning for the Bug Safari exhibition was completed and funding
actively sought for this innovative insight into the world of invertebrates. Live In January a new “H20 Show” was presented in
the Sciencentre. This is the second water-themed
and collection specimens will be used in the exhibition.
science show developed as part of a SEQWater
The strong research relationship between MTQ and James Cook University sponsorship. An Annual Pass for the Sciencentre
was enhanced with the appointment of a new Biodiversity Curator focusing
was introduced in September with 869 sold
on marine invertebrates.
during the year.
The Council Community Pass initiative continued with more than 53,000
To coincide with the peak Christmas holiday
locals taking advantage of free entry to the Museum.
period, the special exhibition Museum Zoo:
Generous funding of $400,000 was secured from BHP Billiton Yabulu to
develop and install the Enchanted Rainforest exhibition. This interactive
experience, featuring Museum collections, research discoveries and an
innovative sound and light show, is due to open in December 2007.

Following audience research the marketing strategy was reviewed and
implemented with an increased focus on the tourism, education and seniors
markets.
This year MTQ was rewarded for its significant tourism achievements
winning the Cultural and Heritage category of the North Queensland Tourism
Awards for the third consecutive year and being inducted into the Hall of
Fame for North Queensland.
Outlook for 2007–2008
• Funding secured for Bugs Safari exhibition.
• Completion of the Enchanted Rainforest exhibit.
• Funding secured for the detailed design and installation of Archies’
Shipwreck.
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Animals, Size and Me opened. More than 700
prehistoric and modern creatures were let loose
from the museum’s world-class biodiversity
collection especially for the exhibition.

The Ashes Urn
was displayed
at Queensland
Museum South
Bank

A range of public programs and workshops were offered throughout the
year highlighting the Museum’s research priorities. Wildlife Workshops,
presented in conjunction with Brisbane City Council, were again very
successful, as was the cultural heritage lecture series, Queensland
Connections.
This year Queensland Museum South Bank hosted the Gallery and Museum
Achievement Awards. Dandiiri Maiwar was the major winner taking out the
category for Organisations — staff of 7 or more category. It was also a
finalist in the Premier’s Awards for Excellence in Public Sector Management.
Outlook for 2007–2008
• Complete the Site Optimisation Plan.
• Complete the Exhibition Development Plan.
• Select three proposed exhibitions from the Exhibition Development Plan
and progress them to project plan stage.
• Review the Inquiry Centre.
• Present It’s a Dog’s Life exhibition.
The priceless symbol of one of sport’s greatest
rivalries, the Ashes Urn, travelled from Lord’s
Cricket Ground in London for a rare Australian
tour. Visitor totals during the 10-day exhibition
period were 13,298.
One hundred years of surf lifesaving in Australia
was celebrated in a popular exhibition on tour
from the National Museum of Australia. Between
the Flags: 100 years of Surf Lifesaving was
opened by current Burleigh Heads lifesaver and
Minister for the Arts, the Hon. Rod Welford, MP.
Old Ways, New Ways: the Human Story explored
the events leading up to and following the historic
1967 Referendum in which Aboriginal people
and Torres Strait Islanders were recognised as
citizens of their own country. In conjunction with
the Centre for Public Culture and Ideas at Griffith
University, a one-day seminar, Murri Milestones
also marked this anniversary.
A room full of mineral cases thrilled intrepid
naturalists of all ages in the Minerals Gallery and a
group of Bundaberg artists examined the people,
objects and events that shaped a generation
in the ‘60s and ‘70s in Boom Baby Boom. The
2005 Wildlife Photographer of the Year exhibition
showcased 86 spectacular images from one
of the world’s most prestigious photography
competitions.

• Implement improved systems for retail opportunities and develop
eCommerce facilities.
• Maintain and build on partnerships in marketing and programming to
work towards the Cultural Centre being a prestigious, in demand tourist
and local destination.

THE WORKSHOPS RAIL MUSEUM
The Workshops Rail Museum continued to gain recognition and popularity
as Australia’s premier rail museum. Attendance grew for the fifth consecutive
year with a total of 85,079 visitors, 13.4% above target and a 3% increase
on last year. Annual Pass membership also continued to grow reaching an
all time high of more than 6300 members.
Innovative public programs and several new events continued to attract
visitation. The 2006 Workers Reunion and Ipswich Open Day, supported
by Ipswich City Council, attracted a crowd of 4756 visitors. The new
Circus Train event, focusing on the important role rail played in transporting
the circus to towns and cities was delivered in the winter 2006 school
holidays and attracted 5688 visitors. The third Ipswich Model Railway Show
showcased the world of miniature rail and was attended by more than 2280
visitors. Friends of Thomas, the Museum’s signature event for 3 to 8-yearolds again delighted a record number of 29,238 visitors, an increase of 11%
on last year.
The Workshops presented a major temporary exhibition, Great Railway
Journeys of Australia, focusing on Australia’s iconic rail lines and journeys.
A total of 25,412 visitors saw the exhibition at The Workshops. The exhibit
was also presented at the National Museum of Australia in Canberra, the
first exhibition from the Queensland Museum to do so. Financial assistance
was received from the Visions of Australia program for the development of
the exhibition and from Queensland Rail (QR) and Great Southern Railway
Limited for the touring.
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LANDS, MAPPING
AND SURVEYING MUSEUM

A partnership agreement was established with the California State Railroad
Museum in the USA following a visit by The Workshops Director, Andrew
Moritz, and Queensland Museum CEO, Dr Ian Galloway. The international
profile of The Workshops was further expanded when the Director
attended and spoke at the International Association of Transport Museums
Conference held at the National Railway Museum, York, UK, in June 2007.
The Workshops’ Visitor Experience Manager, Bernadette McCormack,
was named a Queensland–Smithsonian Fellow for 2007. Ms McCormack
undertook a four-month work placement at the Smithsonian’s National
Museum of American History in Washington, USA, to work on the
development and delivery of public programs.
On-going discussions were held between the Museum and QR concerning
the future development of the North Ipswich Railway Workshops site to
further the aims and objectives of both organisations in showcasing the
State’s rich rail heritage. As part of these discussions, a Queensland
Museum investigation into the redevelopment of the entrance, retail and
catering facilities was found unviable. The proposed expansion of the
Museum into areas currently occupied by QR continues to be discussed.
The Workshops continued to develop the State Collection of objects,
photographs, maps, plans and documents relating to the development and
impact of rail in Queensland since 1865. The Museum and QR continued to
co-present guided tours of the operational North Ipswich Railway Workshop,
which has a charter to restore and maintain Queensland’s Heritage Rail Fleet.
The Workshop’s importance as a tourist attraction was recognised with
finalist awards in the 2006 Queensland Tourism Award for Heritage and
Cultural Tourism and Significant Tourist Attraction. The Workshops was a
finalist in 2006 Bendigo Bank Ipswich Chamber of Commerce Business
Awards and was also awarded a special commendation in the Gallery and
Museum Achievement Awards for the Museum’s 60th anniversary of VP Day
(Victory in the Pacific) event.
Outlook for 2007–2008
• Continue the planning and development of the visitor experience for the
Powerhouse.

This joint initiative of the Department of Natural
Resources and Water and the Queensland
Museum collects and interprets significant
aspects of the surveying and mapping of
Queensland. This year the curator fielded
approximately 1800 inquires. The publication,
Surveying Queensland 1839–1945, based on
the collections and research work of the Museum
was launched.

WOODWORKS: THE FORESTRY
AND TIMBER MUSEUM
Woodworks: the Forestry and Timber Museum
is the oldest regional campus of the Queensland
Museum. Based in Gympie it is a joint
development with the Queensland Department
of Primary Industries and Fisheries and provides
an insight into the timber industry of yesteryear
through interactive displays and demonstrations.
This year the Museum attracted 3564 visitors.

REGIONAL SERVICES PROGRAM
The Queensland Museum delivers museum
services and learning opportunities to all
Queenslanders, irrespective of where they live in
the State. Key initiatives of the Regional Services
Program include the Queensland Museum
Resource Centre Network, Queensland Museum
Loans, the Museum Magnet Schools Project and
outreach science programs.
A key player in the Smart State strategy,
Queensland Museum continued to manage the
BioBus on behalf of the Department of State
Development and in partnership with Education
Queensland. The travelling biotechnology
education program commenced its third year
of operation visiting 32 schools throughout
Queensland with more than 15,000 students,
teachers and community members participating in
the program.

The business plan for Queensland Museum
• Redevelop the Great Railway Journeys of Australia exhibition for touring to Loans was implemented, resulting in a review of
all loan kits as well as distribution and operational
museums and galleries throughout Australia.
systems. All country loans kits were repackaged
• Continue to develop major events and activities (such as Friends of
to improve safety and ease of use by clients,
Thomas, Wizards and Witches Express and Circus Train) to grow visitor
while barcoding of all objects helped to streamline
numbers.
the borrowing process. Redevelopment of existing
• Build further support for the Museum through the ongoing development
kits began, in particular the updating of curriculum
of the Commissioners Club / Queensland Museum Foundation.
content. A number of new kits were developed
including These boots aren’t just for walkin’,
which explores history and stories through shoes,
and Indigenous kits that complement Dandiiri
Maiwar. This year, Loans processed 6400 loan
transactions, reaching an audience of more than
470,000 people from its base in Brisbane and
through its free country distribution system in 34
centres across the State.
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QUEENSLAND MUSEUM RESOURCE CENTRE NETWORK
The Museum Resource Centre Network (MRCN), operated in partnership
with Arts Queensland and local councils, provides support to community
museums, galleries, libraries and keeping places across the State.
Based in Cairns, Townsville, Mackay, Rockhampton, Noosa and
Toowoomba the MRCN centres are staffed by Museum Development
Officers (MDOs). The role of the MDOs is to identify significant collections
and assist community volunteers to preserve, interpret and display regional
collections for the benefit of local communities and visitors.
The MRCN continued contracts with Cairns, Mackay and Rockhampton
City Councils for Museum Development Officer programs, as well as service
level agreements and mutually beneficially relationships with 27 additional
organisations throughout Queensland. For the first time, a service level
contract was signed with an Aboriginal community. The MRCN will provide
collection advice and support to the Kowanyama Aboriginal Council in the
coming year.
In January 2007, a review of the delivery of the MRCN over the previous 3
years was completed. As the review demonstrated benefits in continuing with
MRCN, it is proposed that the partnership arrangement with Arts Queensland
be renewed and continue for a further three years from 1 July 2007 to 30 June
2010. A major focus of the new MRCN arrangement is on developing projects
showcasing significant collections held throughout the State.
A total of 236 thematic mapping surveys of cultural heritage collections
across Queensland were undertaken. Significance assessment workshops
have commenced in each of the six MDO regions with excellent response.
The MRCN is now widely acknowledged as an effective way to provide
professional support to regional and specialist museums and galleries
throughout the State. At least 130 shires benefited from MRCN services
during the year, including more than 12,000 staff and volunteers from
community museums, galleries, keeping places, libraries and other
collecting organisations.

TRAVELLING EXHIBITIONS
Queensland Museum produces travelling exhibitions that provide access to
collections through the specialist expertise of researchers and educators.
An analysis of the travelling exhibition program was conducted and
processes put in place to better identify Museum exhibitions available either
as a touring package, or for inter-campus loan only. This has resulted in
standardised procedures for inter-campus transfer of exhibitions.
The long-term viability of travelling exhibitions was explored. Kids Time —
A Century of Learning through Play began touring with Museum and Gallery
Services Queensland. This partnership will be reviewed and a decision
about the Museum’s travelling exhibitions will be made at the end of 2008.
Kids Time has been displayed at the Cooroy Butter Factory, Gladstone
Regional Art Gallery and Museum, and the Australian Workers Heritage
Centre in Barcaldine.

The Sharing Their Legacy exhibition was featured
at the Queensland Air Museum in Caloundra
and at the Pittsworth Historical Society on the
Darling Downs. The Tune, Tone and Tempo:
Instruments of the World exhibition, developed
by Queensland Museum South Bank, travelled to
Cobb+Co Museum and the Museum of Tropical
Queensland. Ellis Rowan: a Flower-Hunter in
Queensland was also displayed at Cobb+Co
Museum.
The Workshops Rail Museum’s Great Railway
Journeys of Australia exhibition, featuring more
than 70 Queensland Museum objects and 68
from other organisations and private collections,
was displayed at the National Museum of
Australia in Canberra. Negotiations are underway
for the exhibition to undertake a national tour.
The Workshops’ Life on the Line photographic
exhibition was developed as a travelling exhibition
with touring dates in Queensland centres
confirmed for next year.
Outlook for 2007–2008
• Continue the significance assessments of the
State’s cultural heritage collections held in
community museums.
• Develop demonstration projects for significant
cultural heritage collections.
• Develop partnerships with local government
and other regional organisations to develop the
MRCN throughout the State.
• Complete Strategic Plan for Loans 2006–2010.
• Complete redevelopment of the Loans
database and website.
• Implement a maintenance plan for Loans
artefacts and specimens.
• Streamline Country Loans distribution service.
• Implement a marketing plan to increase the
number of organisations accessing the Loans
Service.
• In partnership with the Department of State
Development and Education Queensland,
manage the BioBus until December 2007 and
decide on the future of the BioBus.
• Support Museum and Gallery Services
Queensland to travel and promote Kids Time.
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Respecting Aboriginal
and Torres Strait
Islander Cultures

3.0 RESPECTING ABORIGINAL AND
TORRES STRAIT ISLAND CULTURES
The Queensland Museum respects the
great contribution of Aboriginal people
and Torres Strait Islanders to the cultural
enrichment of Australia. Through public
programs, exhibitions and partnerships,
the Museum affirms and promotes
understanding of their cultures in the wider
community.
The Museum recognises the expertise and
connection of Aboriginal people and Torres
Strait Islanders to their cultural heritage
items held in the State Collection, actively
facilitating the repatriation of objects and
ensuring access.
RECONCILIATION
Queensland Museum involves communities in
the widest range of activities and facilitates efforts
for better recognition and understanding. The
Queensland Museum Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander Consultative Committee (QMATSICC)
continued to play an important advisory role in
activities of the Museum.

REPATRIATION
Queensland Museum continued its
comprehensive program of returning Ancestral
Remains, Burial Goods and Secret Scared
Objects to the relevant Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander communities.
Crucial Commonwealth funding for the Museum’s
Return of Indigenous Cultural Property Program
was extended until December 2007 and Round
4 funding has been approved. The high priority
repatriation project is delivered in consultation
with the Queensland Museum Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander Consultative Committee
(QMATSICC) and has achieved an international
reputation for its success.
During the year, 26 Ancestral Remains and Secret
Sacred Objects were de-accessioned and held
for the communities by the Museum. Three
Ancestral Remains were returned to communities.
Twelve traditional owner groups from southern and
central Queensland came together for a repatriation
seminar in April that resulted in 44 repatriation
requests. Most of these requests are pending and
should be returned by the end of 2007.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities
and QMATSICC continued to be actively involved
The Queensland Museum has a strong
commitment to reconciliation. Its guiding principles in exhibitions and public programs relating to
Indigenous culture and experiences.
include:
• adherence to protocols;
• ensuring access to collections particularly by
Aboriginal people and Torres Strait Islanders;
• acknowledging Indigenous cultural ownership
of, and expertise in, the knowledge of their
heritage;
• committing to the generation of new knowledge;
• preservation of old knowledge for the joint
benefit of Indigenous communities and the
Museum;
• sharing the responsibility of protecting and
caring for Indigenous cultural heritage, particularly
in relation to the repatriation of ancestral remains
and secret sacred objects.
The Museum is reviewing cultural protocols in line
with the new Museums Australia policy guidelines
in the Taking the Time resource guide.

A project plan for the ongoing development of
Dandiiri Maiwar has been determined and full
implementation will begin next year. The first stage
of an expanded Dandiiri Maiwar site went live on
the Queensland Museum South Bank website
in December 2006. An Indigenous Education
Officer was seconded to the Public Programs
section of Queensland Museum South Bank,
developing and implementing curriculum-based
programs that include web-based resources and
professional development for teachers.
A review of the Binangar Centre at Cobb+Co
Museum began in February 2007, with support
from the Cultures and Histories Program and
the local Aboriginal community. Redevelopment
planning of the centre is underway with a
renewed exhibition focus on sustainability and
environmental aspects, which are a key part of
contemporary Aboriginal culture.
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weaving during
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Up! holiday
program

A new range of Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander loan kits was produced for Queensland
Museum Loans. The Aboriginal loan kits focus
on the themes of Land, Language and Lore.
Since their launch in July this year, they have
been borrowed 31 times, reaching an audience
of 1354 people. Artefacts held in the Queensland
Museum Loans collection were used to develop
educational resources about Torres Strait Islander
cultures for primary and middle school students.
Three kits focus on the themes of Bipo Taim,
Ailan Kastom and Torres Strait Islander Resilience
and are linked to Education Queensland SOSE,
Science and Technology curricula. Since their
launch in July they have been borrowed 55 times,
reaching an audience of 1154 people.

ABORIGINAL AND TORRES STRAIT
ISLANDER PUBLIC PROGRAMS
Queensland Museum Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander public programs are developed
in accordance with cultural protocols and with
community consultation. Although no formal plan
has been finalised to coordinate the delivery of
public programs, informal processes are wellestablished. Regular discussions occur between
public programs staff, the Manager Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander Community Relations and
other Cultures and Histories staff, who also liaise
with QMATSICC and community.
Queensland Museum South Bank conducted the
Kids Meet Up! holiday program providing creative
art and culture workshops in weaving, painting,
storytelling and dancing.
A significant public forum, Murri Milestones:
Remembering the 1967 Referendum and other
significant anniversaries, was held in conjunction
with Griffith University and attracted more than 80
people.
The Museum of Tropical Queensland presented a
series of didgeridoo workshops during the Tune,
Tone and Tempo holiday program, while Scott
Anderson (General Manager of the Townsville
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Cultural
Centre) delivered a public talk in celebration of
NAIDOC Week.
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EMPLOYMENT AND CAREER DEVELOPMENT
Work continued on the development of an employment and career
development strategy for Aboriginal people and Torres Strait Islanders at the
Museum as prescribed in the 2005–2007 Equal Employment Opportunity
Management Plan. The strategy will be finalised and implemented during
2007–2008.
One Indigenous trainee was employed during the year under the
Government’s Breaking the Unemployment Cycle initiative.
This year cross-cultural awareness training was conducted at Queensland
Museum South Bank for 45 staff members. The Indigenous Education
Officer also conducted training for Queensland Museum South Bank public
programs staff.

ABORIGINAL AND TORRES STRAIT ISLANDER COLLECTIONS

PARTNERSHIPS

Access to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander collections continued to be a
Museum priority. The appointment of a Manager, Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander Community Relations, and regular community engagement helped
to promote the Museum’s open collection policy and support increased
access for Indigenous people. More than 150 people from Queensland
and other parts of Australia visited the collection. A temporary exhibition on
fishhooks made by Aboriginal Australians was featured in the Inquiry Centre,
further increasing access to the collection.

Queensland Museum has an absolute
commitment to involving Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander communities in relevant activities,
decisions and processes across the network.

Strong, long-term and mutually respectful partnerships have been
developed between the Queensland Museum and Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander communities ensuring a high standard of collection care at the
Museum and in keeping places throughout the State. This year a service
level contract was signed with Kowanyama Aboriginal Council to provide
support for the community’s collection.
The reorganisation of collections on the basis of community/regional areas
within typology groups was investigated. Planning is underway to implement
this change in collection storage and management practices.

To assist the ongoing development of Indigenous
programs throughout the Museum, a number of
partnerships have been developed. Staff were
involved with:
• NAIDOC Steering Committee;
• Arts Queensland;
• Craft Queensland;
• National Archaeology Week Committee;
• Griffith University;
• University of Queensland.
The Queensland Museum and the Centre for
Public Culture and Ideas at Griffith University,
cooperatively presented the Murri Milestones
forum. The Indigenous Education Officer
developed new networks with local Indigenous
communities as a matter of protocol and to inform
them of the experiences available at Queensland
Museum South Bank. Communities were also
invited to be part of future Museum programs
and activities. A partnership with Dare to Lead,
a Principal’s Association network dedicated to
improving outcomes for Indigenous students, was
also initiated.
Outlook for 2007–2008
• Develop a Queensland Museum statement of
reconciliation.
• Continue to progress the repatriation of
ancestral remains and secret sacred objects in
the Queensland Museum collection.
• Investigate an Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander employment and career development
strategy.
• Implement cross-cultural awareness training.
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Developing Diverse
Audiences

4.1 UNDERSTANDING AND ALIGNING
WITH OUR AUDIENCE
As an audience-focused organisation,
the Queensland Museum is committed to
continually researching and responding to
the varied and changing needs of its users,
as well as identifying new audiences.
UNDERSTANDING THE AUDIENCE
All campuses incorporated the results from
Queensland Museum-wide audience research
in operational plans for 2007–2008. Research
conducted at each campus identified a
number of issues and recommendations about
communicating to target audiences have been
implemented.

Attendance at The Workshops Rail Museum’s
signature event for 3 to 8-year-olds, Friends of
Thomas, grew for the fourth consecutive year
and reached an all time high of 29,238. This was
complemented by the continued popularity of
the Nippers Play and Learn Program which ran
throughout the year. Attendance by schools has
stabilised in 2006–2007 at 4849 following the
introduction of free admission the previous year.
The Museum of Tropical Queensland’s focus
on children’s programs resulted in increased
participation from this target group. A marketing
plan to encourage the elderly and retired to visit
was successfully launched in March 2007. The
Museum continued to develop marketing and
public program strategies to connect with nontraditional visitors.

Audience research is sourced or commissioned
before any major project is implemented. At
the Museum of Tropical Queensland, research
canvassing the tourist and education market,
as well as an evaluation of local council
partnerships helped to develop an updated
marketing plan. Extensive audience research
was also commissioned to inform the proposed
development of the Bug Safari display. The
Queensland Museum South Bank Exhibition
Development Plan has been informed by
substantial market research. Cobb+Co Museum
used audience research from the Heritage Trades
Festival to expand their workshops and schedule
a new series in silversmithing and leadlighting.

Cobb+Co Museum’s Harmony Day exhibition,
entitled Our Journey, was developed with
assistance from local refugees. It was designed
to encourage visits by a broad range of nontraditional visitor groups, especially people who
are newly arrived in Australia.

TARGET AUDIENCES

• Between the Flags: 100 Years of Surf Lifesaving
targeted at sports enthusiasts.

The results from Museum-wide audience research
and regular campus-based visitor surveys help
to define target audiences and drive campus
marketing, public programs and exhibition
development plans.
Queensland Museum South Bank experienced a
participation increase of 77% in early childhood
student programs, although there was a decrease
in primary and secondary students attributed to
the lack of blockbuster exhibitions this year. All
front of house staff at QMSB received training
sessions on exhibition content, customer
communication and how to modify messages and
presentations for different audience groups.

A number of exhibitions and programs connected
with non-traditional markets were shown at
Queensland Museum South Bank including:
• The Ashes exhibition which attracted increased
numbers of male visitors;
• The Boom Baby Boom exhibition for baby
boomers and seniors;

QMSB also hosted a number of Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander public programs including
Kids Meet Up!, Murri Milestones and Dandiiri
Maiwar student programs. These resulted in an
increase in Indigenous visitors to the campus.
The Journey of Understanding loan kits
documenting refugee stories were completed.
A project has begun on web-based stories from
the kit following funding from the Multicultural
Assistance Program.
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4.2 VISITOR EXPERIENCE

VISITOR SERVICES

The Queensland Museum creates stimulating and enjoyable
learning experiences for visitors through a diverse and changing
program of exhibitions and public programs complemented by
customer-focused staff. The Museum is committed to improving
the visitor experience and recognises that audience needs are
varied and changing.

Queensland Museum campuses maintained
their focus on providing quality customer service
with the review and development of policies
and procedures, regular staff and volunteer
training and new strategies aimed at continuous
improvement.

PUBLIC PROGRAMS
A program of innovative and educational public programs and exhibitions
based on collections, research and priority themes was developed and
implemented throughout the Museum.
From hands-on workshops for young children to scholarly talks and
professional development for teachers, campus public program plans reflect
lifelong learning principles and strive to engage and inspire visitors. Annual
external environmental scans ensure new programs and exhibitions are
relevant and based on sound research.
This year at Queensland Museum South Bank, visitors enjoyed 16
temporary exhibitions including The Ashes, Boom Baby Boom, Wildlife
Photographer of the Year, Icons of Queensland and Between the Flags: 100
Years of Surf Lifesaving. QMSB staff also developed a number of exhibitions
and displays for other campuses including the Megafauna exhibition at
Cobb+Co Museum. Public program highlights included Kids Meet Up! and
Animal Antics holiday shows, Sound ‘n’ Things early childhood workshop
and National Science week activities.
Major public programs and events continued to attract visitors to The
Workshops Rail Museum. Highlights included Friends of Thomas and Circus
Train events, the Ipswich Model Railway Show and the annual Workers Reunion.
Great Railway Journeys of Australia was the Museum’s first major temporary
exhibition designed to travel and it was exhibited at The Workshops during the
year, as was the photographic exhibition, Life on the Line.
Cobb+Co Museum highlights during the year included the Heritage Trades
Festival and regular trade workshops, a monthly object-based learning
program for 2 to 5-year-olds, a varied lecture series and a Megafauna Fun
Day to coincide with the opening of the special exhibition. Other exhibitions
on show included Tune, Tone and Tempo, Ellis Rowan: a Flower-Hunter in
Queensland and the Harmony Day exhibition, Our Journey.
At the Museum of Tropical Queensland a number of new interactive school
holiday programs were developed focusing on exhibitions and unique
museum collections including, Vanishing Wildlife, Creepy Crawlies Alive!,
Tune, Tone and Tempo and Dino Mania. Temporary exhibits during the year
included Clash of Cultures and Ned Kelly: Fact and Fiction.
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Queensland Museum South Bank conducted
two customer service workshops for volunteers.
A new customer service training program for
Visitor Services Officers was assessed and will
be implemented next year. Visitor services staff at
The Workshops Rail Museum were given regular
briefings and training in relation to new events
and programs. First aid, customer service and
emergency procedure training was undertaken at
The Workshops.
Museum of Tropical Queensland staff utilised skills
from last year’s comprehensive training program
to enhance visitor service. At Cobb+Co Museum
regular customer service training sessions were
conducted for front-of-house staff and volunteers.

MEMBERSHIP
Annual pass membership levels at The Workshops Rail Museum reached a
new high with 6379 members. This was a 32% increase on the previous year.
Retention rates also peaked with 38% renewing their membership.
This year marks the third and final year of the Community Cultural Card
agreement contract between Cobb+Co Museum and Toowoomba City
Council with 25,499 visitors taking advantage of free entry. A proposal to
continue the agreement was submitted to Council in June 2007.
Mollymook
Nippers, New
South Wales,
2006 from
Between the
Flags: 100
Years of Surf
Lifesaving.
Photo: D
McNicoll,
National
Museum of
Australia

The Museum of Tropical Queensland continued the Council Community
Pass Program in partnership with Townsville, Thuringowa, Burdekin, Charters
Towers and Dalrymple Councils. The free entry attracted more than 53,000
local visitors to MTQ, an increase of 3978 local visitors on the previous year.
Due to community interest, MTQ implemented a new annual pass program
for locals, who do not live in council areas that provide free entry. Eighteen
passes have been sold in the two months since the program has been
implemented.
Queensland Museum South Bank introduced the Mindbender Pass for the
Sciencentre in September 2006 with 869 people becoming annual pass holders.

Outlook for 2007–2008
• Continue to implement the results of the audience research program that
identified target audiences and review visitor groups to each campus.
• Maintain a diverse and changing program of exhibitions and activities
throughout the Queensland Museum network that is educational and
entertaining and meets the need and expectations of the visitor.
• Undertake a web usage survey to better target Queensland Museum
online resources.
• Continue to implement policies, strategies, programs and procedures
for the provision of continuous improvement in quality customer services
across the Queensland Museum network.
• Ensure all public programs align with Queensland Museum research and
collection strengths and priorities.
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blacksmithing
workshop keep
heritage trades
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Lifelong Learning

5.0 LIFELONG LEARNING

FORMAL LEARNING

The Queensland Museum actively fosters a
culture of lifelong learning. The Museum’s
unique knowledge, collections and facilities
engage a diverse audience, including
staff, in free choice and formal learning
opportunities relevant to their life stage.

The Queensland Museum actively engages
education professionals in the use and
development of museum content as curriculum
resources, teacher professional development and
a variety of educational tools.

LIFELONG LEARNING
The Lifelong Learning Discussion Paper and
Operational Plan 2006–2008 was approved in
July 2006. A working group consisting of campus
public programs managers, education staff,
teachers-in-residence and loans staff was formed
to commence implementation. This included a
review of the most effective learning programs
on offer across the Museum and input on
constructivist learning principles.
The biannual review of the Lifelong Learning
Operational Plan was completed in February
2007 with evidence of lifelong learning practices
integrated into everyday campus and program
management. With support from the Australian
Museum and the University of Queensland, staff
attention will now focus on evaluating visitor
learning experiences.

Five seconded teachers from Education
Queensland worked at the Museum during
the year on a variety of programs including the
BioBus, Magnet Schools Project, Loans projects
and the continuing development of Dandiiri
Maiwar. Negotiations are underway to secure this
agreement until 2011.
Two of the teachers-in-residence worked
specifically on the development of curriculumbased learning resources. Projects undertaken by
these teachers during the year include:
• Disease Detective — an interactive website
based on Museum oyster research;
• Mangrove Challenge — a web project based on
Museum research on the Water Mouse;
• Biotech Building Blocks — loan kits of laboratory
equipment and chemicals, which will be used by
schools following a visit by the BioBus;
• These boots aren’t just for walkin’ — loan kits
exploring history and stories through shoes;
• Journey of Understanding — a web project
that includes the Museum’s first digital stories
thanks to funding received from the Multicultural
Assistance Program through the Department of
Environment and Multiculturalism;
• Indigenous loan kits — which complement the
three themes in Dandiiri Maiwar.
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Professional development programs and familiarisations of exhibitions for
primary and secondary teachers were provided at all campuses. More
than 760 classroom teachers have undertaken professional development
sessions delivered by the teachers-in-residence and BioBus staff.
Queensland Museum South Bank hosted professional development for 239
teachers as well as a successful program for pre-service teachers currently
studying at university. South Bank staff were also involved in Education
Queensland forums and took two prac student placements during the year.
The Museum of Tropical Queensland conducted programs for 35 teachers with
a focus on exhibitions and iconic collection items. Eight schools participated
in Cobb+Co Museum’s program of school staff visits for teachers in the
Toowoomba region. The Workshops Rail Museum conducted two professional
development sessions for teachers during the year.
Ongoing updates continued on web-based education resources. New
sections included curriculum-focused learning materials for exhibitions

including Dandiiri Maiwar, Museum Zoo and Icons of Queensland, updated
Inquiry Centre fact sheets and holiday event activities.

professional development including attendance at
major industry or professional conferences.

This year saw an increase in the number of postgraduate and postdoctoral
students working at Queensland Museum campuses. Staff crossappointments with universities also increased during the year with teaching
conducted at the University of Queensland, Griffith University and James
Cook University.

Two Queensland Museum South Bank frontof-house staff completed a Diploma in Front
Line Management and produced a professional
development program for front-of-house staff
and volunteers. This was made available to other
campuses. Two lifelong learning in-services for
public programs and learning staff were held to
assist in delivering effective and relevant learning
programs, as well as consistent evaluation of
learning outcomes across the Museum. The
Queensland Museum Scholarship continued to be
offered to staff as a valuable learning opportunity.

STAFF TRAINING
The Museum remained committed to building the capability and capacity
of staff and volunteers to meet the needs of the organisation now and in
the future. A Professional Development Committee of senior managers
assessed and approved proposals for staff training and attendance at
conferences and other professional development programs. Throughout the
year, staff undertook a variety of training to meet operational requirements
including first aid, computer training and material handling training, as well as
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Outlook for 2007–2008
• Develop new curriculum based on-line learning materials for all
Queensland Museum programs.
• Continue to manage the teacher-in-residence program across
Queensland Museum.
• Implement a strategic approach to lifelong learning within all Queensland
Museum programs and continually evaluate its effectiveness.
• Implement a strategic development and training plan for staff.
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Hundreds of
thousands of
invertebrates
have been
collected as
part of the
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project

Taking Queensland
to the World

6.0 TAKING QUEENSLAND
TO THE WORLD
The Queensland Museum participates
in international research partnerships,
especially those with a focus on the cultural
and biological diversity of the Asia–Pacific
region. The Museum also contributes to
the cultural tourism industry with unique
exhibitions and services appealing to
international visitors.
RESEARCH/COLLECTION PROGRAMS IN
THE ASIA–PACIFIC AREA
Queensland Museum researchers have a
strong presence in the Asia-Pacific region. The
Biodiversity and Geosciences Program has
collaborated with international agencies on marine
and terrestrial research and collecting in the
Solomon Islands, Papua New Guinea, Vanuatu,
New Caledonia, Fiji and further afield in the
Maldives, Seychelles and India.
The Cultures and Histories Program commenced
curatorial validation of 930 Pacific artefacts from
the former James Cook University Anthropology
Museum. Curatorial investigation has also begun
on 132 artefacts in the Queensland Museum
collection assembled during an 1885 Royal
Geographical Society of Australasia expedition
to the Fly River in Papua New Guinea.

INTERNATIONAL PARTNERSHIPS
Queensland Museum took the lead role in providing
valuable collection management support to the
Solomon Islands National Museum. Over a threeweek period, Museum staff trained their Solomon
Island peers in new ways to record and catalogue
the collection and assisted with the backlog of items
yet to be documented. The work in the Solomon
Islands was part of the International Council of
Museum’s Australia Museum Partnerships Program
that encourages Australian museums to partner an
Asia-Pacific museum and respond to urgent cultural
heritage needs.

The Australian Research Council application for
the QPACifika project, a proposed collaboration
between the Museum, Queensland Performing
Arts Centre and Griffith University Queensland
College of Art was unsuccessful.
The Queensland Museum continued to manage
the Museum Magnet Schools project. The
seven-year collaboration between the Museum,
Education Queensland and the Smithsonian
Institution develops curriculum-based learning
resources and delivers professional development
opportunities across the State. During the year
the Magnet Schools Coordinator provided
21 professional development workshops to
encourage the use of science and technology
resources in the classroom. New loan kits on
the theme Sustainable Living in the early 20th
Century, were developed as well as a complete
re-write and upgrade of the web learning
resources for Kids Time: A Century of Learning
through Play exhibition.
The Biodiversity Program continued to work on
the unique Biodiversity at the Heights project with
the Smithsonian Institution and Griffith University,
to study terrestrial invertebrate biodiversity along
an altitudinal transect in Lamington National Park.
Results will contribute to our understanding of
how animals and plants adapt to climate change
through changes in their altitudinal distribution.
The Museum took part in three expeditions this
year, taking the lead role in collection protocols,
specimen acquisition and databasing of the
collection.
The Workshops Rail Museum signed a
Memorandum of Understanding with the California
State Railroad Museum. Future collaborations
may include exchange of staff and research
fellowships, as well as the development and
delivery of exhibitions, learning materials and
public programs.
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INTERNATIONAL VISITORS
Queensland Museum campuses have a strong relationship with Tourism
Queensland and regional tourist associations as active partners in
promotional and marketing opportunities. The Museum continued to
conduct familiarisations for members of the tourism industry as well as
national and international journalists.
This year Queensland Museum South Bank hosted more than
10 international media visits. A familiarisation for concierges of major hotels
in conjunction with the tourist publication, iONBrisbane, attracted more than
40 people. A tourism industry familiarisation was also conducted before
the opening of the Museum Zoo exhibition. Tourism Queensland, Brisbane
Marketing, Brisbane Convention and Exhibition Centre and South Bank
Corporation hold QMSB images and are able to access photo stock for
use at any time. QMSB also maintains a program of ongoing exposure in
publications targeted at international tourists.

The Workshops Rail Museum hosted three industry familiarisations and
attracted a total of 1023 overseas visitors during the year.
The Museum of Tropical Queensland actively hosts tourism industry
familiarisations each month, providing free-of-charge entry and guided tours
for visiting wholesalers, travel agents and journalists. This year,
4313 international visitors were welcomed at MTQ.
Cobb+Co Museum, in partnership with the Toowoomba and Golden West
Regional Tourist Association, conducted four familiarisation tours this year
and attracted 3529 international visitors.

A Memorandum of
Understanding signed by
the California State Railroad
Museum’s Catherine Taylor
and CEO of the Queensland
Museum, Dr Ian Galloway,
encourages collaboration with
The Workshops Rail Museum

Outlook for 2007–2008
• Continue a broad range of collaborative
projects with international institutions in the
Asia-Pacific region that contribute to the
achievement of Queensland Museum’s
mission including maintenance of the
Biodiversity and Geosciences research
programs.
• In partnership with the International Council
of Museums, provide training and support for
staff programs in the Solomon Islands National
Museum.
• Progress planning for the development of a
museum venue of international standing in
Brisbane.
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Management

MANAGEMENT

DEVELOPING CORPORATE CAPABILITY

The commitment of Government, Board
and staff to Queensland Museum’s
Strategic Plan is critical to the Museum’s
long-term performance. To sustain this,
the Queensland Museum has created an
empowering management environment that
actively communicates the Museum’s longterm vision and provides resources and
support for identified strategic priorities.

Middle management professional development opportunities were
progressed during the year including the trial appointment of two Biodiversity
Program middle managers to administer Marine and Terrestrial staff and
provide a career pathway for senior scientists.

COMMUNICATION
Queensland Museum’s long-term strategic
direction is actively communicated to internal
stakeholders through a variety of mediums. All
campuses and programs hold regular, face-toface staff meetings and presentations to ensure
timely communication, discussion of emerging
issues and efficient, two-way flow of management
information. This information is facilitated through
a regular staff newsletter that also highlights
research projects, events and achievements.
Minutes of meetings and the staff newsletter are
placed on the Intranet.
This year a staff survey was conducted to
measure organisational health as well as
staff awareness of and commitment to the
Museum’s Strategic Plan. Survey results will be
compared with previous findings to help drive
communication strategies and enable senior
managers to shape future actions and changes.

PROJECT MANAGEMENT
As in previous years, a project management
system was implemented to cover all major
Museum projects and developments including
the Museum of Tropical Queensland’s Enchanted
Rainforest exhibition, Bug Safari project,the
National Carriage Factory project and collection
management.

Personal Performance Planning (PPP) is conducted across the Museum.
A new PPP system is under development for implementation in 2007–2008.
The Professional Development Committee identified office systems training and
middle management training as priorities and undertook to provide training up to
intermediate level for all staff that utilise office systems in their work. Sixteen staff
attended professional conferences and 168 staff participated in further training
opportunities across a diverse range of areas. Development of a strategic
training and professional development plan has begun.
The Queensland Museum scholarship again provided professional
development opportunities for a staff member to work in another institution.
The grant was increased to $7000 this year.

BUSINESS SYSTEMS
The Intranet is used as the major medium for access to corporate
information, policies, procedures and forms. This year, a redevelopment of
the Intranet including revised navigation and uploading procedures began,
as well as an ongoing review of the currency and comprehensiveness of
documents available. A web services catalogue was developed detailing
procedures and turn-around time for the upload of all new and revised
strategic and procedural documentation.

STRATEGIC DIRECTION
A collaborative strategic planning process involving the Queensland
Museum Board, senior management and middle management continued to
drive the review and development of the Museum’s Strategic Plan. Campus
and program operational plans are developed through staff consultation
and align with the Queensland Museum’s strategic priorities to ensure key
outcomes are achieved.
The Museum’s Strategic Plan, Operational Plan, Capital Investment Strategic
Plan and Information and Communication Strategic Plan were received and
approved by the Minister.

GOVERNANCE
An Occupational Health and Safety Manager was appointed to oversee the
review of the Queensland Museum’s Risk Management Plan. The Manager
is working towards implementation of an Occupational Health and Safety
Management System by December 2007.
External safety audits have been conducted at Cobb+Co Museum,
the Museum of Tropical Queensland, The Workshops Rail Museum,
Queensland Museum South Bank and Hendra. Implementation of audit
recommendations is being completed by Campus Directors. Workplace
Health and Safety Officer training was conducted during the year.
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A security audit was undertaken at Queensland Museum South Bank and a
disaster preparedness audit and draft plan developed.
A Corporate Governance Manual has been developed to ensure the Museum
continues to adhere to governance obligations. Queensland Museum regularly
reviews its corporate governance documents including risk management,
records management, policies and procedures.
Equal Opportunity in Public Employment
As a small agency, Queensland Museum was not required to lodge a
statement of Equal Opportunity in Public Employment Act for 2006–2007.
The measures in the 2005–2007 EEO Management Plan were all achieved,
with the exception of advertising through ethnic/multicultural networks for
specific front-of-house visitor services roles.
Whistleblowers Protection Act 1994
No disclosures were received or substantially verified under this legislation
during the period 1 July 2006 to 30 June 2007.
Public Sector Ethics Act 1994
Copies of the Queensland Museum Code of Conduct and the Board of
the Queensland Museum Code of Conduct were available for the public
on the Museum website. New Museum staff were provided with training on
the operation of the Act, the application of ethics principles and obligations
to public officials, the contents of the Museum’s Code of Conduct, and
the rights and obligations of staff in relation to contraventions of the Code.
Queensland Museum administrative procedures and management practices
are conducted with proper regard to this Act, the ethics obligations of public
officials, and the Museum’s approved Code of Conduct.
Record Keeping
The Queensland Museum supports and practices the creation and capture of
records that effectively supplement and in many cases form a significant part
of the State’s natural history and cultural heritage collections. Under the Public
Records Act 2002, the Queensland Museum is required to make and keep full
and accurate records of its activities having regard to record keeping policies,
standards and guidelines issued by the Queensland State Archivist.
The Corporate Administration Agency was engaged during the year to
undertake a review of record-keeping policies, procedures and compliance
issues. The report has been received and is currently under consideration.
A commitment by management towards enhanced business outcomes,
underpinned by improved record keeping practices, are key priorities for the
coming year.
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Outlook for 2007–2008
• Maintain clear communications of the long
term direction of the Queensland Museum to
all stakeholders.
• Implement communications strategies
that maintain an effective two-way flow of
management information/issues within the
Queensland Museum network.
• Continue to apply principles of project
management to all major Queensland Museum
projects.
• Implement a mentoring system to continue the
professional development of middle managers
and maintain a Personal Performance Planning
system for all staff.
• Continue to provide staff with professional
development opportunities.
• Continue to implement systems that support
the business and governance requirements of
Queensland Museum.
• Continue to develop and promote the Intranet
as a major medium to provide access to
corporate information and policies, procedures
and forms.
• Maintain a collaborative strategic planning
process that ensures alignment between
program and campus plans and the
Queensland Museum Strategic Plan.
• Implement recommendations of the
occupational health and safety audits to
maintain a safe and healthy workplace at all
Museum premises.
• Review the Queensland Museum’s risk
management plan to ensure that all key risks,
statutory obligations and government directives
and regulations, which impact on the operation
of the Museum, are identified.

Resources
and Sustainability

RESOURCES AND SUSTAINABILITY

PARTNERSHIPS

The Queensland Museum has developed
a strong business orientation that attracts
revenue and optimises resources. As well
as forging strategic partnerships with other
organisations, the Museum continues to
galvanise Government support.

A number of partnerships were established with universities and other
research organisations to enhance the work of the Museum.

GALVANISING GOVERNMENT SUPPORT
The Queensland Museum galvanises Government
support and promotes its business and future
planning through regular contact and event-based
networking opportunities with local, State and
Federal members.
Regular briefings with Queensland Treasury and
Arts Queensland officers occur where relevant,
while meetings are held quarterly with the Chief
Scientist via the Queensland Research and
Development Interagency Liaison Group.
During the year, the Hon. Rod Welford, MP, Minister
for Education and Training and Minister for the Arts,
officiated at seven Queensland Museum events.
The Hon. Margaret Keech, MP, Minister
for Tourism, Fair Trading and Wine Industry
Development, opened the Great Railway Journeys
of Australia exhibition at The Workshops Rail
Museum.
This year, the Museum initiated a more active
program of lobbying for increased funding
support. The Workshops Rail Museum received
funding from all tiers of government including a
Federal commitment, via the Visions of Australia
program, for the Great Railway Journeys of
Australia exhibition.

In the Biodiversity and Geosciences Program, 62 active partners and
collaborators were initiated or maintained including cross-appointments with
the University of Queensland, James Cook University and Griffith University.
In conjunction with James Cook University, a Senior Curator in Biodiversity
will be based at the Museum of Tropical Queensland focusing on marine
invertebrates.
The Cultures and Histories Program worked with Griffith University to
present the Murri Milestones forum and has partnered with the University
of Queensland and the University of New England on significant research
projects. The Queensland Connections series of talks was conducted
in partnership with the Environmental Protection Agency. Collaboration
continues with Bond University.

BUSINESS PLANNING
The Queensland Museum applies a business planning approach across
all programs, operations and major projects to ensure compliance,
sustainability and best practice. A number of systems were developed to
enhance business planning capability including a Corporate Governance
Manual, safety management policy, implementation of the Vernon collection
management system and a risk management plan.

FOUNDATION FUNDRAISING
Now in its fourth year, the Queensland Museum Foundation is active
at all major campuses of the Queensland Museum and offers various
membership schemes and benefits to reflect this. The following membership
programs are currently offered:
• The Tropical Club for Museum of Tropical Queensland supporters;
• The Commissioners Club for The Workshop Rail Museum supporters;
• Queensland Museum Foundation membership for non-specific support.
The Foundation is also in the midst of a major fundraising initiative, The
National Carriage Factory Campaign, raising funds for Cobb+Co Museum
expansion. This offers specific membership and benefits.
During 2006–2007, the Foundation has succeeded in securing the following
major sponsorships and grants:
• Bendigo Bank, Icons of Queensland exhibition;
• Great Southern Railway, Great Railway Journeys of Australia exhibition tour;
• Heritage Building Society, National Carriage Factory Campaign;
• The Ian Potter Foundation, Archie’s Shipwreck Adventure exhibition;
• John T Reid Charitable Trusts, National Carriage Factory Campaign;
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• QNI, Enchanted Rainforest exhibition;
• Queensland Rail, Great Railway Journeys of
Australia exhibition tour;
• Clive and Conchita Armitage, National Carriage
Factory Campaign.
A number of new and innovative fundraising
projects were also undertaken this year including
the Name a Spider campaign and Sports Star Art
torso casting of professional sports people. Both
projects will continue through to next year.
As at 30 June 2007 more than $2 million had
been pledged towards The National Carriage
Factory Campaign.
Throughout 2006–2007 a total of $2,893,355
was raised and $4,882,733 has been raised by
the Foundation since its establishment in 2003.

RETAIL SALES
All Queensland Museum campuses have
specialist retail outlets that offer educational
products, publications and gifts relating to natural
history, social history and sustainability, as well as
products relating to special exhibitions, or iconic
themes such as rail or Cobb and Co.
Research was conducted into a new Museumwide retail system for implementation in
2007–2008. The system will focus on greater
efficiencies and added capabilities including
e-commerce, to further enhance operations
network-wide. Cooperation between retail
outlets has been further enhanced with the
transfer of merchandise between campuses,
bulk purchasing of products and some common
procedures implemented.
Queensland Museum South Bank, The
Workshops Rail Museum and the Museum of
Tropical Queensland outsource their cafeteria
services through lease arrangements or
management agreements. Cobb+Co Museum
manages its café in-house. The lease at the
QMSB cafeteria was advertised during the year
with a new contractor to commence from 1 July.
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STAFF RESOURCES
As in previous years, each vacant position was reviewed by the Senior
Management Team in terms of its importance to the Museum’s strategic
priorities and the relevance of the position description to current and
anticipated needs. A number of substantive vacancies were reallocated to
other priority areas of the Museum’s operations, including the appointment
of an Occupational Health and Safety Manager and a Human Resources
and Organisational Development Officer. An Assistant Curator, Torres Strait
and South Sea Islander, was appointed to facilitate succession in that area.
Trial appointments of two Biodiversity Program middle managers were
implemented to administer Marine and Terrestrial staff, providing a career
path for senior scientists.

PHYSICAL INFRASTRUCTURE

Outlook for 2007–2008

Facility maintenance and development plans in
line with the Museum’s strategic direction were
developed across the Museum to ensure a better
understanding of the requirements of each facility
over the next five years

• Continue to raise the Queensland Museum’s
profile with the Minister for Education and
Training and Minister for the Arts and promote
Museum activities with other members of State
Parliament and other departmental heads.

Development plans at Cobb+Co Museum for
the National Carriage Factory project are being
progressed. QBuild conducted a five-year
maintenance assessment review for the Museum
of Tropical Queensland.
Queensland Museum South Bank reached
agreement with the Corporate Administration
Agency for the provision and maintenance of a
detailed, five-year facilities maintenance plan. A
facility maintenance plan is being developed for
the Hendra site.
Ongoing discussions were held between The
Workshops Rail Museum and Queensland Rail
(QR) concerning the future development of the
North Ipswich Railway Workshops site. The
Workshops’ five year maintenance plan was
reviewed by QBuild.
The Information Management and Information
Technology program installed remote area
access to give staff access to the new collection
management system and Museum network. A
computer and peripherals replacement plan was
developed.

RESOURCES AND SUSTAINABILITY
Organisational and operational reviews were
conducted at Queensland Museum South
Bank to maximise alignment between strategic
priorities and the allocation of resources. Review
recommendations continue to be implemented in
priority order.

• Through the Queensland Museum Foundation,
provide effective links to corporate and funding
prospects for key priority projects.
• Continue to maximise and foster strategic
partnerships with local, State and Federal
governments.
• Identify and foster strategic partnerships that
can help further the aims of the Queensland
Museum.
• Undertake operational reviews of the Regional
Services and Biodiversity and Geosciences
Programs to continue to improve the efficiency
and effectiveness of the Museum’s business
units.
• Maintain business systems to facilitate
best practice analysis and decision-making
for commercial operations throughout the
Queensland Museum network.
• Commission asset maintenance plans for all
Queensland Museum facilities to better plan for
the maintenance or replacement of essential
infrastructure.
• Incorporate sustainable environmental
practices into plans for new or replacement
infrastructure.
• Undertake energy audits at all Queensland
Museum premises and establish guidelines to
reduce the Museum’s environmental impact.

A Green Team has been established at
Queensland Museum South Bank to look at ways
to reduce costs and impact on the environment.
Queensland Museum South Bank has joined the
South Bank Business Association’s Sustainability
Challenge and is benchmarking usage of
electricity, water and paper among other items.
The Environmental Protection Agency will review
this in 2007–2008 and advise on how to reduce
usage.
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Appendices

I. Functions and
Powers of the
Board

14 General powers
(1) For performing its functions, the board has
all the powers of an individual and may for
example—
(a) enter into arrangements, agreements, contracts
and deeds; and
(b) acquire, hold, deal with and dispose of property;
and
(c) engage consultants; and
(d) appoint agents and attorneys; and
(e) charge, and fix terms, for goods, services,
facilities and information supplied by it; and
(f) do anything else necessary or desirable to be
done in performing its functions.

QUEENSLAND MUSEUM ACT 1970
12 Functions of board

(2) Without limiting subsection (1), the board has
the powers given to it under this or another Act.

(1) The functions of the board shall be—

(3) The board may exercise its powers inside and
outside Queensland, including outside Australia.

(a) the control and management of the museum and of all natural history,
historical and technological collections, and other chattels and property
contained therein; and

(4) In this section—power includes legal capacity.

(b) the maintenance and administration of the museum in such manner as
will effectively minister to the needs and demands of the community in
any or all branches of the natural sciences, applied sciences, technology
and history, associated with the development of the museum as a
museum for science, the environment and human achievement, and to
this end shall undertake—
i. the storage of suitable items pertaining to the study of natural
sciences, applied sciences, technology and history, and exhibits and
other personal property; and

MEMBERS OF BOARD SUB–COMMITTEES
Queensland Museum Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander Consultative Committee
Chair
Mr T. Robinson (from February 07)
Dr R. Anderson, OAM (until October 06)

Secretary
Ms P. O’Connor, BA

ii. carrying out or promoting scientific and historical research; and

Members

iii. the provision of educational facilities through the display of selected
items, lectures, films, broadcasts, telecasts, publications and other
means; and

Ms J. Richardson
Ms I. Ryder
Mr C. Watson
Mr R. Williams

iv. the operation of workshops for the maintenance and repair of exhibits
and other things; and
v. any other action which in the opinion of the board is necessary or
desirable; and
(c) the control and management of all lands and premises vested in or
placed under the control of the board; and
(d) to perform the functions given to the board under another Act; and
(e) to perform functions that are incidental, complementary or helpful to, or
likely to enhance the effective and efficient performance of, the functions
mentioned in paragraphs (a) to (d); and
(f) to perform functions of the type to which paragraph (e) applies and which
are given to the board in writing by the Minister.
(2) In performing the functions mentioned in subsection (1)(b)(i) or (ii), the
board must have regard to the desirability of storing items, or carrying out
or promoting research, relevant to Queensland.
(3) Before giving a function for subsection (1)(f), the Minister must consult
with the board about the function.
(4) In performing its functions the board must have regard to the object of,
and guiding principles for, this Act.

Observers
Mr C. Jia
Mr T. Sebasio
Ms C. Wall

Ex-officio Members
Ms A.Jones, BDesSt
Dr I. Galloway, BSc (Hons), PhD, MAgSt
Dr J. Powell, BA (Hons), DipEd, PhD

Queensland Museum Audit and
Risk Management Committee
Chair
Ms A.Jones, BDesSt

Members
Mr R. Frazer, BBus, CA
Mr L. Hayes, BAppSc (Maths), (From February 2007)
Ms C. Mason, BEcon, BA (Hons), FAICD, FAIM, FIPAA

Observers
Dr I. Galloway, BSc (Hons), PhD, MAgSt
Dr G.Potter, MSc (Hons), PhD, GradDipEd, JP (Qual)
Mr P. Willett, BBus (Pub. Admin), Grad Cert PSM
Mr M. Wakefield

Observers (QAO)
Mr R. Hodson BBus (Accy), GCertMgt,CPA, FFin
Mr B. Macrae (until August 2006)
Ms D. Mendis
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Observers (CAA)

Queensland Museum South Bank

Mr M. Linnane, B.Bus (Accounting)
Mr W. Leaver, BCom (Accounting), MCom
(Accounting and Finance), CPA

Chair

Observer (Arts Queensland)
Ms J. Branch, BCom, CPA

MEMBERS OF CAMPUS
MANAGEMENT ADVISORY
COMMITTEES

Mr M. Snow, B Reg & Town Plan (Hons), M
Land Arch, MPIA, MUDIA, MPCA

Vice-Chairman

Trustees
Dr I. Galloway, BSc(Hons), PhD, MAgSt
Ms A. Jones, BDesSt
Ms L. Rainbow Reid
Mr D. Liddy, MBA, FAIBF, ASIA, MAICD
Ms L. Street, MAICD
Mr T. Crommelin, BComm
Mr M. Reilly, BA, GradDipBus (HRD),
MSc(IS), (FSUD), AFAIM, GAICD
Dr D. Campbell, PhD, MBA, FCHSE, CHE,
FAIM
Hon Dr D. Hamill, BA (Hons), MA, PhD, FCIT,
FAICD (until April 2007)

Members

Secretary / Director

Ms M. Andersen
Ms G. Barker, DipT (TAFE)
Dr A. Bartholomai, MSc, PhD
Ms A. Cardell, BA, MA
Prof M. French, BA, MA, DLitt
Mr G. Healy
Mr B. O’Brien, OBE
Ms L. Mash, BBus
Ms D. Moodie, BA

Mr R. Cassels, MA (until February 2007)
Ms S. Lewis, BEd, GradCert (IHE), GradCert
(Museology), MBA

Secretary/Director

Vice-Chair

Mrs D. Tranter, OAM, BA, MLitSt, CT (Sec),
GradDipCEd

Dr I. Galloway, BSc (Hons), PhD, MAgSt

Dr D. Campbell, MBA, PhD, DipLegalSt

Vice-Chairman

Woodworks: the Forestry
and Timber Museum
Chair

Chair
Mr M. Reilly, BA (UNSW), Grad Dip Bus
(HRD) (Deakin University), MSc (IS) (FSUD),
AFAIM, GAICD

Vice-Chairman

Cr M. Venardos,
Mr C.Mathisen, BSurv, GradDipUrbRegPlan

Secretary/Manager
Mr G.N. Smith, BA, JP (CDec)

The Workshops Rail Museum

Dr I. Galloway, BSc (Hons) PhD, MAgSt,

Chair

Members

Hon. Dr D. Hamill, BA (Hons), MA, PhD,
FCIT, FAICD

Ms J. Arlett, B.Sc.Pod.Med. Dip.App.
Sc.Pod. (Distinction) Dip.Prac.Mgt.
UNEP),M.A.Pod.A F.A.A.P.S.M.,F.A.S.M.F.,F.
A.I.M.
Mr T. Dews, B.E. (Civil)
Mr P. Duffy, B.A.,LL.B
Mr N. Gertz
Prof M. Kingsford, BSc MSc PhD
Mr J. Lyons, B.Ec, FCPA, FTIA, FAICD,
AFAIM, ACA (until August 2006)
Ms L. Nelson-Carr, MP (until October 2006)
Ms G. Mackay, BA Hons (Class 1)
Ms S. McLennan, Dip Creative Arts, Grad
Dip Ed (B Ed),Grad Cert Museum Man,
Partial Dip LGA Gov Admin
Ms G. Schuntner, BA, MA, FAIM

Secretary/Director

National Carriage Factory
Campaign Committee
Chair
Mrs M. Wagner

Vice-Chair
Mr B. Armagnacq, BCom, FCA, GAICD

Mr A.M. Willett, DipFor, BSc (For)

Members

Museum of Tropical Queensland

Major General P. Arnison, AC CVO (Retd)
BEcon

Members

Dr I. Galloway, Bsc (Hons), PhD, MAgSt.

Chair

Chair

Dr I. Galloway, BSc (Hons), PhD, MAgSt
Dr B. Piscitelli, AM BA, Med, PhD
Ms M. Maher, BA, Dip Ed, MSc (Env), MSc
(Tech)
Dr A. Bowen, BSc (Hons), PhD
Mr R. Kent, BBus
Mr J. Lazarou
Mr C. Watson
Ms S. Francis, LLB, BA, Grad Dip Legal
Practice
Ms P. Flynn, Bachelor Liberal Arts

Cobb+Co Museum

QUEENSLAND MUSEUM
FOUNDATION

Committee Member
Ms M. Andersen
Mr C. Armitage
Mr R. Bowly
Dr D. Campbell, MBA, PhD, DipLegalSt
Mr D. Davey
Ms J. Pugh
Mr D. Snow
Mr I. Walls

Observers
Mrs D. Tranter, OAM, BA, MLitSt, CT (Sec),
GradDipCEd
Ms D. Scott

Vice-Chairman
Dr I. Galloway, BSc (Hons), PhD, MAgSt

Members
Ms D. Brassington, BEd, DipT
Mrs R. Buchanan, BSc
Mr L. Cooper, AssocDip MechEng
Mrs R. Cooper
Ms D. Hanly, MAICD, Com.Dec
Mrs D. O’Neil
Mr V. O’Rourke, AM, BEcon, FCPA, FCIT,
FAIM, FFTA
Mr A. Rix, BA, PhD

Secretary/Director
Mr A. Moritz, MBA, GradDipMusStud,
GradDipTour

Mr P. McLeod, BAgrsc
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II. Strategic Goals

1 LEADERSHIP AND EXCELLENCE

1.3 Excellence in Research and Scholarship

1.1 Leadership within the Queensland
Museum industry

• More closely align research projects with identified priority themes

Strategic Leadership
• Via the Museum Resource Centre Network provide
strategic leadership to regional, local and specialist
museums and galleries across the State
• Investigate new models for the development and
management of regional museums

Museum Profession
• Encourage and facilitate staff participation/
involvement in the museum profession

Queensland’s 150th
Anniversary Celebrations
• Ensure that QM plays a leading role in Queensland’s
150th anniversary celebrations

Strategic Focus
• Optimise external funding, sponsorship and contract research in areas identified
as strategic priorities and in which QM has demonstrated strengths

Quality
• Develop and maintain systems that regularly monitor the quality of research
outputs produced by QM

Research Environment
Create an environment that —
> encourages innovation and excellence
> responds to strategic direction
> supports the adoption of project management systems
> recognizes the need for clear accountabilities, and
> encourages teamwork and multi-disciplinary approaches

1.2 Excellence in Caring for the Collections
Collection Development
Collection Conservation
• Conserve the physical, cultural and intellectual
integrity of the collections in the care of QM through
the application of procedures and standards
that accommodate current budget constraints in
determining the level of care and access QM can
provide

• Continue to acquire collections that best represent Queensland’s cultural and
natural heritage as a basis for public understanding and research in line with QM’s
priority themes
• Identify and deaccession collection items that no longer best represent
Queensland’s cultural and natural heritage

Promotion of QM Research
Collection Management System
• Implement a best practice collection management
system to manage and provide appropriate access
to the collection data and to support collection care

Collection Storage
• Maintain cost effective, collection storage facilities
and systems that will ensure the long term safety of
the State collections and encourage physical access

Policies and Procedures
• Review policies and procedures to ensure that
collections are managed in accordance with best
practice and, where appropriate, in accordance with
relevant cultural models

Access
• Facilitate increased community access
to the collections
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• Develop promotional strategies that highlight QM’s role as a generator of new
knowledge and as an integral and highly visible component of the State’s
knowledge industries
• Gain recognition for QM’s achievements and their value to the community

Research Outputs
• Communicate the results of research in a variety of media and forums appropriate
to the content and to QM’s target audience. In particular —
> Maintain the Memoirs of the Queensland Museum as an important medium for
the publication of QM research results
> Support a comprehensive in-house program of exhibitions, website features
and popular publications as important media for the communication of QM
research

1.4 Excellence in Communication
Knowledge Dissemination
• Ensure that knowledge dissemination has a high
priority in all QM Strategic Plans
• Use established priority themes to strategically guide
and coordinate QM communication in all media

Publications
• Expand the range of QM’s popular publications
• Continue to develop and catalogue QM’s
Image Library

Queensland Museum Resource Centre Network
• Establish service level agreements with local government
• Initiate discussions with Arts Queensland regarding long term funding of the QM
Resource Centre Network

3 RESPECTING ABORIGINAL
AND TORRES STRAIT ISLANDER CULTURES
Reconciliation
• Affirm QM’s commitment to reconciliation

Repatriation
Website and Multi-Media Development
• Continue to enhance web-based access to
QM’s collections, exhibitions, research and
educational programs
• Continue to improve navigation and design
of website
• Improve QM’s capacity to deliver high quality web
and multi-media products to targeted audiences
• Establish the QM website as a preferred site for
Queensland students

Public Relations
• Promote QM activities and the role QM plays
nationally and in the local community through positive
media coverage and the development of mutually
beneficial relationships with other organisations

Information Services
• Optimise the Inquiry Centre as an acrossQueensland information service

Exhibitions

• Maintain a comprehensive program for the repatriation of ancestral remains and
secret sacred objects from the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander collections
• Assist Aboriginal people and Torres Strait Islanders to display and interpret their
cultures to the broader Queensland community

QM Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Public Programs
• Develop a plan to coordinate the delivery of QM’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander Public Programs in accordance with cultural protocols

Employment and Career Development
• Implement an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander employment and career
development program
• Implement cross cultural awareness training across QM

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Collections
• Increase access to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander collections

Partnerships
• Develop partnerships with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities

4 DEVELOPING DIVERSE AUDIENCES

• Implement the rolling 10-year exhibition master plans

Marketing
• Brand Management
Implement the QM branding strategy
• Cross Marketing Opportunities
Continue the development of cross-marketing and
promotional alliances within and outside QM’s
network

4.1 Understanding and Aligning with
our Audience
Understanding the Audience
• Improve understanding of QM’s diverse audiences at all levels of the organisation

Target Audiences
• Identify existing and potential audience groups
• Deliver programs/products targeted to identified audience groups

2 DELIVERING MUSEUM SERVICES
TO QUEENSLAND
QM Network
• Enhance the capacity of the QM network in the
long term

Regional Services Program
• Manage the BioBus project and investigate ongoing
bio-tech programs
• Manage the QM Loans Service

4.2 Visitor Experience
Public Programs
• Maintain a diverse and changing program of exhibitions and activities throughout
QM’s network that is educational and entertaining and meets the needs and
expectations of the visitor
• As part of the program development process at each QM campus, undertake
an annual external environmental scan that includes trends in society, markets,
politics, museums, leisure, tourism and research

Visitor Services
• Develop and implement programs and procedures for the provision of continuous
improvement in quality customer services across QM’s network

Travelling Exhibitions
• Optimise the use of QM developed exhibitions within
the QM network
• Investigate the feasibility of QM providing touring
exhibitions intra and inter state

Membership
• Maintain or establish a membership structure to meet the needs of each QM
campus
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5 LIFELONG LEARNING
Lifelong Learning
• Actively foster a culture of lifelong learning within QM
• Monitor ongoing research on learning in a museum environment in Australia

Formal Learning

RESOURCES AND SUSTAINABILITY
Galvanising Government Support
• Raise QM’s profile with the Minister and encourage
the Minister’s involvement in QM events and activities
• Promote QM’s activities with members of parliament,
departmental heads, advisors and the Chief Scientist

• Engage education professionals in the use and development of QM content as
curriculum resources

• Maximise local government involvement and support
for QM activities

• Actively engage QM staff in higher education programs

• Ensure Queensland Treasury staff have a clear
understanding of QM’s business

Staff Training
• Assist staff in delivering lifelong learning programs
• Encourage all staff and volunteers to be proactive life long learners

6 TAKING QUEENSLAND
TO THE WORLD
QM Research/Collection Programs
in the Asia-Pacific Area
• Maintain the QM research programs in the Indo-Pacific region

Partnerships
• In partnership with ICOM Australia, support staff / programs in the Solomon
Islands National Museum
• Maintain links with QPAC and Qld College of Art (Griffith University) to focus on the
South Pacific region
• Continue to explore opportunities for collaborative projects with the Smithsonian
Institution in Washington D.C., U.S.A.

International Visitors
• In conjunction with Tourism Queensland and Regional Tourist Associations support
marketing initiatives that attract international visitors to the QM network

MANAGEMENT
Communication
• Clearly communicate the long term direction of QM to all stakeholders
• Implement communication strategies that maintain an efficient two way flow of
management information/issues within QM’s network

Project Management
• Apply the principles of project management to all major QM projects

Developing Corporate Capability
• Continue the professional development of middle managers
• Maintain a Personal Performance Planning (PPP) system for all staff
• Maintain the Professional Development Sub Committee

Business Systems
• Continue to develop and promote the Intranet as a major medium to provide
access to corporate information and policies, procedures and forms

Strategic Direction
• Maintain a collaborative strategic planning process that involves major
stakeholders and annually re-examines QM’s strategic priorities

Governance
• Identify key risks that could affect QM’s performance and/or reputation
• Identify statutory obligations, government directives and regulations that impact on
the operation of QM
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Partnerships
• Identify and foster strategic partnerships with
Universities and other research institutions that
further the aims of QM

Business Planning
• Maintain a business planning approach
in all activities

Foundation Fundraising
• Through QM Foundation provide effective links
to corporate and funding prospects
• Make full use of network and specialist expertise
capabilities of all key personnel associated with QM
and QM Foundation

Retail Sales
• Maintain business systems to facilitate best practice
analysis and decision-making for shop management
throughout QM

Staff Resources
• Develop a skills base that meets current as well
as future needs of QM
• Introduce succession planning to ensure
business continuity

Physical Infrastructure
• Review current and future facilities in terms of
QM’s strategic direction

Resources and Sustainability
• Undertake reviews to identify ways to reduce costs,
commitments and environmental impacts

III. Annual Performance Indicators

A.

ACCESS

1.

Use of services

2006-2007

2005–2006

2004–2005

503,855

489,994

516,163

Queensland Museum South Bank
Gallery visitors
Group visitors (schools)
Venue Total

65,550

83,929

68,141

569,405

573,923

584,304

69,316

70,454

68,064

Museum of Tropical Queensland
Gallery visitors
Group visitors (schools)
Venue Total

5,414

4,330

5,200

74,730

74,784

73,264

37,402

43,544

39,692

3,957

4,681

4,943

41,359

48,225

44,635

3,335

3,325

3,966

229

491

472

3,564

3,816

4,438

1,600

1,500

1,000

200

500

200

1,800

2,000

1,200

80,431

77,258

79,696

4,648

5,559

2,777

85,079

82,817

82,473

775,937

786,065

790,314

Cobb+Co Museum
Gallery visitors
Group visitors (schools)
Venue Total

WoodWorks Museum
Gallery visitors
Group visitors (schools)
Venue Total

Lands, Mapping and Surveying Museum
Gallery visitors (est)
Group visitors (schools)
Venue Total

The Workshops Rail Museum
Gallery visitors
Group visitors (schools)
Venue Total

Total Gallery Visitors
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2.

2006-2007

2005–2006

2004–2005

Visitors to QM travelling displays

58,894

3,147*

105,800

Professional inquiries

23,159

15,113

16,931

Use of services – all venues

Web site page views**

3,713,064

4,653,006

3,700,003

Web visits**

680,764

1,745,448

1,149,303

Object-based Outreach Service Visitors

470,015

587,608

495,577

Activity-based Outreach Service Visitors

67,057

31,481

11,169

* From 2005–2006, figure excludes attendance at Queensland Museum venues.
** The implementation and consolidation of a new website and measuring system has meant a
change in the way the system calculates web statistics. The figures for 2006–2007 are not based
on the same methodology used in previous years.

3.

Number of new loans made – all venues
Scientific Users

3,870

6,295

12,325

Educational Users

6,485

7,480

8,852

Library Users
Total New Loans

2,098

2,101

1,827

12,453*

15,876

23,004

* Previous figures were inflated by numerous entomology loans following visits by scientists
participating in the International Entomological Congress in Brisbane, as well as a change in the
dangerous goods legislation.

4.

Volunteer involvement – all venues
Number of volunteer person days

3,496

4,933

4,448

Hon. Associates

19

24

14

Hon. Research Fellows

16

31

27

5

14

12

96

207

209

1

38

35

70

352

296

Hon. Medical Officer

0

1

0

Hon. Dive Master

0

1

0

207*

668

593

Honorary staff appointed as:

Hon. Consultants
Hon. Docents
Hon. Administrative Assistants
Hon. Technical Assistants

Total Honorary Staff

* The 2006–2007 honoraries listing was restructured resulting in new data collection systems

5.

Venue usage
Learned societies

90

100

79

Community education

81

102

109

Business

B.

83

139

71

Other

107

171

167

Total

361

512

426

DISPLAYS
Display projects completed – all venues
Permanent displays opened (sq metres)
Number of temporary displays
Temporary displays (sq metres)
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0

1,568

1,697

31

48

27

5110

5,598

3,233

2006–2007

C.
1.

2005–2006

2004–2005

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
Income generation – all venues
Entrance fees
Interest
Shop receipts
Research grants

$

$

$

1,858,913

1,852,055

1,826,000

802,153

626,702

644,000

1,178,853

1,303,530

1,048,000

932,996

885,136

1,354,000

Cash donations/Sponsorships

408,080

48,909

163,000

Consultancy

592,726

527,111

574,000

Café lease

89,120

81,462

45,000

Temporary exhibitions

14,089

834,091

599,000(

0*

102,792

n/a

Other

2,415,022

1,741,840

1,754,000

Total

8,291,952

8,003,627

8,007,00

Queensland Museum Foundation Contributions

* The QM Foundation accounts were consolidated into the accounts of the Board of the
Queensland Museum for the first time in 2006/07 and as such its contribution is measured across
relevant income streams.

2.

Shop income (excluding food outlets)

$

$

$

South Bank Explorer Shop

622,559

796,677

524,129

Wholesale Distribution

171,868

124,321

145,738

Museum of Tropical Queensland

136,159

124,005

113,362

Cobb+Co Museum

68,374

65,254

58,620

WoodWorks Museum

13,060

12,048

10,565

The Workshops Rail Museum
Total

3.

4.

D.

181,224

190,556

1,303,529

1,042,970

$

$

$

Queensland Museum South Bank

Shop income per visitor

1.09

1.39

0.90

Museum of Tropical Queensland

1.82

1.66

1.55

Cobb+Co Museum

1.65

1.35

1.31

WoodWorks Museum

3.66

3.16

2.07

The Workshops Rail Museum

1.96

2.16

2.31

47.7

47.9

49.1

Salary as % of non-capital grant

84.49

82.3

84.5

Salary as % of total expenditure

54.43

54.5

50.0

$0*

$0*

$5,107,382

$15,369

$56,982

$6,516

Self-generated income
% of non-capital grant

5.

166,833
1,178,853

Relative expenditure on salaries

COLLECTIONS MANAGEMENT
Increase in value of collections
Purchase cost of new collections
Number of items conserved

7,083

8,858

10,138

Number of items audited

32,616

39,026

50,947

Number of items accessioned

22,806

62,072

63,859

* The Collection was not re-valued in 2005–2006, 2006-2007.
Refer to Note 2 of the Financial Statements
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2006–2007

E.
1.

Research projects
Number of research publications

113

74

160

Pages of Memoirs produced

408

305

810

Number of published acknowledgments

259

71

80

Number of learned staff presentations

3,603

1,224

792

Localities investigated

1187

397

1,402

41

44

55

Research programs completed
Species or items yielding new information

1.

47

38

28

17,293

115,521

54,338

403

411

1,672

Scholarly publications movement
Memoirs volumes exchanged

F.

2004–2005

SCHOLARSHIP

Research programs commenced

2.

2005–2006

HUMAN RESOURCES
Permanent : Temporary Staff –
all venues and % of total paid staff in:
Directorate

5:0 (4%)

5:0 (2%)

5:0 (2%)

24:1 (12%)

—

—

Cultures & Histories Program

12:3 (7%)

9:4 (6%)

10:4 (6%)

Corporate Services and Business Development

15:1 (7%)

—

—

4:0 (2%)

18:0 (9%)

—

13:0 (6%)

—

—

Biodiversity and Geosciences Program

Knowledge Management
Information Management and Information
Technology
Regional Services
Campuses

6:6 (6%)

7:9 (8%)

5:10 (7%)

98:21 (55%)

97:19 (57%)

71:29 (45%)

Museum Foundation

1:1 (1%)

1:1 (1%)

2:0 (1%)

Biodiversity Program

—

17:8 (12%)

18:16 (15%)

Geosciences Program

—

5:0 (2%)

5:0 (2%)

Exhibitions and Publications

—

—

25:5 (12%)

Information and Collection Management

—

—

14:2 (7%)

—

6:0 (3%)

7:0 (3%)

178:33

164:41

157:66

Business Services
Total

* An organisational unit restructure occurred in 2006 -2007 resulting in staff changes across sections.

2.

Honorary staff – all venues*
Number of paid staff : honorary staff
% paid staff : honorary staff

211:207

205:668

223:593

50%:50%

28:72%

27:73%

* The 2006–2007 honoraries listing was restructured resulting in new data collection systems

3.

Permanent staff turnover
Directorate
Biodiversity Program

—

—

—

2

0

Cultures & Histories Program

1

3

0

Exhibitions and Publications

—

—

3

Knowledge Management

3

1

—

Corporate Services and Business Development

1

0

0

—

—

3

3

3

1

Campuses

12

15

11

Foundation

0

1

0

Information and Collection Management
Regional Services
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4.

2006-2007

2005–2006

2004–2005

974

972

999

8,773

9,026

9,801

298

148

576

0.85

0.6

0.5

Absenteeism
Sick leave occasions
Hours of sick leave
Hours of workers compensation

5.

Training
% of gross salary expenditure

G. BUILDING MAINTENANCE
$
Queensland Museum South Bank

H.

$

2,086,137

1,925,010

1,762,962

Museum of Tropical Queensland

415,118

405,195

403,313

Cobb+Co Museum

144,812

117,990

92,278

Workshops Rail Museum

428,367

426,469

371,247

Hendra Campus

147,552

172,316

126,320

DECENTRALISATION – ALL VENUES
Number of travelling displays

I.

$

3

3

3

Shires serviced regionally

130

134

157

Days of field work

723

494

796

24/66

10/59

3/56

BUILDING MANAGEMENT
The Workplace health and safety
Number of accidents – (Staff/Public):
Queensland Museum South Bank
Museum of Tropical Queensland

9/9

0/7

9/9

Hendra Annexe

2/0

2/0

2/0

19/33

19/37

12/29

4/1

0/3

1/3

0.17%

0.14%

0.10%

12.84%

1.95%

2.2%

Workshops Rail Museum
Cobb+Co Museum

J.

DELAYS IN RESPONDING
Ministerial/departmental letters
unanswered after 2 weeks
Accounts unpaid after 4 weeks*

* Revised data interrogation techniques in 2006-07 are now providing more accurate data.
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IV Publications

Bruce, AJ & Okuno, J 2006
‘Periclimenes dardanicola n. sp., a new species of hermit crab
associated shrimp (Crustacea: Decapoda: Palaemonidae) from the
western Pacific’, Zoosystema, vol. 28(2), pp. 367-377.

Bruce, AJ 2006
‘A new genus, Leptomenes, for the pontoniine shrimp Periclimenes
dolichosternum Okuno & Mitsuhashi, 2003. (Crustacea: Decapoda:
Palaemonidae)’, Cahiers de Biologie Marine, vol. 47, pp. 223-225.

Bruce, AJ 2006
‘A new species of the pontoniine shrimp genus Harpilius Dana,
1852, H. spinifer (Crustacea: Decapoda: Palaemonidae), from New
Caledonia’, Cahiers de Biologie Marin, vol. 47, pp. 271-280.

Bruce, AJ 2006
‘An unusual new Periclimenes (Crustacea, Decapoda, Palaemonidae)
from New Caledonia’, Zoosystema, vol. 28(3), pp. 703-712.

PEER REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS

Bruce, AJ 2006

Allen, GR, Seeman, OD, Schmid-Hempel, P
& Buttermore, RE 2007

‘Periclimenaeus fawatu spec. nov. (Crustacea: Decapoda:
Pontoniinae) from Zanzibar’, Zoologische Mededelingen, Leiden
vol. 80-4(3), pp. 33-43.

‘Low parasite loads accompany the invading population of the
bumblebee’, Bombus terrestris in Tasmania. Insectes Sociaux,
vol. 54, pp. 56-63.

Amey, A, Couper, PJ & Shea GM 2006
‘Fatal intra-specific aggression in free-ranging Blue-Tongued Lizards’,
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vol. 44(1), pp. 40-41.

Czechura, GV 2007
‘Diversity in ecology’, Wildlife Australia, vol. 44 (2), p. 42.

Czechura, GV 2007
Glorified Dinosaurs; the origin and early evolution of birds book
review’, Wildlife Australia, vol. 44(2), pp. 45.

Czechura, GV 2007
‘Frogs’, in Wildlife of Greater Brisbane, Queensland Museum,
Brisbane, 2nd edn, pp. 208-235.

Czechura, GV 2007
‘Birds’, in Wildlife of Greater Brisbane, Queensland Museum,
Brisbane, 2nd edn, pp. 296-361.

Czechura, GV 2006
‘Complexity draws a range of visitors’ Wildlife Australia,
vol. 43(4), p. 43.

Czechura, GV 2006
‘Insects: past records, future guides’, Wildlife Australia,
vol. 43(3), p. 43.

Czechura, GV 2006
‘Sacred and invertebrate’, Wildlife Australia, vol. 43(2), p. 39.

NON-PEER REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS
AND TECHNICAL REPORTS

Czechura, GV & Field, G 2007
Raptors of Southern Queensland Pocket Guide, Queensland
Museum, Brisbane.

Adlard, RD, Bryant, MS, Cannon, LRG & Winsor, L 2007
‘Worms’ in Wildlife of Greater Brisbane, Queensland Museum,
Brisbane, 2nd edn, pp 1-7.

Davie, PJF 2007
‘Crustaceans’, in Wildlife of Greater Brisbane, Queensland Museum,
Brisbane, 2nd edn, pp. 68–83.

Bryant, MS, Adlard, RD & Cannon, LRG 2006
‘Gordian Worms’, Queensland Museum Learning Fact Sheet.

Johnson, JW 2007

Burwell, CJ 2007

‘Freshwater and upper estuarine fishes’, in Wildlife of Greater
Brisbane, Queensland Museum, Brisbane, 2nd edn, pp. 174-207.

Ants of Brisbane Pocket Guide, Queensland Museum, Brisbane.

Kott, P & Page, M 2007
Burwell, CJ 2006
‘Case moths, bag moths or bagworms’, Queensland Museum
Learning Fact Sheet.

Burwell, CJ 2006
‘Paper Wasps’. Queensland Museum Learning Fact Sheet.

Burwell, CJ, Monteith, GB & Wright, S 2007
‘Insects’, in Wildlife of Greater Brisbane, Queensland Museum,
Brisbane, 2nd edn, pp 85-173.

‘Ascidians (Phylum Tunicata, Class Ascidiacea), in
A MacDiarmid (ed.), The Treasures of the Sea: Nga Taonga a
Tangaroa. A Summary of Biodiversity in the New Zealand Marine
Ecoregion, World Wildlife Fund, Wellington, NZ.

Kott, P 2006
‘An institute for taxonomy in Australia, Australian Marine Sciences
Association Bulletin, vol. 172, p. 27.

Kott, P 2006

Snakes of South-East Queensland Pocket Guide, Queensland
Museum, Brisbane.

‘Taxonomic knowledge of the Australian biota and its significance in
maintaining biodiversity’, submission to the Science, Engineering and
Technology Skills Audit, (http://www.dest.gov.au/sectors/science_
innovation/policy_issues_reviews/key_issues/setsa/documents/
Mather_submission_pdf)

Couper, P., Amey, A. & Limpus, C. 2007

McKay, J 2006

Couper, P & Amey, A 2007

‘Freshwater Turtles’, in Wildlife of Greater Brisbane, Queensland
Museum, Brisbane, 2nd edn, pp. 237–240.

Covacevich, J, Couper, P & Amey, A 2006
‘Reptiles of Queensland’s Border Ranges’ in L Hutley (ed.), A Guide to
Lamington National Park, Lamington Natural History Association Inc.,
Envirobook, Canterbury, N.S.W., pp. 170- 176.
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‘The National Museum of Australian Pottery, Holbrook’, Australiana,
vol.28, no.4, pp.32-33

Milne, C & Morrison, A 2006
‘Demystifying PCR: The PCR game’, The Queensland Science
Teacher, vol. 32(4), pp.36-38.

Monteith, GB 2006

Turner, S 2006

‘Insects’, in L Hutley (ed.), A Guide to Lamington National Park,
Lamington Natural History Association Inc., Envirobook, Canterbury,
N.S.W., pp. 138-149.

‘Australian Geoparks move forward’, World Geoparks Newsletter,
vol.3, pp.1-4.

Turner, S 2006
Monteith, GB 2006
‘Giant insects’, Australian Geographic, vol. 83 pp. 54-55, 58-61.

‘Great Editors Part 1’, Offpress. Newsletter of the Society of editors
(Queensland) Inc., June 2006, p. 4.

Monteith, GB & Hiller, KA 2006

Turner, S 2006

‘Birdwing butterflies’, Queensland Museum Learning Fact Sheet.

‘Project 506: Jurassic marine and non-Marine Correlation’, TAG
no.139 June 30, pp. 39-40.

Potter, DG & Short, J 2006
‘Blue-ringed Octopus’, Queensland Museum Learning Fact Sheet.

Van Dyck, S & Janetzki, H 2007

Potter, DG & Stanisic, J 2007

Mammals, in Wildlife of Greater Brisbane, Queensland Museum,
Brisbane, 2nd edn, pp 363-391.

‘Freshwater Snails and Mussels’, in Wildlife of Greater Brisbane,
Queensland Museum, Brisbane, 2nd edn, pp 23–29.

Wallace, CC & Muir, P 2006

Raven, RJ 2006

‘A survey of the coral genus Acropora in the Seychelles granitic
islands March 2006, and DVD Catalogue to the species of Acropora
in the Seychelles’, Report to Seychelles Centre for Marine Research
and Technology and Marine Parks Authority, 18 September 2006.

‘Spiders’, in L Hutley (ed.), A Guide to Lamington National Park,
Lamington Natural History Association Inc., Envirobook, Canterbury,
N.S.W., pp. 149-159, 207-211.

Webb, S 2006
Raven, RJ & Seeman, O 2007

The First Boat People, Cambridge University Press.

‘Arachnids’, in Wildlife of Greater Brisbane, Queensland Museum,
Brisbane, 2nd edn, pp. 30-67.

Wilson, SK 2006

Scanlon, JD 2006

Snakes, Lizards, Crocs and Turtles of Australia, Young Reed
Publications.

‘Hiatus A Site - Crocodiles and their prey in interesting times’,
Riversleigh Notes, vol. 63, pp.1-5.

Wilson, SK 2006
‘Asian House Geckos’, Queensland Museum Learning Fact Sheet.

Scanlon, JD 2006
‘New turtle from Riversleigh’, Riversleigh Notes, vol. 65 pp. 6-7.

Wilson, SK 2006
Yabby Tales’, Australian Geographic, vol. 84, pp. 60-69.

Scanlon, JD 2006
‘Beating the air [letter on Darwin, subspecies, and conservation]’,
New Scientist, 12 August, p. 19.

Wilson, SK 2007
‘Cane Grass Dragon’, Herpetological Review, vol. 38, p. 2.
and cover photo.

Schlacher-Hoenlinger, MA 2006
‘Porifera (sponges)’, in A Williams, K Gowlett-Holmes & F Althaus
(eds) ‘Biodiversity survey of seamounts and slopes of the Norfolk
Ridge and Lord Howe Rise: final report to the Department of the
Environment and Heritage National Oceans Office (DEH: Canberra),
pp 9-11.

Schlacher-Hoenlinger, MA, Walker, S, Johnson, J,
Schlacher, T & Hooper, JNA 2006

Wilson, SK & Amey, AP 2007
‘Lizards’, in Wildlife of Greater Brisbane, Queensland Museum,
Brisbane, 2nd edn, pp. 243–273.

Wilson, S.K., Couper, P. Amey, A. & Covacevich, J. 2007.
‘Land Snakes’ in Wildlife of Greater Brisbane, Queensland Museum,
Brisbane, 2nd edn, pp. 275–295.

‘Biological Baseline Survey of the ex-HMAS Brisbane Artificial Reef’,
Final Report to the Queensland Parks and Wildlife, Environmental
Protection Agency, December 2006, Queensland Museum, Brisbane,
110pp.

CONFERENCE ABSTRACTS AND BOOK REVIEWS

Soest, RWM Van, Boury-Esnault, N, Janussen, D
& Hooper, JNA 2006

Postcranial exo- and endoskeleton – ne’er the twain shall meet,
or…? Abstracts 85, Pp 54. In: 11th Conference on Australian
Vertebrate Evolution, Palaeontology and Systematics (CAVEPS) 2007
(Geological Society of Australia: Melbourne).

‘World Porifera database’, http://www.vliz.be/vmdcdata/porifera.

Stanisic, J 2006
‘Land Snails’, in L Hutley (ed.), A Guide to Lamington National Park,
Lamington Natural History Association Inc., Envirobook, Canterbury,
N.S.W., pp. 159-162.

Stanisic, J 2006
‘Peak Range invertebrate survey: a lesson in conservation strategies’,
Wildlife Australia, vol. 43(4), pp. 38-39.

Burrow, CJ 2007

Crozier, RH, Bekenbach, A, Robson, SK, Kohout, RJ,
Guzik, MT, Henshaw, MT & Shuetrim, AJ 2006
A molecular framework for comparative analysis of the ant genus
Polyrhachis. Pp71-72. In: Collins, A.M., Vargo, E.L., Pettis, J.S.,
Evans, J., Schultz, T.R., Spivak M., Vander Meer, R.K. & Johnson, C.
(Eds), XV Congress IUSSI Washington D.C. (International Union for
the Study of Social Insects).

Czechura, GV 2006
Stanisic, J, & Potter, D 2007
‘Land Snails and Slugs’, in Wildlife of Greater Brisbane, Queensland
Museum, Brisbane, 2nd edn, pp. 12-23.

‘Dragonflies of South East Queensland book review’, Wildlife Australia,
vol. 43(3), p. 40

Czechura, GV 2007
Thompson, G 2007
‘Queensland-Smithsonian Fellowship’, Guild of Natural science
Illustrators Journal, vol. 38(8), pp.5-14, plus cover.

‘The Complete Field Guide to Australian Dragonflies book review’,
Wildlife Australia, vol 44(1), p. 45.
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Erpenbeck, D, Hendriks, P, Strickland, C, Ekins, M,
Schlacher-Hoenlinger, MA, Degnan, BM, Hooper, JNA
& Wörheide, G 2007
Molecular and Biochemical Systematics of Keratose Sponges.
Pp 152. Manapro XII International Symposium on Marine Natural
Products. Conference Programme & Proceedings. ISBN 978-0-47311940-9.

Hooper, JNA 2007
Maximizing benefits from ‘biodiscovery’: a Coastal State resource
providers perspective. In: 8th Meeting of the United Nations Openended Informal Consultative Process of the Oceans and the Law
of the Sea, ‘Marine Genetic Resources’, Segment 2a: Access/
Collections, 25 to 29 June 2007 (United Nations Headquarters: New
York) (http://www.iisd.ca/oceans/icp8/jun26.html).

Lambkin, CL, Pape, T, Courtney, GW, Blagoderov, VA,
Skevington, JH, Sinclair, BJ, Yeates, DK, Meier, R
& Wiegmann, BM 2006
FLYTREE MORPHOLOGY: Preliminary analysis of the first tier dataset.
Abstract, 6th International Congress of Dipterology. International
Society for Dipterology, Fukuoka Japan September.

Lambkin, CL, Trueman, JWH, Yeates, DK, Holston, KC,
Webb, DW, Hauser, M, Metz, MA, Hill, HN, Skevington,
JH, Yang, L et al. 2006

Scanlon, JD 2006
Biogeography of Australian reptiles: oldest records of Physignathus,
Varanus and Morelia, and the date of inferred transoceanic dispersal
from Asia. 30th Anniversary Riversleigh Symposium.

Scanlon, JD 2006
Estimating body size in extinct snakes. In: Bourne, S. & Reed,
E. (eds), 10th Conference on Australian Vertebrate Evolution,
Palaeontology and Systematics (CAVEPS), Naracoorte SA,
March-April 2005. Alcheringa special issue (1): 466.

Schlacher-Hoenlinger, MA, Hooper, JNA, Carroll, AR,
Hendriks, P & Erpenbeck, D 2007
Dysideidae (Porifera, Demospongiae, Dictyoceratida) from the Lizard
Island region, Great Barrier Reef, Australia, containing bioactive
compounds with potential pharmaceutical properties. Pp 151.
ManaproXII International Symposium on Marine Natural Products.
Conference Programme & Proceedings. ISBN 978-0-473-11940-9.

Scott, Z 2007
Significance assessment, Museums Australia National Conference,
(Canberra, Australia, May 2007).

Tranter, D 2006
Protection of moveable cultural heritage, International Heritage Law
Intensive (University of Queensland Brisbane, Australia July 2006).

A supertree for the stiletto flies (Diptera: Therevidae) using constraint
trees and the parsimony ratchet to overcome low taxon overlap.
Abstract, 6th International Congress of Dipterology. International
Society for Dipterology, Fukuoka Japan September 2006.

Turner, S, Creaser, P, & McKnight, J 2006

Lambkin, CL, Wiegmann, BM, Yeates, DK, Thorne, J,
Cassel, B & Hauser, M 2006

Turner, S & Miller, R 2006

Australasian stiletto flies (Diptera: Therevidae): Divergence time
estimates indicate Gondwanan separation, evolutionary radiations
with aridification, and recent dispersal. Abstract, 6th International
Congress of Dipterology. International Society for Dipterology,
Fukuoka Japan September 2006.

Macno, V 2007
Review of On The Move: a history of transport in Australia by Margaret
Simpson (Curator of Transport, Powerhouse Museum), Museums
Australia, Vol. 15, Vol. 3, February 2007

Celebrating Planet Earth – UNESCO-assisted Geoparks in the
Australasian-Pacific region. (Australian Earth Sciences Convention,
Geological Society of Australia).

‘Spiny Sharks’ in Early Devonian ‘Non-Marine’ Palaeoenvironments.
Pp 339-340. In: Qun, Y., Yongdong, W., Weldon, E.A. (Eds), ‘Ancient
Life and Modern Approaches’. Abstracts of the 2nd International
Palaeontological Congress. June 17-21, 2006, Beijing, China.

Turner, S 2006
Forging a Geopark Network in the Australasia-Pacific region. P.
106. In: 2nd UNESCO International Geoparks 2006 Conference,
Waterfront Hall, Belfast, 17-21 September 2006, Abstracts,
Geological Survey of Ireland.

Wörheide, G & Erpenbeck, D 2007
McKnight, J, Turner, S & White, S 2007
Celebrating Planet Earth: UNESCO Assisted GEOPARKS in the
Australasian- Pacific Region. Pp 1. Abstracts, ‘Caves, Craters and
Critters’, 26th Australian Speleological Federation Conference, Mt
Gambier 6 - 12 January 2007.

The Sponge Barcoding Project (SBP) and the Sponge Barcoding
Database (SBD) - aiding in the identification and description of
poriferan taxa. (www.spongebarcoding.org). Pp 193. Manapro XII
International Symposium on Marine Natural Products. Conference
Programme & Proceedings. ISBN 978-0-473-11940-9.

Moritz, A.C. 2007

Yeates, DK, Wedmann, S & Lambkin, CL 2007

‘All Aboard! Building an Audience via Public Programs’, International
Association of Transport Museums Conference, York, United
Kingdom, 2007.

A Gondwanan Group is hard to find: distinguishing disjuncts, relicts
and dispersers on the southern continents. Abstract, Southern
Connections Conference. University of Adelaide, South Australia,
January 2007.

Powell, J 2006
Review of “Ancient Fishing and Fish Processing in the Black Sea
Regions” edited by Tonnes Bekkery-Nielsen, American Journal of
Archaeology Vol, Vol 110 No 3, 2006, pp 526-527.

Quanchi, M 2006
‘My Mum’s trip to New Guinea – photo albums, visual histories
and memory’, paper presented at the Pacific History Association
conference, Dunedin, New Zealand, December.

Quanchi, M 2006
‘Photographing Samarai’, paper presented at the ISISA conference,
Maui, August.
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Yek, SH, Crozier, RH, Robson, SK, Williams, S & Burwell,
C 2006
Leaf litter ants as surrogates in establishing conservation
assessmants. Pp203-204. In: Collins, A.M., Vargo, E.L., Pettis, J.S.,
Evans, J., Schultz, T.R., Spivak M., Vander Meer, R.K. & Johnson, C.
(eds) XV Congress IUSSI Washington D.C. (International Union for the
Study of Social Insects).

V. Grants and Consultancies

GRANTS
Grantee

Project

From

Amount

Dr R. Adlard

Aquatic Animal Health Subprogram: identification of
host interactions in the life-cycle of QX disease

Fisheries Research & Development
Corporation

$68,652

Dr B. Alvarez de Glasby,
Dr J. Hooper
& Dr K. Gibbs

Taxonomic revision of the order Halichondrida
(Porifera: Demospongiae) of northern Australia and
phylogenetic implications for sponge classification

Australian Biological Resources Study

$55,000

Dr C. Arango

Systematics of Australian Sea Spiders (Arthropoda,
Pycnogonida): Taxonomy, Diversity, and Phylogenetic
advances

Australian Biological Resources Study

$60,500

Dr B. Baehr

Taxonomy of Habronestes spiders

Australian Biological Resources Study

$11,000

Dr B. Baehr

Planetary Biodiversity Inventory, Family Oonopidae

US National Science Foundation

$63,192

Dr D. Erpenbeck
& Dr J. Hooper

Molecular phylogeny of ‘keratose’ sponges, and
Demosponge evolution

University of Göttingen, Germany

$11,000

Dr D. Erpenbeck,
Dr J. Hooper
& Dr G. Wörheide

The Systematics of Sponges without Mineral Skeleton
and its Phylogeographic Implications

EU 6th Framework Program, Marie Curie
outgoing Fellowships

Dr I. Galloway

Historic Shipwreck Program

Department of Environment and Water
Resources

$72,600

Dr J. Hooper

Marine invertebrate component of the ‘GBR Seabed
Biodiversity’ - Mapping Bycatch & Seabed Benthos
Assemblages in the Great Barrier Reef region for
Environmental Risk Assessment & Sustainable
Management of the Queensland East Coast Trawl
Fishery

Cooperative Research Centre for the Great
Barrier Reef

$37,708

Mr R. Kohout

Revision of the Australian ants of the genus
Polyrhachis; part 1.

Australian Biological Resources Study

$114,333

$6,600

Dr C. Lambkin

Australian Faunal Directory of Australian Therevidae

Australian Biological Resources Study

$11,000

Dr P. Mather

Taxonomy of the Ascidiacea

Australian Biological Resources Study

$44,000

Dr R. Raven

Planetary Biodiversity Inventory , Family Oonopidae

US National Science Foundation

$6,000

Dr O. Seeman

Lucid Keys to 25 Families of Mites of Quarantine
Importance

Office of the Chief Plant Protection
Officer & Centre for Biological Information
Technology

$8,800

Ms D. Tranter

Management of Museum Resource Centre Network

Arts Queensland

$528,000

Ms D. Tranter

Management of BioBus

Department of State Development and
Innovation

$754,630

Dr C. Wallace
& Dr D. Fautin

Australia’s anemones – a revision of their taxonomy,
distribution patterns and biodiversity

Australian Biological Resources Study

$64,900
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CONSULTANCIES UNDERTAKEN
Grantee

Project

Ms J. Blakely

Treatment of ornithological display

Tweed River Regional Museum

Dr C. Burwell

Great Basalt Wall Survey

Department of Environment and Water
Resources

Dr C. Burwell
& Dr G. Monteith

Presentation of ant and beetle community workshops

Community Learning

$330

Dr C. Burwell

Identification of ants from bait trial

Queensland Department of Primary
Industries, Fire Ant Control Centre

$600

Dr C. Burwell

Identification of food contaminants

Pestcorp Pty Ltd, OSI International Foods,
Queensland Health

$450

Dr C. Burwell

Identification of ants from Grain and Graze project

CSIRO Sustainable Ecosystems

Dr C. Burwell

Databasing for IBISCA Qld Project

Griffith University

Dr C. Burwell

Identification of dietary material in scats of various
vertebrates

Biodiversity Conservation, NT Parks and
Wildlife Service

$2,200

Mr P. Couper
& Dr A. Amey

Identification and data searches

Environmental consultants (various)

$6,241

Dr J. Hooper

Novel pharmaceutical compounds from Queensland’s
marine fauna and flora

Natural Products Discovery Griffith
University

Dr J. Hooper

Marine invertebrate component of the ‘Gulf of
Carpentaria seabed mapping’ - Effects of trawling
on the benthos and biodiversity: Development and
delivery of a Spatially-explicit Management Framework
for the Northern Prawn Fishery

CSIRO Marine & Atmospheric Research

$56,045

Dr J. Hooper

Biological baseline survey of the ex-HMAS Brisbane

University of the Sunshine Coast &
Queensland Parks and Wildlife Service, EPA

$31,375

Dr J. Hooper

Special Program for Research and Training in Tropical
Diseases, Institute of Marine Sciences, University of
Dar es Salaam, Zanzibar, Tanzania, ‘Discovery of new
antimalarial drugs from marine invertebrates’.

University of Dar es Salaam, Zanzibar

Dr J. Hooper

Marine invertebrate component of the ‘Survey of
bioactive compounds from marine invertebrates in
shallow and deep waters of the Solomon Islands,
Fiji & Cook Islands (CRISP project)’ - 2006 Bioactive
substances from the Solomon Islands

Institute of Research for Development &
University Paul Sabatier (Toulouse III)

$16,650

D J. Hooper

Invited panellist for the 8th Meeting of the United Nations
Open-ended Informal Consultative Process of the Oceans
and the Law of the Sea, ‘Marine Genetic Resources’,
United Nations General Assembly, New York

Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade,
Canberra

$10,861

Mr J. Johnson

Fish data searches

Environmental consultants (various)

Dr C. Lambkin

Behind the Scenes Tour

Global Education

Dr C. Lambkin

Data search

Brisbane Aquifer Project, Southern Cross
University

Mr D. Milne

Development of Journey of Understanding refugee
education website

Multicultural Assistance Program

74

Queensland Museum Annual Report 2006–2007

For

Amount
$2,750
$44,000

$5,500
$16,500

$338,278

$600

$3,531
$115
$645.50
$7,700

Grantee

Project

For

Amount

Dr G. Monteith

GIS collection data of dung beetle distributions

Department of Environment and Water
Resources

Dr G. Potter

Conservation of marine archaeological material for
Ipswich Riverheart Project

EDAW Australia

Dr R. Raven

Mygalomorphae

Bushfire Research & Development Group

$1,000

Dr R. Raven

Invertebrate survey in Gladstone and Proserpine
region

Biodiversity Assessment and Management

$30,514

Ms D. Tranter

National Cultural Heritage Committee Membership

Department of Environment and Heritage

$1,500

Dr C. Wallace

Provision of services for the preparation of Anthozoa
Species Bank profiles & Actiniaria distributional data

Australian Biological Resources Study

$8,030

Dr C. Wallace

Identification of Actiniaria from Southern Surveyor
Cruise

CSIRO Southern Surveyor Programme

$5,000

Dr C. Wallace

Science and Technology expertise – Cultural Gifts
Programme

DCITA Tax Incentives for the Arts sitting fee

Dr C. Wallace

Identification of corals

Bowman Bishop

$1,796

Dr C. Wallace

Identification of corals

Dr Jeremy Fitzpatrick

$1,852

$14,300
$9,472.50

$368.50

CONSULTANTS
During the year the Queensland Museum engaged the following consultants:

Project

Cost

AEC Group Pty Ltd

Events Management of Fundraising Auction

$19,073

Balfour Consulting

MTQ Strategic Marketing Plan

$20,114

Balfour Consulting

Exhibition Audience Research

$17,050

Big Bridge

Queensland Museum South Bank Exhibition Development Plan

Brandi Projects

Museum Zoo exhibition

$14,080

Footprints Market Research

Queensland Museum positioning research

$28,924.50

Genesis Productions

Feasibility Study and Concept Design Plan for Proposed Great Barrier Reef
Sound and Light Show

$48,254.80

Indigo

Performance and efficiency review of Eumundi Museum

Miiri Centre

Return of Indigenous Cultural Property project

Mothers Art Productions Pty Ltd.

Detailed design, construction and Installation of The Museum of Tropical
Queensland Rainforest Exhibit

Ormsby Kerrins Freeman

Queensland Museum South Bank Exhibition Development Plan

Publicis Mojo

Queensland Museum Positioning Project

$5,500

Transnational

Scan of fundraising opportunities for MTQ

$18,773

Wilson, Ryan and Grose

Contract and legals

$224,750.90

$10,000
$57,406
$495,000
$14,765.40

$4,712
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VI. Overseas Travel

Name of officer

Date

Destination

Costs /funding

Purpose of travel

Queensland Other
Museum
Dr C. Wallace
Principal Scientist

Dr P. Muir
Research Officer,
Biodiversity
Program

Dr R. Raven
Senior Curator,
Biodiversity
Program

Mr A. Moritz
Director,
The Workshops
Rail Museum

Ms D. Hacklin,
Senior
Conservator;

6 September
— 1October

Maldives

6 September
— 1October

Maldives

13 October —
2 November

Germany,
France

$0

5 November —
15 November

California,
USA

$4,558.58

5 September —
23 September

Solomon
Islands

$0

$3,141.95
Funded by
National
Geographic
Grant

$0

$3,043.45
Funded by
National
Geographic
Grant

Ms L. Harvey,
Head Collection
Management;

Mr J. HopkinsWeise,
Assistant
Collection
Manager
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$5,468.50
Funded by
German
Arachnology
Society and
Environment
Australia

To conduct research in the Lakshadweep and
Maldives island territories of the Indian Ocean
as part of an external grant to Dr Wallace from
the Committee for Exploration and Research,
National Geographic Society

To conduct research in the Lakshadweep and
Maldives island territories of the Indian Ocean
as part of an external grant to Dr Wallace from
the Committee for Exploration and Research,
National Geographic Society

Invitation to attend the Annual German
Arachnological Conference and present a paper
on Australian Tarantulas; to research Australian
spiders held in Frankfurt & Berlin Museums.

To attend the 2006 Annual Conference of the
Association of Railway Museum and Tourist
Railway Association Inc.; To visit California State
Railway Museum and other rail/heritage facilities
in the area.
$22,250
International
Council of
Museums
(ICOM)
Australian
Museum
Partnerships
Program
– 12 month pilot
program funded
by the National
Museum of
Australia and
AusAid

To train Solomon Island National Museum staff in
collection management practices and principles;
to document, catalogue, and photograph 95%
of the SINM collection & Library collection

Name of officer

Date

Destination

Costs/funding

Purpose of travel

Queensland Other
Museum
Dr D.
Erpenbeck

1 December —
16 December

New Zealand

3 February —
9 February

New Zealand

21 April —
3 September

USA

12 March —
25 March

Singapore

$0

Postdoctoral
Fellow, Biodiversity
Program

Dr D.
Erpenbeck

$0

$0

Senior Curator,
Biodiversity
Program

$18,000
Queensland
Smithsonian
Fellowship
2006 coordinated
through the
Department of
the Premier and
Cabinet

Visitor Experience
Manager, The
Workshops Rail
Museum

Dr P. Davie

$1,475.22
Funded by
grant from
European
Union through
the University
of Goettingen,
Germany –
administered by
the Queensland
Museum

Postdoctoral
Fellow, Biodiversity
Program

Ms B.
McCormack

$2,063.37
Funded by
grant from
European
Union through
the University
of Goettingen,
Germany –
administered by
the Queensland
Museum

$696.25

$2,348
Funded by
National
Museum of
Singapore

To work with Dr Steve de Cook at the University
of Technology, Auckland to access his collection
of sponges for morphological taxonomy and
molecular studies, and prepare collaborative
publications as part of the Marie Curie
Postdoctural Fellowship at the QM, funded by
the University of Geottingen, Germany.

To attend the 12th International Conference for
Marine Natural Products in Queenstown, NZ, to
present one oral and two poster presentations
of work being undertaken by the Sessile Marine
Invertebrates Group at QM, on the molecular
biology of and new chemical compounds
discovered in marine sponges with potential
pharmaceutical benefits; to facilitate networking
with international colleagues and provide
insight into current international biodiscovery
and molecular biology projects occurring
internationally.
Awarded the 2006 Smithsonian Fellowship.
To travel to National Museum of American
History (Smithsonian Institution) to undertake an
investigation into the role and impact of public
programs at the NMAH. This investigation will
encompass a comparative study between public
programs undertaken at the NMAM and The
Workshops Rail Museum. The primary outcome
of this study is to better understand the role of
public programs within cultural history museums
and to help develop and manage future
programming at TWRM.
To conduct collaborative research with Dr P.K.L.
Ng of the National University of Singapore, his
postgraduate students, and Prof. Daniele Guinot
of the Museum National d’Histoire Naturelle,
Paris, to finish a checklist of the species of
the world Brachyura (crabs), and to describe
new species of commercially and ecologically
important crustaceans.
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Name of officer

Date

Destination

Costs/funding

Purpose of travel

Queensland Other
Museum
Dr I. Galloway
Chief Executive
Officer,
Queensland
Museum

Ms K. van
Heerwaarden

2 March —
12 March

USA

$2,920.50

$11,860

13 March —
17 March

New Zealand

$2,086

9 April —
14 April

USA

$0

1 June —
24 June

United
Kingdom

(E)$11,505

To attend and speak at the 35th IATM
(International Association of Transport Museums)
Conference in York, England. To Visit London
Transport Museum, National Rail Museum (York),
and other rail/heritage facilities.

1June — 1 July

New Zealand

(E) $6,858

Awarded the 2007 Queensland Museum
Scholarship. To engage in a month long
intensive study trip to the University of
Canterbury, NZ in order to gain experience
and acquire proficiency in a range of new and
advanced molecular technologies and data
analysis software packages; to attend and
present Queensland Museum research at the
prestigious 2007 Evolution meetings.

22 June —
2 July

USA

(E)$600

Funded by
J. Paul Getty
Trust

To attend the NAME (Network of Australasian
Museum Exhibitors) meeting in Auckland, NZ.
To discuss exhibition related work policies,
practices & procedures; sourcing exhibitions
to be part of the QM’s strategic priorities in
implementing a 10-year exhibition renewal plan;
promoting QM’s range of touring exhibitions to
other institutions.

Exhibition Manager,
Queensland
Museum South
Bank

Dr B. Baehr
Research Fellow,
Biodiversity
Program

Mr A. Mortiz
Director, The
Workshops Rail
Museum

Dr J.
Worthington
Wilmer

$3,500
Funded by the
US National
Science
Foundation

Manager,
Molecular Identities
Laboratory

Dr J. Hooper
Head, Biodiversity
and Geosciences
Program
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Invitation to serve as a member of the selection
panel for the 2007 Museum Leadership
Institute Program run by The Getty Leadership
Institute in California; to visit and meet with the
CEO’s of a number of outstanding Museums
in Los Angeles, Monterey, San Francisco
and Sacramento that have undertaken recent
developments relevant to the future directions of
the QM.

(E)$12,500
Funded by
Department of
Foreign Affairs
and Trade,
Canberra

To attend the Planetary Biodiversity Inventory
(PBI) workshop held in Gainesville, Florida as
an investigator of the “Goblin Spider” PBI web
based database project, funded by the National
Science Foundation America.

Invitation to attend the United Nations Openended Informal Consultative Process on Oceans
and the Law of the Sea Eighth Meeting, to
present on behalf of the Australian contingent on
biodiscovery and Queensland’s experience with
the discovery of new marine species and new
pharmaceutical compounds.

VII. Temporary Exhibitions

COBB+CO MUSEUM
Title

Duration

Description

Cultivating Wisdom
— Harvesting Peace

21 March –
5 March

Harmony Day was celebrated with an exhibition about Buddhist teachings of peace and the
contributions of Toowoomba’s Buddhist training centre, the Pure Land Learning College to
the Toowoomba community.

Tune, Tone and Tempo

17 May –
23 August

Opened to celebrate International Museum Day, this exhibition showcased a range of
musical instruments from the Museum’s Marson Collection, one of the largest and most
important collections of instruments in Australia.

Ellis Rowan:
The Flower-Hunter

1 September –
6 October

The works of one of Australia’s most celebrated flower painters, Ellis Rowan.

Still The One — WIN TV

18 September –
31 October

The Still the One display celebrated 50 years of television in Australia.

Toowoomba —
A Garden of Diversity

15 September –
31 October

This photographic exhibition and series of postcards celebrated Toowoomba’s
multiculturalism.

Megafauna — prehistoric
giants from the Darling
Downs

From 27 October

An exhibition about the life and death of the giant mammals and reptiles that roamed the
Darling Downs.

Our Journey

From 21 March

Opened on Harmony Day, this display tells the stories of four Sudanese who fled their
homeland to Toowoomba.

MUSEUM OF TROPICAL QUEENSLAND
Title

Duration

Description

Vanishing Wildlife

25 September –
6 October

The Vanishing Wildlife event highlighted the threats to many Queensland wildlife species
and included a display of predominantly North Queensland animals from the Queensland
Museum collections.

Ned Kelly: Fact and
Fiction

12 October –
3 January

The National Museum of Australia exhibition traces the story of the leader of the Kelly Gang.

Creepy Crawlies Alive!

8 January –
25 January

A display of live tarantulas and insects including live stick insects, scorpions, centipedes
and giant burrowing cockroaches highlighted their contribution to the ecosystem.

Clash of Cultures

From 1 February

Never-before-seen artefacts recovered from the HMS Pandora wreck site, including five
rare and intricately-carved war clubs collected as “artificial curiosities” by the Pandora’s
crew, and a carronade — a type of short cannon — that is one of only five of its kind in the
world.

Tune, Tone and Tempo

2 April – July

Tune, Tone and Tempo features instruments from the Queensland Museum’s Marson
Collection, one of the largest and most important collections of instruments in Australia.
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QUEENSLAND MUSEUM SOUTH BANK
Title

Duration

Description

The Birthing Circle

June –
27 April

An insight into the birthing experiences of Aboriginal Yugambeh women from before white
settlement to the present time.

Burarra Gathering:
Sharing Indigenous
Knowledge

June –
29 April

This interactive exhibition presents some of the traditional knowledge and technologies
used today by the Burarra people of the central north Arnhem Land region of Australia.

Boom Baby Boom

2 May – 27 August

An exhibition re-living the ‘60s and ‘70s through the eyes of a group of Bundaberg artists
examining the people, objects and events that shaped a generation.

Big Mammals

5 May –
17 September

Representing some of the most impressive mammals on earth, the deer, bears and other
massive creatures gave visitors literally a ‘once in a lifetime’ chance to see big animals at
close range.

Minerals Gallery

3 August –
8 October

A room full of minerals to thrill intrepid naturalists of all ages.

Kids Time — A Century
of Learning through Play

8 August –
5 November

A fun and interactive exhibition allowing 3 to 8 year olds to explore times gone by through
toys loved by past generations. Incorporating smell, sound and dress-up clothing, the
exhibition encouraged children to immerse themselves in play and learn more about the
world their own parents or grandparents grew up in.

Wildlife Photographer
of the Year

19 August –
8 October

This exhibition showcased 86 spectacular images from the worlds’ largest and most
prestigious wildlife photography competition.

Icons of Queensland

From 28 September

The Big Pineapple, lamingtons, Buderim ginger, the Ekka, the cane toad and the
macadamia nut make up a delightful collection of favourite Queensland icons.

The Ashes

12 November –
22 November

The priceless symbol of one of sport’s greatest rivalries, the Ashes Urn, travelled from its
hallowed home of Lord’s Cricket Ground in England for a rare tour of Australia.

Museum Zoo:
Animals, Size and Me

From 1 December

An awesome array of more than 700 prehistoric and modern creatures ranging from tiny
insects, crabs, birds and reptiles to huge mammals, all let loose from the Museum’s worldclass Biodiversity Collection and challenging perceptions of the animal kingdom and the
world around us.

Old Ways, New Ways:
the Human Story

From 25 May

Only 40 years ago Aboriginal people and Torres Strait Islanders gained citizenship in their
own country. This exhibition explores the events leading up to and following the historical
1967 Referendum.

Between the Flags:
100 Years of Surf
Lifesaving

24 May –
12 August

A fascinating collection of surfboards, belts, reels, march-past costumes, surf caps,
trophies, images and historical and contemporary footage illustrate how surf lifesaving has
evolved and how the movement has shaped Australia’s iconic beach culture.

THE WORKSHOPS RAIL MUSEUM
Title

Duration

Description

Circus Train

24 June – 10 July

A new school holiday event that celebrates the role rail played in bringing entertainment to
country towns.

Friends of Thomas

26 December –
28 January

The Workshops annual signature event – Thomas the Tank Engine and ‘Sir Topham Hatt,
The Fat Controller’ visit their Australian friends during the summer holidays.

Annual Workers Reunion
and Ipswich Residents
Open Day 2006

13 August

Thousands of past and present QR workers, along with Ipswich residents, flocked to The
Workshops for a fantastic community day saluting the enormous contribution made by rail
workers and Ipswich residents to the development of Queensland.

Ipswich Model Railway
Show

28 – 29 October

More than 40 model railway layouts and trade displays delight visitors of all ages at
Australia’s 4th largest model railway show.

Wizards and Witches
Express

23 June –15 July

A cauldron of mystery and magic brewed at The Workshops with visitors separating fact
from fiction.

Great Railway Journeys
of Australia

28 July –
3 December

Developed and presented by The Workshops, this exhibition explores the important role
that train travel has played in Australian cultural life. Over 20 iconic journeys are presented
including the Queenslander trains, the Old and New Ghan, the Trans Australia Railway
and the Indian Pacific.

Life on the Line

17 March – 13 May

This photographic exhibition by The Workshops features the many and varied tasks that
railway workers have performed over the years.
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VIII. Sponsorships
and Donations

QM CORPORATE MEMBERSHIP
The Corporate Club
$250,000+
Queensland Office of Gaming Regulation

Corporate Governor
$100,000–$249,999

Saunders Havill Group
Sirromet Wines Pty Ltd
Spatial Sciences Institute QLD – Northern
Group
Surveyors Board of Queensland
Toadshow Pty Ltd
W D Surveys
WS Group

Jan van der Kevie
Dr Sue-Anne Wallace

Donations
Robert Blakeley

THE TROPICAL CLUB, MUSEUM
OF TROPICAL QUEENSLAND
Townsville

Bank of Queensland Limited
Macquarie Bank Foundation
SEQWater

QM INDIVIDUAL MEMBERSHIP

Corporate Benefactor
$50,000–$99,999

The Charles Coxen Club
$100,000 +

CORPORATE MEMBERSHIP

Bendigo Bank
Junior Advertising
KPMG
QR

Thyne Reid Charitable Trusts

The Corporate Club
$250,000+

Corporate Founder
$20,000–$49,999
Australia Post

Donations
AJS Surveys Pty Limited
Arts Queensland
Bennett and Francis
Brazier Motti
Campbell Brothers Limited
Capricorn Survey Group
Clem Jones Wright and Associates
Clive and Yvonne Kitchen
DDH Graham Limited
Department of Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander Policy
Department of Corrective Services
Department of Emergency Services
Department of Industrial Relations
Department of Justices and AttorneyGeneral
Department of Main Roads
Department of Premier and Cabinet
Department of Public Works and Housing
Department of Tourism, Fair Trading and
Wine Industry Development
Education Queensland
Finlayson Timber and Hardware Pty Ltd
Herga Ultimate Positioning
J.B. Goodwin, Midson and Partners
Institution of Surveyors, Australia
KFM Partnership
M H Lodewyk Pty Ltd
Office of Public Service Merit and Equity
Pioneer Surveys Pty Ltd
QASCO Surveys Pty Ltd
Queensland Police Service
Queensland Transport

Governor
$50,000–$99,999
Tim and Elaine Crommelin

Benefactor
$25,000–$49,999

QNI Pty Ltd

Donations
BHP Billiton Cannington
Mackay Toyota
The Townsville Bulletin

Tim Fairfax Family Foundation
Lynn Rainbow Reid and John Reid, AO

Founder
$10,000–$24,999
The Albrecht Foundation
Henderson Foundation
John Pearce
Robert and Kay Bryan

Companion
$5,000–$9,999

INDIVIDUAL MEMBERSHIP
Governor
$50,000–$99,999
The Ian Potter Foundation

Founder
$10,000–$24,999
Colbran Holdings

Annabelle Chaplain and Andrew Willink
Pat Comben
Nols and Mike Pelly
Peter Raulings
Dr Marie Siganto
Sir Bruce and Lady June Watson

Companion
$5,000–$9,999

Supporter
$1,000–$4,999

Ross Brothers Pty Ltd

Philip Bacon
Johnathan Blocksidge
John F Brock, Surveyor
Helen Brodie
Roderick and Alison Campbell
Dr RL and JE Cantamessa
Robert Dumke
Robin T Francis
Allan and Lee Hassall
Clive and Yvonne Kitchen
William Lee
Dr Christopher Muir
Dr John Stanisic
Josephine Thomson

Wendy Edwards

Mary Balfour

Member
$1,000–$4,999
Donations
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THE COMMISSIONER’S CLUB,
THE WORKSHOPS RAIL
MUSEUM
Ipswich
CORPORATE MEMBERSHIP
Corporate Benefactor
$50,000 - $99,999
Great Southern Railway
CS Energy Limited
QR

NATIONAL CARRIAGE FACTORY
CAMPAIGN, COBB+CO MUSEUM
Toowoomba
CORPORATE MEMBERSHIP
The Corporate Club
$250,000+
Corporate Governor
$100,000 - $249,999
Heritage Building Society

Donations

Donations

Union Switch and Signal Pty Ltd

Conservation Management Planners and
Associates
Fitzy’s Fibber Magee Irish Pub
Fowler and Board Accountants
Leroy Palmer and Associates
Peter Snow & Co.
Southern Cross Automotive
Toowoomba Motor Village
Wizard Home Loans

INDIVIDUAL MEMBERSHIP
Founder
$10,000 - $24,999
Apex Foundation

Member
$1,000 - $4,999
Tim Fischer, AC

Individual Membership
Living Legend
$100,000 +
Clive and Concita Armitage
John T. Reid Charitable Trusts

Governor
$50,000 - $99,999
Philip Guilfoyle

Founder
$10,000 - $24,999
Franklyn Brazil
W.W (Bill) and Elaine O’Brien and family

Companion
$5,000 - $9,999
Beris Broderick
Ivan Walls

Supporter
$1,000 - $4,999
Peter and Eleanor Cullen
Anthony Freer
Andrew Mason

Donations
Bob McCown
David McKelvie
Rodney Mas
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IX Board of the
Queensland Museum
Financial Report
for the financial year ended 30 June 2007

CONTENTS

General Information

84 Income Statement

• This report covers the Board of the Queensland
Museum (the Board) as parent entity and its
controlled entities; the Queensland Museum
Foundation Trust (the Foundation) and Harry West
Memorial Fund (the Fund). The economic entity
refers to the consolidation of the Board and the
Foundation. The Fund was not consolidated within
this report.

85 Balance Sheet
86 Statement of Changes in Equity
87 Statement of Cash Flows
88 Notes to and forming part of the
Financial Statements
101 Management Certificate
102 Audit Report

• The Queensland Museum is a Queensland
Government Statutory Body established under the
Queensland Museum Act 1970 .
• The Board is controlled by the State of Queensland
which is the ultimate parent.
• The head office and principal place of business of
the Board is:
Corner of Grey and Melbourne Streets
BRISBANE QLD 4101
• A description of the nature of the Board’s operations
and its principal activities is included in the notes to
and forming part of the financial statements.
• The Queensland Museum’s financial systems and
their uses are as follows:
Finance 1 is used primarily for processing financial
data and obtaining reports. Whole-of-government
financial information is reported using the
Queensland Government’s Tridata system.
The Workshops Rail Museum uses Centaman as its
admissions, bookings and point-of-sale system.
The Sciencentre at Queensland Museum South
Bank, Cobb+Co Museum and the Museum
of Tropical Queensland use PosPerfect as an
admissions system. PosPerfect is also used by the
shops in these campuses as a point-of-sale system.
Reports on operational performance against
declared goals, strategies and benchmarks are
prepared and presented at each meeting of the
Board. Quarterly, non-financial performance data
measured against declared targets are submitted
to Arts Queensland and Queensland Treasury via
Tridata.
• For information in relation to the Board’s financial
report please call (07) 3840 7648, email
inquirycentre@qm.qld.gov.au or visit the Board’s
internet site at http://www.qm.qld.gov.au
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Board of the
Queensland Museum
Income Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2007

Notes

Economic Entity

Parent Entity

2007

2006

2007

2006

$000

$000

$000

$000

Income
Revenue
User charges

3

4,766

5,325

4,766

5,325

Grants and other contributions

4

21,448

19,708

21,202

19,443

Other revenue

5

1,163

911

1,070

886

6

4

13

4

13

27,381

25,957

27,042

25,667

Gains
Gains on sale of property, plant and equipment
Total Income
Expenses
Employee expenses

7

14,922

13,340

14,922

13,340

Supplies and services

8

8,935

9,472

8,935

9,472

Depreciation

9

3,031

2,769

3,031

2,769

10

97

143

97

144

26,985

25,724

26,985

25,725

396

233

57

(58)

Other expenses
Total Expenses
Operating Surplus/(Deficit)
The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Board of the
Queensland Museum
Balance Sheet
as at 30 June 2007

Economic Entity

Parent Entity

2007

2006

2007

2006

Notes

$000

$000

$000

$000

11

11,523

9,559

9,953

9,038

Receivables

12

1,848

804

1,818

698

Inventories

13

511

550

511

550

Other

14

138

152

138

152

14,020

11,065

12,420

10,438

260,198

253,931

260,198

253,931

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets
Non current assets
Property, plant and equipment

15

Total non current assets

260,198

253,931

260,198

253,931

Total Assets

274,218

264,996

272,618

264,369

Current liabilities
Payables

16

1,529

510

1,479

460

Accrued employee benefits

17

1,204

1,061

1,204

1,061

Other

18

1,436

551

936

685

4,169

2,122

3,619

2,206

241

216

241

216

241

216

241

216

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Accrued employee benefits

17

Total non-current liabilities
Total Liabilities
Net Assets

4,410

2,338

3,860

2,422

269,808

262,658

268,758

261,947

Equity
Contributed equity
Retained surplus
Asset revaluation reserve
Total equity

19

473

2,162

473

2,162

27,163

26,767

26,113

26,056

242,172

233,729

242,172

233,729

269,808

262,658

268,758

261,947

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Board of the
Queensland Museum
Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2007

Retained surpluses
Economic Entity

Asset Revaluation Reserve

Parent Entity

Economic Entity

Contributed Equity

Parent Entity

Economic Entity

Parent Entity

2007

2006

2007

2006

2007

2006

2007

2006

2007

2006

2007

2006

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

26,767

26,534

26,056

26,114

233,729

219,973

233,729

219,973

396

233

57

(58)

• Museum Collection
— revaluation

—

—

—

—

• Museum Collection
— net acquisitions

—

—

—

—

• Land

2,916

1,793

2,916

1,793

• Buildings

5,527

11,963

5,527

11,963

Balance 1 July
Operating Surplus/
(Deficit)

2,162

3,118

2,162

3,118

(1,706)

(947)

(1,706)

(947)

17

(9)

17

(9)

Non-owner changes
in equity
Increase/(decrease)
in asset revaluation
reserve

Transactions with
Owners
as Owners:
• Equity withdrawal
• Net leave liabilities
transferred to (from)
other entities
Balance 30 June

27,163

26,767

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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26,113

26,056

242,172

233,729

242,172

233,729

473

2,162

473

2,162

Board of the
Queensland Museum
Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2007

Notes

Economic Entity

Parent Entity

2007

2006

2007

2006

$000

$000

$000

$000

4,423

5,410

4,346

5,410

Cash flows from operating activities
Inflows:
User charges
Grants and contributions

21,553

19,740

20,673

19,635

GST collected from customers

501

445

502

423

GST input tax credits from ATO

925

910

925

910

Interest receipts

794

646

741

622

Other

361

217

321

215

(14,676)

(13,381)

(14,676)

(13,381)

Supplies and services

(8,647)

(9,440)

(8,647)

(9,440)

GST paid to suppliers

(921)

(935)

(921)

(935)

GST remitted to ATO

(475)

(454)

(475)

(435)

(97)

(137)

(97)

(137)

3,741

3,021

2,692

2,887

28

67

28

67

(879)

(1,434)

(879)

(1,434)

(851)

(1,367)

(851)

(1,367)

(926)

(947)

(926)

(947)

(926)

(947)

(926)

(947)

Net increase in cash held

1,964

707

915

573

Cash at beginning of financial year

9,559

8,852

9,038

8,465

11,523

9,559

9,953

9,038

Outflows:
Employee expenses

Other
Net cash provided by operating activities

20

Cash flows from investing activities
Inflows:
Sales of property, plant and equipment
Outflows:
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Net cash (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Outflows:
Equity withdrawal
Net cash (used in) financing activities

Cash at end of financial year

11

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Board of the
Queensland Museum
Note to and forming part of
the Financial Statements 2006–2007

1. OBJECTIVES OF THE
QUEENSLAND MUSEUM
The Queensland Museum is valued as an innovative, exciting and
accessible museum of science, environment and human experience
of international standing.
The mission of the Queensland Museum is to enrich and enliven the
cultural, social and intellectual life of all Queenslanders.
The Museum is predominantly funded for the outputs it delivers by
Parliamentary appropriations received by way of a grant from Arts
Queensland. A range of services are offered on a fee for service
basis such as general and exhibition admission charges, professional
consultancies and grants. In addition, the Museum operates a
number of retail outlets throughout the campus network together with
a publishing and distribution arm for popular publications.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(d) Grants and Other Contributions Revenue
Grants, contributions, donations and gifts that are non-reciprocal
in nature are recognised as revenue in the year in which the Board
obtains control over them. Where grants are received that are
reciprocal in nature, revenue is accrued over the term of the funding
arrangements.
Contributed assets are recognised at their fair value. Contributions
of services are recognised only when a fair value can be determined
reliably and the services would be purchased if they had not been
donated.

(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purposes of the Balance Sheet and the Statement of Cash
Flows, cash assets include all cash and cheques receipted but
not banked at 30 June as well as deposits at call with financial
institutions. It also includes investments with short periods to maturity
that are readily convertible to cash on hand at the Board’s or issuer’s
option and that are subject to a low risk of changes in value.

(a) Basis of Accounting
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Australian Equivalents in International Financial Reporting Standards
(AEIFRS).
This financial report is a general purpose financial report.
In particular, the financial statements comply with the Treasurer’s
Minimum Reporting Requirements for the year ending 30 June 2007,
and other authoritative pronouncements.

Trade debtors are recognised at the nominal amounts due at the time
of sale or service delivery. Settlement of these amounts is required
within 30 days from invoice date.
The collectability of receivables is assessed periodically with provision
being made for impairment. All known bad debts were written off as
at 30 June.

Except where stated, the historical cost convention is used.

(g) Inventories

(b) The Reporting Entity

Inventories represent stock on hand for sale through Museum shop
operations. Inventories on hand are valued at the lower of cost and
net realisable value.

In the financial statements, the term Parent Entity refers to the Board
of the Queensland Museum (the Board), and includes the value of all
revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and equity of the Board. The
term Economic Entity refers to the consolidated entity of the Board of
the Queensland Museum and the Queensland Museum Foundation
(the Foundation). (Refer note 24.)
In the process of consolidating into a single economic entity, all
transactions between the Board and the Foundation have been
eliminated (where material).
Harry West Memorial Fund, a Controlled entity, was considered not
material to the accounts and is not consolidated.
Summaries of the controlled entities are disclosed at note 24.

(c) User Charges
User charges controlled by the Board are recognised as revenues
when invoices for the related services are issued or upon delivery of
goods and services to customers. User charges are controlled by
the Board where they can be deployed for the achievement of the
Board’s objectives.
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Cost is assigned on a weighted average basis and includes
expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to
their existing condition, except for training costs which are expensed
as incurred.
Net realisable value is determined on the basis of the Museum’s
normal selling pattern. Expenses associated with marketing, selling
and distribution are deducted to determine net realisable value.

(h) Acquisitions of Assets
Actual cost is used for the initial recording of all non-current physical
and intangible assets, with the exception of the Collection (refer note
2(k)). Cost is determined as the value given as consideration plus
costs incidental to the acquisition, including all other costs incurred
in getting the assets ready for use, including architect’s fees and
engineering design fees. However, any training costs are expensed
as incurred.
Where assets are received free of charge from a Queensland
Government entity (whether as a result of a machinery-of-Government
or other involuntary transfer), the acquisition cost is recognised as the
gross carrying amount in the books of the transferor immediately prior
to the transfer together with any accumulated depreciation.

Assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, other than
from an involuntary transfer from another Queensland department, are
recognised at their fair value at date of acquisition in accordance with
AASB116 Property, Plant and Equipment.

Non-current physical assets measured at fair value are
comprehensively revalued at least once every five years with interim
valuations, using appropriate indices, being otherwise performed on
an annual basis where there has been a material variation in the index.

(i)

Comprehensive independent valuations were performed as at 30 April
2006 by Mr S Daly, AAPI, Certified Practising Valuer of the Australian
Valuation Office in Brisbane based on market value for land and
current replacement cost for buildings and improvements.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment with a cost or other value
equal to or in excess of the following thresholds are recognised for
financial reporting purposes in the year of acquisition.
Buildings and infrastructure

$10,000

Land

$1

Other

$5,000

Items with a lesser value are expensed in the year of acquisition. Land
improvements are included with Buildings.
Land, although ownership is retained by the Crown, is administered
by the Queensland Museum. The economic benefits of this land
accrue to the Board. The Board cannot dispose of this land without
the prior approval of the Governor in Council.

(j)

Capitalisation of exhibitions expenditure

Prior to 1 July 2002, the cost of construction of exhibitions was
expensed in the financial year in which such costs were incurred.
From 1 July 2002, expenses relating to the construction of exhibitions
are capitalised and depreciated on a straight line basis over their
estimated useful life to more correctly record the progressive
diminution of their value to the Board.

(k) Heritage and cultural assets (the Collection)
The Collection is recorded in the financial statements at a value
adopted by the Board as at 30 June 2005 and is considered to have
an indeterminate useful life. The valuation was conducted by the
Board in consultation with curatorial staff, who are considered experts
in their field.
“The valuation policy was initiated in 1996 and is largely based on
curators providing expert valuations of items deemed to be worth
more than $1,000. All assets below this amount are given an average
value as nominated by the valuation schedule. The average values
in the schedule were developed by the Board and Queensland
Treasury.
The revaluation methodology was agreed to in 1996 by the Board,
Queensland Treasury and the Queensland Audit Office and was
proposed on the basis of mutual agreement between these three
parties that usual valuation methods were not appropriate in relation to
the majority of Collection items held.
In 2004-05, the Auditor-General was unable to form an opinion on
the value, or obtain assurance over the existence of the Collection
within the framework of this valuation policy. This has led to
subsequent qualifications of the Board’s Financial Statements.
In recognising that continued non-compliance would erode the
financial integrity of the Financial Statements, the Board has worked
with Queensland Treasury and the Queensland Audit Office and
has engaged the services of the Australian Valuation Office to
develop a new Collections Valuation and Verification Policy. This will
ensure compliance with the relevant accounting standards, with
a comprehensive valuation and verification of the Collection to be
conducted in 2007-08. As a consequence, the Collection value
for this year remains at its carrying amount as at 30 June 2005 in
accordance with the Board’s previous valuation methodology. Any
additions to the Collection during this period have been expensed.

(l)

Revaluations of Non-Current Physical Assets

Land and buildings are measured at fair value in accordance with
AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment and Queensland Treasury’s
Non-Current Asset Accounting Policies for the Queensland Public
Sector. (Refer Note 2(k) for details on Cultural and Heritage assets).
Plant and equipment and exhibitions are measured at cost. The
carrying amounts for plant and equipment at cost should not
materially differ from their fair value.

Any revaluation increment arising on the revaluation of an asset is
credited to the asset revaluation reserve of the appropriate class,
except to the extent it reverses a revaluation decrement for the class
previously recognised as an expense. A decrease in the carrying
amount on revaluation is charged as an expense, to the extent it
exceeds the balance, if any, in the revaluation reserve relating to that
class.
On revaluation, accumulated depreciation is restated proportionately
with the change in the carrying amount of the asset and any change
in the estimate of remaining useful life.
Only those assets, the total values of which are material compared
to the value of the class of assets to which they belong, are
comprehensively revalued.
Separately identified components of assets are measured on the
same basis as the assets to which they relate.
For revaluation of Collections see note 2(k).

(m) Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment
Land is not depreciated as it has an unlimited useful life. Heritage and
cultural assets comprising the Collection is not depreciated as it has
an indeterminate useful life.
Property, plant and equipment is depreciated using the diminishing
value method (except for Exhibitions which are depreciated on a
straight line basis), so as to allocate the net cost or revalued amount
of each asset, less its estimated residual value, progressively over its
estimated useful life to the entity.
Assets under construction (work-in-progress) are not depreciated until
they reach service delivery capacity.
Where assets have separately identifiable components that are
subject to regular replacement, these components are assigned
useful lives distinct from the asset to which they relate and are
depreciated accordingly.
Any expenditure that increases the originally assessed capacity or
service potential of an asset is capitalised and the new depreciable
amount is depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset to
the entity.
For each class of depreciable asset the following depreciation and
amortisation rates are used:
Class

Rate

Buildings

1%-20%

Plant and equipment:
Computers
Motor vehicles
Scientific equipment
Exhibitions

30%
22.5%
15%
10%-33%

(n) Impairment of Non-Current Assets
All non-current physical assets are assessed for indicators of
impairment on an annual basis. If an indicator of possible impairment
exists, the agency determines the asset’s recoverable amount.
Any amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds the
recoverable amount is recorded as an impairment loss.
The asset’s recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement
costs.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Income
Statement, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount. When
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the asset is measured at a revalued amount, the impairment loss is
offset against the asset revaluation reserve of the relevant class to the
extent available.

• the number of senior executives whose total remuneration
for the financial year falls within each successive $20,000 band,
commencing at $100,000.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. Refer also
Note 2 (m).

The remuneration disclosed is all remuneration received or receivable,
directly or indirectly, from the entity or any related party in connection
with the management of the affairs of the entity or any of its
subsidiaries, whether as an executive or otherwise. For this purpose,
remuneration includes:

(o) Payables
Trade creditors are recognised upon receipt of the goods or services
ordered and are measured at the agreed purchase/contract price,
gross of applicable trade and other discounts. Amounts owing are
unsecured and are generally settled on 30 day terms.

(p) Employee Benefits
Wages, Salaries, Recreation Leave and Sick leave
Wages, salaries and recreation leave due but unpaid at reporting
date are recognised in the Balance Sheet at the remuneration
rates expected to apply at the time of settlement. Payroll tax and
workers’ compensation insurance are a consequence of employing
employees, but are not counted in an employee’s total remuneration
package. They are not employee benefits and are recognised
separately as employee-related expenses. Employer superannuation
contributions and long service leave levies are regarded as employee
benefits.
For unpaid entitlements expected to be paid within 12 months, the
liabilities are recognised at their undiscounted values. For those
entitlements not expected to be paid within 12 months, the liabilities
are classified as non-current liabilities and are recognised at their
present value, calculated using yields on Fixed Rate Commonwealth
Government bonds of similar maturity.

• wages and salaries;
• accrued leave (that is, the increase/decrease in the amount of
annual and long service leave owed to an executive, inclusive of
any increase in the value of leave balances as a result of salary rate
increases or the like);
• performance pay received or due and receivable in relation to the
financial year, provided that a liability exists (namely a determination
has been made prior to the financial statements being signed), and
can be reliably measured even though the payment may not have
been made during the financial year;
• accrued superannuation (being the value of all employer
superannuation contributions during the financial year, both paid and
payable as at 30 June);
• car parking benefits and the cost of motor vehicles, such as
lease payments, fuel costs, registration, insurance, repairs and
maintenance incurred by the agency during the financial year, both
paid and payable as at 30 June, net of any amounts subsequently
reimbursed by the executives;
• housing (being the market value of the rent or rental subsidy
– where rent is part-paid by the executive – during the financial year,
both paid and payable as at 30 June);
• allowances (which are included in remuneration agreements
of executives, such as airfares or other travel costs paid to or for
executives whose homes are situated in a location other than the
location they work in); and
• fringe benefits tax included in remuneration agreements.

Prior history indicates that on average, sick leave taken in each
reporting period is less than the entitlement accrued. This is expected
to recur in future periods. Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing
accumulated entitlements will be used by employees and no liability
for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised.

The disclosures apply to all senior executives appointed by Governor
in Council and classified as SES1 and above, with remuneration
above $100,000 in the financial year. ‘Remuneration’ means any
money, consideration or benefit, but excludes amounts:

As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised for this leave
as it is taken.

• paid to an executive by an entity or its subsidiary where the person
worked during the financial year wholly or mainly outside Australia
during the time the person was so employed; or

Long Service Leave
Under the Queensland Government’s long service leave scheme, a
levy is made on the Museum to cover this cost. Levies are expensed
in the period in which they are paid or payable. Amounts paid to
employees for long service leave are claimed from the scheme as
and when leave is taken.
No provision for long service leave is recognised in the financial
statements, the liability being held on a whole-of-Government basis
and reported in the financial report prepared pursuant to AAS 31
Financial Reporting by Governments.
Superannuation
Employer superannuation contributions are paid to QSuper, the
superannuation plan for Queensland Government employees, at rates
determined by the State Actuary. Contributions are expensed in the
period in which they are paid or payable. The Board’s obligation is
limited to its contribution to QSuper.
Therefore, no liability is recognised for accruing superannuation
benefits in these financial statements, the liability being held on a
whole-of-Government basis and reported in the financial report
prepared pursuant to AAS 31 Financial Reporting by Governments.
Executive Remuneration
The executive remuneration disclosures in the employee expenses
note (Note 7) in the financial statements include:
• the aggregate remuneration of all senior executive officers
(including the Chief Executive Officer) whose remuneration for the
financial year is $100,000 or more; and
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• in payment or reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses incurred
for the benefit of the entity or any of its subsidiaries.
In addition, separate disclosure of separation and redundancy/
termination benefit payments is included.

(q) Provisions
Provisions are recorded when the agency has a present obligation,
either legal or constructive as a result of a past event. They are
recognised at the amount expected at reporting date to settle the
obligation in a future period, but where the timing and/or amount
required to settle the obligation is uncertain at reporting date,
discounted to the present value using the pre-tax discount rate.

(r) Insurance
The Board carries insurance cover in the areas of Property (including
items on loan), General Liability (incorporating Directors & Officers
liability), Professional Indemnity, Personal Accident, Marine Hull and
Motor Vehicles. Insurance coverage (excluding motor vehicles) is with
the Queensland Government Insurance Fund and includes coverage
for the State Collection. In addition, the Board pays premiums to
WorkCover Queensland in respect of its obligations for employee
compensation.

(s) Services Received Free of Charge
or For Nominal Value
Contributions of services are recognised only if the services would
have been purchased if they had not been donated and their fair
value can be measured reliably. Where this is the case, an equal
amount is recognised as a revenue and an expense.

(z) Board Remuneration
Remuneration of Board members and Board sub-committee
members were as follows:

2007

2006

$4,457

$4,609

$946

$2,912

$848

$1,609

Frazer R #

$1,375

$2,282

Carne J

$1,476

$2,003

Roberts G

$1,681

$2,410

$1,375

$1,944

—

$243

—

$1,560

—

$486

Piscitelli B Dr

$1,964

$1,309

O’Connor P *

$296

$266

Robinson T **

$2,220

$148

Ryder I *

$217

$118

Fraser J

$0

$1,375

(t) Contributed Equity

Jones A (Chair) ** #

Non-reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities between whollyowned Queensland public sector entities as a result of machineryof-Government changes are adjusted to ‘Contributed Equity’ in
accordance with UIG Abstract 1038 Contributions to Owners Made
to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities. Appropriations for equity
adjustments are similarly designated.

Richardson J **

(u) Taxation
The Queensland Museum is a State body as defined under
the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 and is exempt from
Commonwealth taxation with the exception of Fringe Benefits Tax and
Goods and Services Tax (GST). As such, GST credits receivable from
or payable to the ATO are recognised and accrued.

(v) Issuance of Financial Statements
The financial statements are authorised for issue by the Chair of the
Board of the Queensland Museum and Chief Executive Officer of
the Queensland Museum at the date of signing the Management
Certificate.

(w) Judgements and Assumptions
The Board has made no judgements or assessments which may
cause a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next reporting period.

(x) Rounding and Comparatives

(retired from Board 17 September 2006)

Anderson R **
(retired 17 September 2006)

(resigned 21 March 2007)

Hughes J Prof.
Boccabella L
(retired 30 September 2005)

Heather R
(resigned 27 June 2006)

Edwards J
(retired 30 September 2005)

(appointed 19 October 2006)

Watson C *

Amounts included in the financial statements have been rounded to
the nearest $1,000 or, where that amount is $500 or less, to zero,
unless disclosure of the full amount is specifically required.

Hamill D

Comparative information has been restated where necessary to be
consistent with disclosures in the current reporting period.

(appointed 19 October 2006)

$0

$940

$1,048

—

$1,986

—

$19,888

$24,212

(appointed 19 October 2006)

Mason C #

Total remuneration paid to all members

(y) Corporate Administration Agency
The Corporate Administration Agency (CAA) was established on
1 July 1997, as a unit of Arts Queensland. The Arts Legislation
Amendment Act 1997 transferred the assets and liabilities of the
Queensland Cultural Centre Trust (QCCT) that was abolished in
December 1997 to the State and the CAA became the manager of
the Cultural Centre precinct. The Board of the Queensland Museum
had a signed lease agreement with the QCCT and the lease has
been assumed by the State of Queensland (Section 85(2) of the Act).
While the State does not charge rent on the premises occupied by
the Museum, the Museum does make a contribution to the continued
maintenance of the building occupied. The provision of the building
and items of fitout, including infrastructure plant and equipment, forms
part of this agreement.

* Members of the Board’s Aboriginal & Torres Strait Islander
Consultative Committee.

The CAA also provides the Museum with corporate services under
the “Shared Services Provider” model. These fees and terms of the
services are agreed through a Service Level Agreement, negotiated
annually and include:

The Board is the Trustee of “The Harry West Memorial Fund” (the
Fund), a testamentary trust established in accordance with the last will
and testament of the late Henry (Harry) Thomas West. Assets of the
Trust originally comprised six Brisbane residential properties and cash.
The Board in its capacity as Trustee, resolved to sell these properties
in favour of other investment options. As at balance day, all properties
had sold with proceeds currently held in cash and cash equivalent
investments.

• Financial systems and processing
• Management accounting
• Human resources recruitment, payroll and consultancy
• Information systems and support in relation to records
management and building maintenance.

** Board members and members of the Aboriginal & Torres Strait
Islander Consultative Committee.
# Members of the Board’s Audit and Risk Management Committee.
A sitting fee is paid to members of the Aboriginal & Torres Strait
Islander Consultative Committee and to the members of the Audit and
Risk Management Committee. These have been included as Board
remuneration for the purposes of this note.

(aa) The Harry West Memorial Fund

All income from the Trust is applied to the benefit of the Museum and
is included as miscellaneous income.
As the Board acts only in a custodial role in respect of the Trust’s
assets (which must be maintained in perpetuity), they are not
recognised in the financial statements, but are disclosed at Note
24(b) . Auditing arrangements are also detailed at Note 24(b).
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(ab) New and Revised Accounting Standards
Disclosure is required when initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard has an effect on the current
period or any prior period, would have such an effect, except that it is impracticable to determine the amount of
the adjustment, or might have an effect on future periods.
In the current year, the Board had adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations that are
relevant to its operations and effective for 2006-07 reporting period.
The AASB released AASB 2005-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 4, AASB 1023, AASB
139 & AASB 132 ] in September 2005.
Disclosure is required when a new Australian Accounting Standard which has been issued but is not yet effective
has not been applied.
The Board cannot early adopt a new accounting standard ahead of the specified commencement date unless
approval is obtained from Treasury. The Treasurer mandated the early adoption of AASB 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosure and AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation in the 2005-06 financial year. No additional
standards have been early adopted in 2006-07. Consequently, the Board has not applied the other Australian
Accounting Standards and AASB & UIG Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective. These will
be applied from their operative date.
At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the following Standards and Interpretations had been issued or
revised but were not yet effective:

Title
AASB 1: First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International

Operative for reporting periods
beginning on/after
1 January 2008

Financial Reporting Standards
AASB 4: Insurance Contracts

1 January 2007

AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements

1 January 2007

AASB 114: Segment Reporting

1 January 2007

AASB 118: Revenue

28 February 2007

AASB 120: Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of
Government Assistance

28 February 2007

AASB 121: The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates

28 February 2007

AASB 127: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

28 February 2007

AASB 132: Financial Instruments: Presentation
AASB 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

1 January 2007
28 February 2007

AASB 1023: General Insurance Contracts

1 January 2007

AASB 1048: Interpretation and Application of Standards

31 March 2007

AASB 2007-1: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising
from AASB Interpretation 11 [AASB 2]

1 March 2007

AASB 2007-2: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
arising from AASB Interpretation 12 [AASB 1, AASB 117, AASB 118, AASB
120, AASB 121, AASB 127, AASB 131 & AASB 139]

28 February 2007

AASB 2007-3:Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
AASB 8 [AASB 5, AASB 6, AASB 102, AASB 107, AASB

1 January 2009

1 January 2008

119, AASB 127, AASB 134, AASB 136, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038]
Interpretation 10: Interim Financial Reporting
and Impairment

1 November 2006

Interpretation 12: Service Concession Arrangements

1 January 2008

Interpretation 129: Disclosure – Service Concession Arrangements

1 January 2008

[revised]
It is anticipated that the above Standards and Interpretations are either not applicable to the agency or adoption
of them in future periods will have no material financial impact on the agency’s financial statements.
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Economic Entity

3.

Parent Entity

2007

2006

2007

2006

$000

$000

$000

$000

1,859

1,852

1,859

1,852

USER CHARGES
Admission charges
General
Special exhibitions
Consultancy
Sales revenue - shops

4.

834
527

1,304

1,182

1,304

231

185

231

185

Functions/Venue hire

187

153

187

153

Other

700

470

700

470

Total

4,766

5,325

4,766

5,325

17,384

16,715

17,384

16,715

1,706

947

1,706

947

474

406

474

406

GRANTS AND OTHER CONTRIBUTIONS

Grant - Museum Development Officer program
Dispersal from QM Foundation

—

—

363

103

177

167

12

11

Industry contributions

231

250

37

38

Commonwealth government grants

113

70

113

70

Local government contributions

272

316

272

316

1,091

837

841

837

21,448

19,708

21,202

19,443

Interest

802

638

749

615

Dispersals from Harry West Memorial Fund

144

56

144

56

—

11

—

11

217

206

177

204

1,163

911

1,070

886

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment

4

13

4

13

Total

4

13

4

13

11,244

10,587

11,244

10,587

1,361

1,281

1,361

1,281

211

200

211

200

1,124

958

1,124

958

Donations

Grants - Other
Total

OTHER REVENUES

Goods received below fair value
Miscellaneous
Total

7.

14
593

1,182

Grant - State Government funding

6.

834
527

Subscriptions

Grants - State Government recurrent

5.

14
593

GAINS

EMPLOYEE EXPENSES:
Employee Benefits
Wages and salaries
Employer superannuation contributions *
Long service leave levy *
Annual leave expenses
Employee Related Expenses
Workers' compensation premium *
Payroll tax and fringe benefits *
Employee costs capitalised - Exhibitions
Other employee expenses
Total

74

76

74

76

742

698

742

698

—

(620)

—

(620)

166

160

166

160

14,922

13,340

14,922

13,340
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7.

EMPLOYEE EXPENSES (CONTD)
* Costs of workers' compensation insurance and payroll tax are a consequence of employing employees,
but are not counted in employees' total remuneration package. They are not employee benefits, but rather
employee related expenses. Employer Superannuation Contributions and the long service leave levy are
regarded as employee benefits.
The total number of employees includes both full-time employees and part-time employees measured on a
full-time equivalent basis.
Economic Entity

Parent Entity

2007

2006

2007

2006

211

205

211

205

$120,000 to $139,999

1

1

1

1

$200,000 to $219,999

1

1

1

1

Total

2

2

2

2

2007

2006

2007

2006

$000

$000

$000

$000

386,171

353,281

386,171

353,281

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Corporate services charges

821

822

821

822

Consultants and contractors

576

663

576

663

Materials

451

329

451

329

Number of full-time equivalent employees:
Executive Remuneration
The number of senior executives who receive
or were due to receive total remuneration of
$100,000 or more:

The total remuneration of executives shown above
The total separation and redundancy/termination
benefit payments during the year to executives
shown above

8.

SUPPLIES AND SERVICES

Repairs and maintenance

459

406

459

406

2,143

1,976

2,143

1,976

Special Exhibitions

19

416

19

416

Cost of goods sold

715

801

715

801

Insurance costs

129

127

129

127

Train hire

139

147

139

147

Contributions to QCC facilities including electricity
costs

94

Motor vehicle costs

164

171

164

171

Property operating costs

799

810

799

810

Printing

341

271

341

271

Advertising

355

455

355

455

Telecommunications

167

165

167

165

Travel and associated costs

364

368

364

368

Other

1,293

1,545

1,293

1,545

Total

8,935

9,472

8,935

9,472
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Economic Entity

9.

2006

2007

2006

$000

$000

$000

$000

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION
Plant and equipment

10.

Parent Entity

2007

159

163

159

163

Buildings

1,583

1,278

1,583

1,278

Exhibitions

1,289

1,328

1,289

1,328

Total

3,031

2,769

3,031

2,769

2

3

2

3

External audit fees

32

31

32

31

Bad debts expense

—

1

—

1

Goods and services supplied below fair value

—

11

—

11

Losses from the disposal of non-current assets

—

7

—

7

Contribution to Arts Queensland *

—

18

—

18

Other expenses

63

72

63

73

OTHER EXPENSES
Property lease and rental

Total

97

143

97

144

* Contribution to Arts Queensland relates to the cost of new entrance at the South Bank campus.

11.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
24 hour at call deposits

9,781

8,974

9,781

8,974

Cash at bank and on hand

1,728

571

158

50

14

14

14

14

11,523

9,559

9,953

9,038

677

440

569

326

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

676

439

568

325

98

102

98

102

(79)

(53)

(71)

(44)

30

87

30

87

Imprest accounts
Total

Cash deposited with the Queensland Treasury Corporation earned interest at
a weighted average rate of 6.59% (2006: 5.93%)

12.

RECEIVABLES
Current
Trade debtors
Less: provision for impairment

GST receivable
Less: GST payable
Long service leave reimbursements

13.

Interest receivable

56

48

56

48

Other receivables

1,067

181

1,137

180

Total

1,848

804

1,818

698

511

550

511

550

INVENTORIES
Museum shop inventories
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Economic Entity

Parent Entity

2007

2006

2007

2006

$000

$000

$000

$000

137

151

137

151

1

1

1

1

14. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments
Other current assets
Total

138

152

138

152

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land:
At current valuation*

11,231

8,315

11,231

8,315

11,231

8,315

11,231

8,315

72,338

65,994

72,338

65,994

(11,718)

(9,319)

(11,718)

(9,319)

60,620

56,675

60,620

56,675

183,463

183,463

183,463

183,463

183,463

183,463

183,463

183,463

8,326

7,843

8,326

7,843

(4,526)

(3,237)

(4,526)

(3,237)

3,800

4,606

3,800

4,606

1,103

1,107

1,103

1,107

(477)

(421)

(477)

(421)

626

686

626

686

458

186

458

186

260,198

253,931

260,198

253,931

Buildings:
At current valuation*
Less: Accumulated depreciation

Heritage and cultural assets:
At current valuation*

Exhibitions
At cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

Plant and equipment:
At cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

Projects under course of construction:
At cost
Total
*
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Refer to note 2(l) for valuation method.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Reconciliation
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the current reporting period.

Carrying amount at 1 July 2006

Land

Buildings

Heritage
& Cultural
Assets

2007

2007

2007

2007

2007

2007

2007

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

8,315

56,675

183,463

686

4,606

186

253,931

—

1

—

123

93

662

879

Acquisitions

Plant &
Equipment

Exhibitions

In Course of
Construction

Total

Transfers

—

—

—

—

390

(390)

—

Disposals

—

—

—

(24)

—

—

(24)

Revaluation increments

2,916

5,527

—

—

—

—

8,443

Depreciation for period

—

(1,583)

—

(159)

(1,289)

—

(3,031)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2007

11,231

60,620

183,463

626

3,800

458

260,198

The Museum has no plant and equipment, with a written down value of zero, still being used in the provision of services.

Economic Entity

16.

Parent Entity

2007

2006

2007

2006

$000

$000

$000

$000

Trade creditors

281

15

281

15

Grants & other contributions

780

—

780

—

Other payables

468

495

418

445

1,529

510

1,479

460

929

813

929

813

55

51

55

51

PAYABLES
Current

Total

17.

ACCRUED EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Current
Recreation leave
Long service leave levy payable
Superannuation payable

27

25

27

25

193

172

193

172

1,204

1,061

1,204

1,061

Recreation leave

241

216

241

216

Total

241

216

241

216

The discount rates used to calculate the present value of non-current annual leave is 3%

(2006: 3.2%).

Wages outstanding
Total
Non-current

18.

OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
Unearned revenue

19.

1,436

551

936

685

ASSET REVALUATION RESERVE BY CLASS:
Land

Buildings

Heritage
& Cultural
Assets

Plant &
equipment

Total

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

Balance at 1 July 2006

6,766

38,885

183,644

4,434

233,729

Revaluation increments

2,916

5,527

—

—

8,443

Balance at 30 June 2007

9,682

44,412

183,644

4,434

242,172
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Economic Entity

Parent Entity

2007

2006

2007

2006

$000

$000

$000

$000

396

233

57

(58)

3,031

2,769

3,031

2,769

20. RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)
TO NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating Surplus/(Deficit)
Non-cash items:
Depreciation expense
Bad debts expense

—

1

—

1

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment

—

7

—

7

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment

(4)

(13)

(4)

(13)

Net leave liabilities transferred

17

(9)

17

(9)

(1,044)

(120)

(1,120)

(44)

39

69

39

69

Changes in assets and liabilities
(Increase) in net receivables
Decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments

14

(5)

14

(5)

Increase/(decrease) in payables

239

(21)

239

(24)

Increase in accrued employee benefits

168

2

168

2

Increase in other liabilities

885

108

251

192

3,741

3,021

2,692

2,887

Net cash provided by operating activities

21. NON-CASH FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Goods and services received or donated/transferred by the Museum and recognised as revenues and
expenses are set out in Notes 5 and 10 respectively.

22. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
(a)

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
There were no commitments under operating leases at reporting date.
Parent Entity

(b)

2007

2006

$000

$000

Plant and Equipment

102

127

Other

914

—

1,016

127

1,016

127

• Later than one year and not later that five years

—

—

• Later than five years

—

—

1,016

127

Capital Expenditure Commitments
Material classes of capital expenditure commitments inclusive of anticipated
GST, contracted for at reporting date but not recognised in the accounts are
payable as follows:

Payable
• Not later than one year

Total
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23. CONTINGENCIES

Credit Risk Exposure

(a) Native Title claims over Museum land

The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation
to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying
amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment.

As at 30 June 2007, no native title claims have been made on
Museum land.
(b) There were no other known contingent assets or liabilities at 30
June 2007.

24. CONTROLLED ENTITIES
The following entities are controlled by the Queensland Museum:

(a)

Name of Controlled Entity

Audit Arrangements

Queensland Museum
Foundation Trust

Auditor-General of
Queensland

The Board established the Queensland Museum Foundation Trust
in June 2002.
The Trust's assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses have been
consolidated in these financial statements.
The Board has agreed to fund the operation of the Foundation until
further advised.

(b)

Name of Controlled Entity

Audit Arrangements

Harry West Memorial Fund

Auditor-General of
Queensland

The Board of the Queensland Museum acts as trustee for, and
manages the Harry West Memorial Fund, a testamentary trust
established under the last will and testament of the late Henry (Harry)
Thomas West. The Board is the sole beneficiary of this Trust which
now comprises only cash assets as described at Note 2(aa).
Revenue received by the Board as sole beneficiary totalled $144,136
(2005-06 - $68,655).
As the Board acts only in a custodial role in respect of the Trust’s
assets (which must be maintained in perpetuity), they are not
recognised in the financial statements

There are no amounts offset as per AASB 132.
All figures for credit risk referred to do not take into account the value
of any collateral or other security.
The Board manages credit risk through the use of management
reports. This strategy aims to reduce the exposure to credit default
by ensuring that the Board invests in secure assets, and monitors all
funds owed on a timely basis. Exposure to credit risk is monitored on
a timely basis. The method for calculating any provisional impairment
for risk is based on past experience, current and expected changes
in economic conditions and expected changes in client credit ratings.
The main factors affecting the current calculation for provisions are
disclosed above as loss events. These economic and geographic
changes form part of the Board’s documented risk analysis
assessment in conjunction with historic experience and associated
industry data
The following table represents the Board’s maximum exposure to
credit risk based on contractual amounts net of any allowances as
per AASB 139:
Maximum exposure to Credit Risk
2007

2006

$000

$000

Cash

1,728

571

Receivables

1,848

804

Queensland Treasury
Corporation

9,781

8,974

13,357

10,349

Financial Assets

Total

Financial results of the Harry West Memorial Fund
Past due or impaired
2007

2006

$000

$000

Income

274

69

Expenses

198

249

76

(180)

2,524

2,436

12

—

2,512

2,436

Net Surplus
Assets
Liabilities
Net assets

25. EVENTS OCURRING AFTER BALANCE DATE
There were no significant events occuring after balance date.

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - ECONOMIC ENTITY
Categorisation of Financial Instruments
The Board has categorised the financial assets and financial liabilities
held as:
Financial Assets

Category

Cash
Receivables

Receivables (at nominal
value)

Financial Liabilities
Payables

Financial liability not at fair
value through the Profit and
Loss (at nominal value)

No collateral is held as security relating to the financial assets held by
the Board. No credit enhancements relate to the financial assets held
by the Board.
No financial assets have had their terms renegotiated so as to prevent
them from being past due or impaired, and are stated at the carrying
amounts as indicated. Ageing of past due or impaired financial
instruments are disclosed in the Credit, Liquidity and Interest Risk
table at the end of this note.
Liquidity Risk
The Board is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal
course of business.
The Board manages liquidity risk through the use of management
reports. This strategy aims to reduce the exposure to liquidity risk by
ensuring the Board has sufficient funds available to meet employee
and supplier obligations at all times. This is achieved by ensuring that
minimum levels of cash are held within the various bank accounts
so as to match the expected duration of the various employee and
supplier liabilities.
The contract maturity analysis is disclosed in the Credit, Liquidity and
Interest Risk table at the end of this note.
Market Risk
The Board does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially
exposed to commodity price changes. The Board is exposed to interest
rate risk through its cash deposited in interest bearing accounts. Details
have been disclosed in the liquidity and interest risk tables. The Board
does not undertake any hedging in relation to interest risk and manages
its risk as per the liquidity risk management strategy.
The following interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on a report
similar to that which would be provided to management, depicting
the outcome to profit and loss should there be a 50 basis points
movement in interest rates. It assumes that the rate would be held
constant over the financial year, with the change occurring at the
beginning of the financial year.
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At reporting date if the interest rates had been 50 basis points lower,
the Board would not have any significant net profit decrease.
At reporting date if the interest rates had been 50 basis points higher,
the Board would not have any significant net profit decrease.
The Board’s sensitivity to interest has not changed significantly in the
current period.
Fair Value
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is determined as
follows:

interest rate for financial assets and liabilities with similar risk profiles.
• The fair value of prepayments is represented by the book value
as the period of time to consumption is short and there are no rates
involved in the calculation, therefore they are not disclosed separately
• The Board does not hold any available for sale financial assets.
The Board of the Queensland Museum has not offset any assets and
liabilities.
The following table sets out the credit, liquidity and interest risks of
financial instruments held by the Board in a format as it might be
provided to management. The maturity amounts relate to the actual
contractual payments before net present value calculation with the
associated adjustment back to book value disclosed.

• The carrying amounts of all financial assets and financial liabilities
are representative of their fair value. The fair value of borrowings is
disclosed below.
• The fair value of other monetary financial assets and financial
liabilities is based on market prices where a market exists, or is
determined by discounting expected future cash flows by the current

Credit, Liquidity and Interest Risk Tables
2007

Maturity Date:
Less than
1 month

1-3
months

3 months
to 1 year

1 to 5
years

Greater
than 5
years

Adjustment

Carrying
Amount

Weighted
Average
Rate

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

%

Non-interest bearing

1,848

—

—

—

—

—

1,848

n/a

Variable interest rate

11,509

—

—

—

—

—

11,509

6.59

Total

13,357

—

—

—

—

—

13,357

Non-interest bearing

1,529

—

—

—

—

—

1,529

Total

1,529

—

—

—

—

—

1,529

Financial Assets

Financial Liabilities
n/a

2006
Financial Assets
Non-interest bearing

804

—

—

—

—

—

804

n/a

Variable interest rate

9,545

—

—

—

—

—

9,545

5.93

10,349

—

—

—

—

—

10,349

Non-interest bearing

510

—

—

—

—

—

510

Total

510

—

—

—

—

—

510

Total
Financial Liabilities

27. AGENCY TRANSACTIONS
The Queensland Museum acts as an agent in the collection and
distribution of charges and levies for public sector agencies, local
governments and employees. A reconciliation of amounts collected
and distributed follows.

Balance 1 July
Collections during reporting period
Distributions to principals during reporting period
Balance 30 June
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2007

2006

$000

$000

—

—

117

113

(117)

(113)

—

—

n/a

Board of the
Queensland Museum
Management certificate
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Board of the
Queensland Museum
Audit Report
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Queensland Museum
Foundation Trust
Financial Report
For the financial year ended 30 June 2007

CONTENTS

General Information

105 Income Statement

• This report covers the Queensland Museum
Foundation Trust (the Foundation). It has no
controlled entities.

106 Balance Sheet
106 Statement of Changes in Equity
107 Statement of Cash Flows
108 Notes to and forming part of the
Financial Statements
110 Trustees’ Certificate
111 Independent Audit report

• The Foundation is controlled by the Board of the
Queensland Museum (the Board), a statutory body
administered by the State of Queensland.
• The registered office and principal place of business
of the company is:
Queensland Museum
Corner of Grey and Melbourne Streets
BRISBANE QLD 4101
• A description of the nature of the Foundation’s
operations and its principal activities is included in
the notes to the financial statements.
• For information in relation to the Foundation’s
financial report please call (07) 3840 7648, email
inquirycentre@qm.qld.gov.au or visit the Foundation’s
internet site at http://www.qm.qld.gov.au
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Queensland Museum
Foundation Trust
Income Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2007

2007

2006

Notes

$

$

2(k),3

609,338

368,047

40,000

—

Income
Grants and other contributions
Fundraising activities
Interest
Miscellaneous
Services received below fair value

53,217

23,860

4

417

1,539

2(i)

273,816

248,105

976,788

641,551

2(l)

229,844

236,292

98

98

2(i)

273,816

248,105

Total Income
Expenses
Dispersals to Queensland Museum
Bank charges
Services received below fair value
Total Expenses

503,758

484,495

Operating Surplus

473,030

157,056

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Queensland Museum
Foundation Trust
Balance Sheet
as at 30 June 2007

Notes

2007

2006

$

$

Current assets
Cash assets

1,569,614

520,740

110,000

115,500

Total current assets

1,679,614

636,240

Total Assets

1,679,614

636,240

Receivables

5

Current liabilities
Payables

6

79,845

9,501

Other

7

550,000

50,000

629,845

59,501

Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net Assets

629,845

59,501

1,049,769

576,739

1,049,769

576,739

1,049,769

576,739

Equity
Retained surpluses
Total Equity
The accompanying notes form part of these statements.

Queensland Museum
Foundation Trust
Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2007

Retained Surpluses
2007

2006

$

$

Balance 1 July

576,739

419,683

Operating Surplus

473,030

157,056

Balance 30 June

1,049,769

576,739

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Queensland Museum
Foundation Trust
Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2007

Notes

2007

2006

$

$

1,114,838

341,368

Cash flows from operating activities
Inflows:
Donations & Sponsorships
Fundraising activities

40,000

—

Interest received

53,217

23,860

417

1,539

23,400

22,284

(158,000)

(236,292)

(98)

(98)

(24,900)

(19,312)

1,048,874

133,349

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,048,874

133,349

520,740

387,391

1,569,614

520,740

Miscellaneous
GST collected from customers
Outflows:
Dispersals to Queensland Museum
Bank charges
GST remitted to ATO
Net cash provided by operating activities

8

Cash flows from financial activities
Inflows:
Borrowings
Outflows:
Borrowings
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net increase in cash held
Cash at beginning of financial year
Cash at end of financial year
The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Queensland Museum
Foundation Trust
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 2006–2007

1. OBJECTIVES AND PRINCIPAL
ACTIVITIES OF THE FOUNDATION
The main objective of the Queensland Museum
Foundation Trust is to provide a fund for the collection
of donations and the passing of those donations
through to the Queensland Museum or, if agreed upon
by the Trustees and with the prior approval in writing of
the Board of the Queensland Museum, other eligible
charities that operate a Public Museum.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of Accounting
The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Australian Equivalents to International
Financial Reporting Standards (AEIFRS).
The financial report is a special purpose financial report
that has been prepared in accordance with the following
Australian Accounting Standards and prescribed
requirements: Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements and AASB101.
Except where stated, the historical cost convention is
used.

(b) The Reporting Entity
The financial statements include the value of revenues,
expenses, assets, liabilities and equity of the
Queensland Museum Foundation Trust. The Foundation
does not have any controlled entities.

(c) Cash Assets
For the purposes of the Balance Sheet and the
Statement of Cash Flows, cash assets includes all cash
and cheques receipted but not banked at 30 June as
well as deposits at call with financial institutions. It also
includes investments with short periods to maturity
that are convertible readily to cash on hand at the
Foundation’s option and that are subject to a low risk of
changes in value.

(d) Receivables
Trade debtors are recognised at the nominal amounts due
at the time of sale or service delivery. Settlement of these
amounts is required within 30 days from invoice date.
The collectability of receivables is assessed periodically.
There is no provision for doubtful debts at the balance
sheet date. All known bad debts were written off at 30
June 2007.

(e) Payables
Trade creditors are recognised upon receipt of the goods or services ordered and are
measured at the agreed purchase or contract price, gross of applicable trade and other
discounts. Amounts owing are unsecured and are generally settled on 30 day terms.

(f) Employee Expenses and Entitlements
The Foundation has not employed any staff during the financial year. However,
salaries and wages provided free of charge by the Queensland Museum are
recognised accordingly within the accounts.

(g) Taxation
The Foundation is a State body as defined under the Income Tax Assessment Act
1936 and is exempt from Commonwealth taxation with the exception of Fringe
Benefits Tax and Goods and Services Tax (GST). As such, GST credits receivable
from or payable to the ATO are recognised and accrued.

(h) Insurance
While the Foundation Trustees are themselves personally indemnified under the Trust
Deed, Legal Liability insurance has been secured with the Queensland Government
Insurance Office in respect of Foundation operations.

(i)

Services Received Below Fair Value

The Board initially agreed to fund the first two years of operation of the Foundation.
The Board has subsequently reviewed this decision and has agreed to fund these
costs until further advised. During the year, the Foundation received a range of
services from the Queensland Museum free of charge, including salaries and wages
and general operating costs associated with the office of the Foundation Director.
External audit costs for the year were also paid by the Queensland Museum.

(j)

Non-Interest Bearing Liabilities

Loans received from the Board are unsecured and are carried at the face value of the
principal outstanding. No interest is payable on such loans.

(k) Donations and Sponsorships
Donations and sponsorships are recognised when invoices are raised. Where
invoices are not raised they are recognised when funds are received.

(l)

Dispersals

Funds raised by the Foundation are periodically transferred to the Board on the
recommendation of the Foundation Trustees and approval by the Chief Executive
Officer, Queensland Museum. Transfers are conducted on the basis of funds
availability and purpose.

(m) Issuance of Financial Statements
The financial statements are authorised for issue by a Trustee for the Queensland
Museum Foundation Trust and the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Queensland
Museum.

(n) Judgements and Assumptions
The Foundation has made no judgements or assessments which may cause a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
reporting period.
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(o) Rounding and Comparatives
Amounts included in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest $1.
Comparative information has been restated where necessary to be consistent with
disclosures in the current reporting period.

8. RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING
SURPLUS TO NET CASH PROVIDED BY
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating Surplus

2007

2006

$

$

Sponsorships

194,000

212,333

Donations

165,338

155,714

Matching Funding - State Government

250,000

—

Total

609,338

368,047

3. GRANTS AND OTHER CONTRIBUTIONS

473,030

157,056

Revenue - Services
received below fair value

(273,816)

(248,105)

Expenses - Services
received below fair value

273,816

248,105

5,500

(76,679)

Changes in assets and
liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in
receivables
Increase in payables
Increase in other liabilities

4. MISCELLANEOUS INCOME
Miscellaneous revenue

417

1,539

Total

417

1,539

108,000

114,500

Other

2,000

1,000

Total

110,000

115,500

Net cash provided by
operating activities

70,344

2,972

500,000

50,000

1,048,874

133,349

5. RECEIVABLES
Trade debtors

6. PAYABLES
GST payable

8,001

9,501

Other

71,844

—

Total

79,845

9,501

7. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
Unearned Revenue
Other liabilities
Total

500,000

—

50,000

50,000

550,000

50,000

In September 2005, a cheque was paid to the Foundation in the amount of $50,000
from a deceased estate representing a donation. Solicitors acting for the Executor
of this estate have raised concerns over the validity of the donation, advising that the
funds should be quarantined until the matter can be resolved with the Executor and
the Australian Taxation Office. The Foundation has heeded this advice and continues
hold such funds at bank, as at balance day.
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Queensland Museum
Foundation Trust
Management Certificate
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Queensland Museum
Foundation Trust
Audit Report
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✁
FEEDBACK FORM
The Queensland Museum 2006–2007 Annual Report
documents the Museum’s activities, initiatives and
achievements and demonstrates how the Museum met its
objectives and addressed government policy priorities during
2006–2007.

3. How would you rate the following aspects of the
2006–2007 Annual Report? (please tick)
excellent

good

satisfactory

6. Please indicate the group which best describes you
(please tick)
poor

Readability

Member of Parliament

University/academic

To assist us in ensuring that the Report fulfills our
communication objectives, please answer the following
questions and return this form to the Queensland Museum
via post or fax.

Individual

Business sector

Content and
information

Gallery/museum sector

Media

Design and

Government employee

Other

1. For what purpose did you read or refer to the 2006–2007
Annual Report?

presentation

..............................................................................
..............................................................................
..............................................................................

4. How do you think we could improve the next Annual
Report?
...........................................................................
...........................................................................

2. In your opinion, what is the overall effectiveness of
our 2006–2007 Annual Report in communicating our
activities? (please tick)
excellent

good

satisfactory

poor

...........................................................................
5. Do you have any other comments about the 2006–2007
Annual Report?
...........................................................................

Thank you for your time and comments. Please attach a
separate sheet if necessary.
Please return your completed Feedback Form to:
Fax: (07) 3846 1918
or post to:
Corporate Communications
Queensland Museum
PO Box 3300
South Brisbane 4101
Queensland Australia

...........................................................................
...........................................................................
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